POSTERS VERSUS LURKERS: IMPROVING PARTICIPATION IN ENTERPRISE SOCIAL NETWORKS THROUGH MANAGEMENT INTERVENTIONS

Abdulrahman H. E. Alarifi

B.A. Information Systems (King Saud University, SA) MSc. Computer Science (University of New Orleans, US)

Submitted in fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Information Systems School

Science and Engineering Faculty

Queensland University of Technology

2016

Keywords

Enterprise social networks, Lurker, Motivations, Management interventions, Management pressure, Poster, Promotional messages, Social media policy, Survey

Abstract

Enterprise social networks (ESNs) are gaining prominence in contemporary organisations. A recurring problem for ESN community managers is maintaining a sustainable level of active participation by community members. ESNs often fail if there are few or no contributors of content. In such a scenario, ESN community managers need to apply intervention strategies in order to enhance users' participation.

In ESN communities, the largest user group is those who only read others' content (i.e. lurk), while members who actively create content (i.e. post) constitute the smallest user group. Understanding the behaviour of poster and lurker user groups, as well as the key perceived benefits that encourage posting and the possible barriers that cause members to lurk, is crucial in addressing the problem of user participation in ESNs. However, limited knowledge exists on the key drivers that cause users to either lurk or post, and even less knowledge exists on the management interventions that can improve participation across dissimilar groups in ESNs.

This research investigated the phenomenon of underutilised ESNs and developed a model that facilitates an understanding of the socio-psychological processes governing employees' participation following the application of three commonly-used management interventions (i.e. promotional messages, management pressure techniques and social media policy (SMP)). The study was built on established theories in the literature. The social exchange theory (Blau 1964) and Kankanhalli et al.'s (2005) model of knowledge contribution were exploited to identify the key motivations for users' participation in four dimensions: the extrinsic benefits and intrinsic benefits that encourage posting, and the extrinsic costs and intrinsic costs that encourage lurking.

The study examined three commonly-used interventions to understand how they influence different users' beliefs and subsequent participation. We then turned to two behavioural change theories from social psychology, namely, the elaboration likelihood model (ELM) (Petty et al. 1986) to examine promotional messages, and social influence theory (Kelman 1958) to examine management pressures techniques. Lastly, we drew on the policy–behaviour compliance literature to examine the SMP.

We tested our model and collected data from 366 members in two Google⁺ corporate communities in a large Australian retail organisation. The findings demonstrate the general viability of the proposed model in explaining: (i) the cost and beneficial determinants of lurking/posting behaviour; and (ii) the positive and negative influences of already-implemented interventions on lurkers' and posters' beliefs and subsequent participation.

The research makes several contributions. First, it provides an empirically validated theoretical model that improves the understanding of the socio-psychological processes governing employees' participation in ESNs in the presence of management interventions. Through the theoretical lens of social influence theory (Kelman 1958), the study shows that compliance-based influences (i.e., management pressure techniques) can be extended to the ESN context. In addition, through the theoretical lens of the ELM (Petty et al. 1986), the study extends the concept of persuasive influence in IS research and demonstrates that promotional messages affect posters' and lurkers' beliefs about participation in ESNs. Second, the study identifies that posters and lurkers are motivated and hindered by different factors. In turn, our research contributes a more detailed understanding of how and why corporate staffs participate (or do not participate) in social networks. Third, the study demonstrates that the three commonly-used management interventions do in fact affect posters' and lurkers' salient beliefs about participation in ESNs. It shows how lurking and posting behaviours change when these specific interventions are applied. Forth, the study establishes that management interventions do not – always – yield the results that ESN community managers hope for. Rather, some interventions have an adverse effect in that they increase lurkers' perceived costs of participation. Finally, the study has several implications for ESN community managers who are recommended to alter the design and content of interventions in order to position the ESN as a favourable environment for lurkers.

Acknowledgment

First and foremost, my grateful thanks goes to my God "Allah – "i" for giving me the courage and strength to continue this long journey despite the many difficulties encountered along the way.

There are many people to thank individually. My greatest gratitude goes to my parents for their prayers for guidance towards the successful achievement of my goal. I also give special thanks to my wife Shamma for her many sacrifices in helping me to continue my postgraduate studies. Also, heartfelt thanks go to our children, Abdulaziz, Nuwayir and Norah, for their love, laughter and endless support. This dissertation would not have been completed without you.

Particular thanks and sincere gratitude are expressed to my supervisory team at Queensland University of Technology, A/Prof. Darshana Sedera (principal supervisor) and Prof. Jan Recker (associate supervisor) for their guidance, input, motivation and continuous support. Producing this dissertation under their supervision has been a great privilege. I would like to also thank A/Prof. David Sundaram (external supervisor) for his insightful feedback. In addition, I give special thanks to the members of the final seminar committee, Prof. Guy Gable and Dr. Shahper Vodanovich.

My gratitude goes also to the Institute of Public Administration (IPA) for sponsoring me and to my IPA colleagues, Hashem Almakrami and Abdullah Algarni, for their support and encouragement. In closing, I thank Helen Whittle for editing this thesis.

Table of Contents

Keywords	i
Abstract	ii
Acknowledgment	iv
Table of Contents	v
List of Figures	vii
List of Tables	viii
List of Abbreviations	ix
Statement of Original Authorship	X
List of Publications	xi
Chapter 1: Introduction	
1.1 Research Background and Motivations	1
1.2 Research Focus	3
1.3 Research Questions	5
1.4 Research Significance	6
1.5 Research Design Overview	8
1.6 Thesis Outline	9
Chapter 2: Literature Review	
2.1 Enterprise Social Networks: An Overview	11
2.1.1 Social networks	11
2.1.2 Enterprise social networks	12
2.2 Existing Studies on ESNs	
2.2 EXISTING Studies of ESINS	13 16
2.2.2 The behavioural aspects of ESN research	17
2.2.3 Employees' usage behaviours in ESNs	19
2.2.4 Employees' acceptance and motivations to use ESNs	20
2.2.5 External influences on employees' use of ESNs	22
2.3 Lurking and Posting Behaviours	23
2.3.1 Posters, lurkers, and in-between	23
2.3.2 Significance of furking benaviour.	20 27
2.3.4 How to influence lurkers	
2.4 Theoretical Background	
2.4.1 Participation in online communities	
2.4.2 Management interventions	37
2.5 Literature Review Synthesis	46
2.5.1 Research emphasis	46
2.5.2 Limitations in the literature	
2.5.5 Kesearch objectives	49
Chapter 3: Research Model and Propositions	
3.1 Model Development	52

3.2 The Dependent Variable – Participation Behaviours	
3.3 The Independent Variables – Determinants of Participation 3.3.1 Cost and benefit factors	
3.4 Organisational Interventions	
3.4.2 Management pressure 3.4.3 Social media policy	64 67
3.5 Summary	68
Chapter 4: Research Methodology	70
 4.1 Research Design	70 71 72
 4.2 Survey Design	74 75
4.3 Chapter Summary	
Chapter 5: Data Analysis	97
5.1 Data Analysis Design5.1.1 Key steps in data analyses5.1.2 Data analysis software	97 97 98
5.2 Data Preparation	
5.3 Descriptive Statistics	
5.4 Measurement Properties	102
 5.5 Proposition Testing 5.5.1 Evaluating the structural model 5.5.2 Comparing posters and lurkers 	107 108 111
 5.6 Discussion	114 115 119
5.7 Chapter Summary	128
Chapter 6: Conclusion	129
6.1 Research Summary	129
6.2 Contributions to Theory	132
6.3 Implications for Practice	135
6.4 Study Limitations and Directions for Future Work	137
6.5 Conclusion	140
Appendices Appendix A: Q-sort exercise Appendix B: The Survey Instrument	142 144
Bibliography	153

List of Figures

Figure 1.1 Research design	9
Figure 2.1 Interventions-motivations-participation relationship	47
Figure 3.1 Conceptual model	53
Figure 4.1 Overall survey design	74
Figure 5.1 Data analysis design	97
Figure 5.2 Re-specified model of the four motivations and management pressure on participation behaviour	109
Figure 5.3 Re-specified model of the influence of promotional messages and SMP on the four motivations	109

List of Tables

Table 2.1 Research areas on corporate use of social networks	.16
Table 2.2 Examples of the reasons why lurkers don't post	. 28
Table 2.3 Examples of online participation studies and theoretical lenses	. 32
Table 2.4 Key approaches to human-computer persuasion	. 39
Table 2.5 Examples of the qualitative studies on ESNs	.49
Table 3.1 Definitions of extrinsic and intrinsic constructs	.56
Table 3.2 The study' constructs definitions	. 68
Table 4.1 Quantitative versus qualitative research	.72
Table 4.2 Adopted measurement items	. 81
Table 5.1 Demographic characteristics	. 99
Table 5.2 Differences in mean and standard deviation	101
Table 5.3 Item and construct statistics	104
Table 5.4 Correlation of constructs	105
Table 5.5 Cross loading	106
Table 5.6 Propositions testing summary	108
Table 5.7 Proposition 1 and 3 - Testing for all groups	110
Table 5.8 Proposition 2 and 4 - Testing for all groups	111
Table 5.9 Stepwise binary logistic regressions	112
Table 5.10 Multi-group analysis results	114
Table 5.11 Proposition-1 and results	116
Table 5.12 Proposition-2 and results	119
Table 5.13 Proposition-3 and results	122
Table 5.14 Proposition-4 and results	123

List of Abbreviations

ESNs: Enterprise Social Networks ELM: Elaboration Likelihood Model SET: Social Exchange Theory IMG: Image **INT:** Intrinsic Interest FUL: Fulfillment LOKP: Loss of Knowledge Power AQ: Argument Quality SC: Source Credibility SMP: Social Media Policy VMP: Verbal Management Pressure Non-VMP: Non-Verbal Management Pressure (rules) PLS: Partial Least Square SEM: Structural Equation Modelling SPSS: Statistical Product and Service Solutions R2: R-squared

QUT: Queensland University of Technology

Statement of Original Authorship

The work contained in this thesis has not been previously submitted to meet requirements for an award at this or any other higher education institution. To the best of my knowledge and belief, the thesis contains no material previously published or written by another person except where due reference is made.

QUT Verified Signature

Signature:

Date:

March 14 2016

List of Publications

Refereed Conference Proceedings

- Alarifi, A., and Sedera, D. 2013. "Enhancing Enterprise Social Network Use: A Control Theory Study" in the 24th Australasian Conference on Information Systems (ACIS): Melbourne, Australia.
- Alarifi, A., and Sedera, D. 2014. "Peripheral, central and coercive routes for promoting Enterprise Social Networks," in the 25th Australasian Conference on Information Systems (ACIS): Auckland, New Zealand.
- Salim, S., Sedera, D., Sawang, S., and Alarifi, A. 2014. "Technology adoption as a multi-stage process," in the 25th Australasian Conference on Information Systems (ACIS): Auckland, New Zealand.
- Rahman, M., Alarifi, A., Eden, R., and Sedera, D. 2014. "Archival analysis of service desk research: New perspectives on design and delivery," in the 25th Australasian Conference on Information Systems (ACIS): Auckland, New Zealand.
- Alarifi, A.H., Sedera, D., and Recker, J. 2015 "Posters versus Lurkers: Improving Participation in Enterprise Social Networks through Promotional Messages", in the 36th International Conference in Information Systems (ICIS): Fort Worth, Texas, USA.

Journal Papers

• Salim, S. A., Sedera, D., Sawang, S., **Alarifi**, A. H. E., and Atapattu, M. 2015. "Moving from Evaluation to Trial: How do SMEs Start Adopting Cloud ERP?," Australasian Journal of Information Systems (**AJIS**) (19), pp 219-254.

Chapter 1: Introduction

This chapter provides a synopsis of the thesis, beginning with the research background and motivations followed by the research focus. It then presents the questions and objectives this research sets out to achieve. The significance of this research is discussed in terms of its theoretical and practical contributions. Next, the chapter provides an overview of the research design. The last section outlines the remaining chapters of the thesis.

1.1 Research Background and Motivations

Organisations are increasingly investing in creating an open collaborative culture to enhance communication, innovation, experience and knowledge sharing among employees (Richter et al. 2013b). To help achieve these objectives, a new class of information technology, commonly known as enterprise social networks (ESNs), has gained prominence in contemporary organisations (Qualman 2012). An ESN is a private social network (e.g. Yammer, Google⁺ corporate communities, IBM's Connection, Socialcast, Jive, and Chatter) that facilitates short message communication and the establishment of social connections within organisations (David et al. 2013; Zhao et al. 2009). The emergence of ESNs has been considered a paradigm shift with respect to internal communications as it allows organisations to create a space in which co-workers can connect, collaborate and exchange information (Zhao et al. 2009). A detailed discussion on ESNs is forthcoming in Chapter 2 (Section 2.1.3).

Although social networks like Facebook and Twitter are highly utilised in the public domain, ESNs remain underutilised in the work environment, with recent studies showing that many ESN initiatives struggle to gain momentum and wider adoption by users (Kügler et al. 2014; Malinen 2015; McAfee 2009). In ESNs, one of the most fascinating yet most pressing challenges is the network's dependency on members to create content. If there are few or no contributors of content, the online community will eventually fail (Matzat et al. 2014). It seems intuitively obvious that a silent community undermines any benefits from ESNs. A recent study by Gartner estimated that through 2015, 80 percent of ESNs will fail due to unengaged employees (Gartner. 2013).

Practitioners (e.g. Adamson (2014), Perez (2014) and Pisoni (2013)) have proposed interventions to enhance user participation in ESNs such as promotional messages and social media policy (SMP). However, these suggestions require an appropriate empirical and theoretical base. To enhance ESN members' participation, understanding the types of interventions to use (e.g. promotional messages) and the best ways to implement interventions is an attractive research area for both academics and practitioners particularly when the technology use is voluntary in nature (Kane et al. 2014). Research on management interventions to promote users' online participation in a work setting is still scarce (Schneider et al. 2013). We know very little about outcomes of these interventions in prompting users' online participation.

For decades, behavioural researchers have studied employees' behavioural scripts, norms and motivations across many disciplines. Understanding how the behavioural and psychological aspects influence employees in their everyday tasks is a step forward to help organisations achieve their goals. In the Information Systems domain, many studies have been undertaken to determine why, how and in what conditions employees accept, use or resist a technology (Sykes et al. 2009; Venkatesh 2000; Venkatesh et al. 2008a). Similarly, a better understanding of employees' use (or not use) of ESNs will contribute to the successful implementation of these platforms.

Lurkers are the silent members of an online community who usually do not contribute any content (Nonnecke et al. 2000). At the same time, they constitute the vast majority of any online community (Sun et al. 2014). According to the "90-9-1" principle of collaborative websites, 90% of the members only read others' content (i.e. lurk), 9% of the members edit the content, and 1% of the members actively create new content (i.e. post) (Arthur 2006). This study defines lurkers as *members who did not create any content (post or comment) in the last month*. In contrary, posters are defined *as members who posted or commented at least once in the last month* (the lurking and posting threshold is discussed in more detail in Sections 2.3.1 and 3.2). Content creation (i.e. posting) has been acknowledged as a crucial component for the sustainability of any online community, and researchers have therefore focused on the behaviour of posters and 'how' or 'why' they use or share their knowledge on ESNs (e.g. Antonius et al. (2014), Beck et al. (2014b) and Kügler

et al. (2012)); however, the understanding of lurkers' motives has not been widely explored and remains a niche area in research (Lai et al. 2014; Malinen 2015).

In online communities, user motivations to participate differ across user groups (Zhang et al. 2013) and therefore exert varying degrees of influence on the participation behaviour. In a survey conducted in online forums in Korea, Koh et al. (2007) found that posters and lurkers were motivated by different reasons. In addition, strategies to influence users to participate could have different outcomes in different user groups. For instance, interventions to enhance user participation (e.g. written or spoken management pressure techniques) might not yield the hoped-for results because strategies that encourage lurkers to be more active may not translate into posters' willingness to continue being active posters. Such mixed effects have been largely ignored in the existing literature because of the independent investigation of lurking and posting behaviours (Park et al. 2014).

The phenomenon of underutilised ESNs while management is implementing interventions to enhance user participation remains unaccounted for. Beyond the motivations of employees' initial acceptance of the ESN, we have very little understanding of why users then post or lurk. Accordingly, in the context of ESNs, this study contributes to the body of knowledge by presenting and empirically validating a model to understand lurkers' and posters' key motives and the influence of management interventions on users' key motives and participation behaviour. The following section explains the research focus in greater detail.

1.2 Research Focus

The motivations of lurkers and posters differ across a range of environmental, organisational, contextual, individual and technological factors. In this research, we focus on the key individual-level factors of the two user groups. Apart from practicality aspects such as the time and resources available to the study, there are other reasons for focusing on the individual-level factors. First, by definition, an information system is a socio-technical system that includes people, processes and information with the purpose of enabling organisations in attaining their business objectives (Huber et al. 2007; Laudon et al. 2012; Robey et al. 2013). IS researchers have repeatedly emphasised the pivotal role of individuals' use of an IS (Burton-Jones et al. 2006) in determining its success or failure (Karahanna and Straub 1999).

In addition, ESNs are voluntary settings which mean understanding how users feel (e.g., gains, concerns) about participating is crucial to successful ESN implementation in organisations.

Second, compared to other commonly used enterprise technologies in organizations, an ESN is rather easy and intuitive to use (Zhang et al. 2010). Some technological factors (e.g. ease of use, compatibility) may not be of significance because members are already familiar with this class of social networks such as Twitter (Von Krogh 2012). Third, the literature suggests that unless users see that the perceived benefits outweigh the perceived costs of participating; online communities remain underutilised (Beck et al., 2014b). This highlights the importance of investigating the extent of the influence of those perceived benefit and cost factors, particularly, in driving employees' lurking behaviour. For example, the antecedents (cost factors) of lurking behaviours are crucial to understanding the low participation problem in corporate social software (Yan et al. 2013a). However, the key antecedents of posting and lurking behaviours in ESNs are still vague and need further exploration (Sun et al. 2014). In this research, we employ the social exchange theory (Blau 1964) and Kankanhalli et al.'s (2005) model of knowledge contribution to identify the key individual-level factors to participate in an ESN (refer to Section 2.4 for further detail on the theoretical background of the study).

Understanding how interventions influence employees' use of the IT artefact has significant managerial implications and increases the potential to achieve IT implementation success (Venkatesh et al. 2008a). This research claims that lurkers' and posters' participation in the ESN is shaped not only by their individual factors, but by organisational stimuli as well. A study of intra-organisational blog usage by Wattal et al. (2010) indicates that examining management interventions to enhance employees' use of social software is crucial as these platforms are subjected to organisational rules and procedures. In addition, Wisdom et al. (2014), in their review of the literature on employees' adoption of innovations, emphasise that in order to have an effective theoretical understanding, management factors that either facilitate or impede usage should be considered. Among the key interventions that are suggested in the literature to impact on enterprise social software, we examine promotional messages, management influences and SMPs because they have been identified as the most commonly-used interventions to influence employees to

participate in ESNs (All 2014; Qualman 2012; Yuan et al. 2013). This research argues that the understanding of which interventions have more effect and which interventions have less effect on the motivation–participation relationship can help organisations form a better strategy to promote user participation. To date, we know very little about 'what' and 'how' management interventions impact users' perceptions and/or users' online participation.

Aligning the employees' behaviour toward the organisation's goals has been always a difficult task for management (Kirsch 1996; Soh et al. 2011). Scholars in the field of behaviour change research stress that changes in individuals' beliefs and (consequent) behaviours undergo two key processes, namely, persuasion-based and compliance-based influence processes (Wang et al. 2013). In this research, we employ two behavioural change theories from social psychology, namely, the elaboration likelihood model – ELM – (Petty et al. 1986) and social influence theory (Kelman 1958), to examine persuasion-based interventions (i.e., promotional messages) and compliance-based interventions (i.e., management pressure techniques), respectively. We, also, examined the influence of a governance tool (i.e., Social Media Policy). We discuss the theoretical background of the study in more detail in Section 2.4.

1.3 Research Questions

Despite the growth in number of ESNs in contemporary organisations (Kane 2015), very few organisations have been successful in motivating the long-term, active participation of members in these platforms. An important objective of this research is to identify the key factors that drive ESN members to either lurk or post after they have already been introduced to the platform. Guided by social exchange theory (Blau 1964) and Kankanhalli et al.'s (2005) model of knowledge contribution, we develop an extended model of employees' motivations to participate, categorised in two dimensions (i.e., cost factors that cause members to lurk and benefit factors that cause members to post). As such, this research explores the following research question (RQ1):

RQ1: What are the salient drivers of lurkers' and posters' participation in ESNs? In organisations' efforts to promote the sustainable use of an ESN, a number of interventions (i.e. promotional messages, SMPs, and management pressure techniques) are put in place to encourage employees to participate in the ESN. However, we have very limited knowledge of whether these interventions are actually encouraging members to contribute or, worse, are turning off posters from engaging in the community. Consequently, the second objective of this research is to assist decision makers (particularly ESN community managers) to know whether these interventions can directly or indirectly enhance user participation and the extent of that influence. The study investigates three types of interventions that are commonly used to encourage user participation: (i) a persuasion-based intervention (i.e. promotional messages) that can influence users' beliefs about the ESN; (ii) a compliance-based intervention (i.e. management pressure techniques) that can directly influence users' participation behaviours in the ESN; and (iii) a governance tool (i.e. SMP) that guides users' beliefs about the ESN. As such, this research explores the following research question (RQ2):

RQ2: How do promotional messages, management pressure techniques and SMP influence employees' perceptions of the ESN and their posting and/or lurking behaviours?

In summary, these research questions were developed to fill the gap in empirical studies in five particular areas. First, the current implementations of ESNs focus mainly on the behaviours of posters, without considering lurkers' motives and usage behaviours (Lai et al. 2014; Malinen 2015). There is limited research on the key perceived benefits and possible barriers to content creation in ESNs. Second, there is a need to look beyond the employees' initial acceptance of the ESN to the next phase which has been largely under-investigated (Zhang et al. 2013). Third, the extant literature on interventions to enhance user participation largely pre-dates the creation of ESNs. Web 2.0 platforms (e.g. ESNs) are different from traditional online communities (e.g. bulletin board systems, discussion lists and online forums) (Hinchcliffe et al. 2012; Qualman 2012). Fourth, understanding how management interventions (employed to enhance employees' participation) influence both posting and lurking behaviours and, concomitantly, understanding the influence processes that shape ESN users' beliefs and behaviours is still a niche research area (Park et al. 2014). Fifth, there is a need to provide practitioners with the theoretical base and empirical evidence on the effectiveness of the most common interventions to enhance user engagement in ESNs (Schneider et al. 2013).

1.4 Research Significance

This research has significant implications. From the theoretical perspective, it provides an empirically validated theoretical model that helps in understanding the

socio-psychological processes governing employees' participation in ESNs in the present of three management interventions. There is a theoretical deficiency in explaining employees use of corporate social software (Kügler et al. 2015a). This research responds to calls by scholars in this area (e.g., Ren et al. (2012), Aral et al. (2013), Kane et al. (2014) and Kügler et al. (2015b)) for further research to understand "how and why people use (or do not use) social networks and how this use results in performance variation between users" (Kane et al. 2014, p. 281). Previous research has focused on users who speak up and are visible to others (i.e. posters); however, there has been little research into lurkers (Lai et al. 2014). The findings of this research will provide a better understanding of employees' posting and lurking behaviours in ESNs as well as insights into whether or not posters and lurkers are motivated and hindered by different factors. For example, an important benefit of investigating lurkers user group is identifying key predictors of lurking in ESNs and how this group respond to or perceive the management interventions aim to boost users participation. In addition, the research will provide insights into whether or not posters and lurkers are motivated and hindered by different factors. For instance, do users' motivations to post are slightly different (or completely opposite) from their motivations to lurk.

The study further develops the concepts of persuasive and compliance based influences in IS research. Through the theoretical lens of social influence theory (Kelman 1958) and the ELM (Petty et al. 1986), the study validates and evidences whether or not persuasion-based intervention (promotional messages) or compliance-based interventions (written or spoken management pressure techniques) can influence employees' beliefs and posting and lurking behaviours in ESNs. In addition, the study investigates a governance tool (i.e., social media policy - SMP) on users' beliefs of the ESN.

As suggested by researchers such as Hong et al. (2006) and Venkatesh and Bala (2008a), in order to increase the explanatory power of the research model, this research study investigates a specific class of ESNs and the most widely used and popular option (Qualman 2012), that is, the function of microblogging services. To the best of the author's knowledge, there has not been an empirical examination of persuasive-based and compliance-based management interventions and their analogous effects on posters' and lurkers' perceptions and participation behaviours in

corporate use of social software. The study provides the first empirical examination of social media policy in corporate use of social networks.

In terms of the practical contributions, the study benefits practitioners by enabling them to identify the direction and level of influence of already implemented interventions with the aim to boost employees' participation. By taking the perspective of ESN community managers, the study provides insights that could contribute to better corporate-wide strategies to improve user participation. As this study looks at the system live implementation, it supports community managers to identify and manipulate the appropriate interventions to maintain users' participation. For example, if these interventions are promotional messages, community managers can alter the message source, content or design to make it more appealing to the ESN members. Finally, this study contributes in bridging the gap between the practical application of best practices and scientific research by providing a theoretical model and empirical evidence to help community managers better understand why, how and in what conditions employees participate in ESNs.

1.5 Research Design Overview

The study employed a quantitative approach and chose an observational, cross-sectional survey design (Straub et al. 2004b). As illustrated in Figure 1.1, the research design including the data collection process entailed six steps. After the research problem was defined and the research questions were identified (Chapter 1), a comprehensive cross-disciplinary literature review was performed (Chapter 2). Informed by several theoretical frameworks and the literature on online participation, extrinsic and intrinsic motivations, behaviour change, and lurking behaviour, the research model was constructed and four propositions were developed (Chapter 3). The measurement items used in the study were adopted mainly and wherever possible from among the previously validated measures in the literature. A survey was built to validate the study's model and test the propositions (Chapter 4). Based on the data analysis, findings addressing the research objectives were obtained (Chapter 5).

In order to validate the survey instrument, 11 pre-tests were conducted, followed by a pilot test with 50 participants of an ESN (i.e. a Google⁺ corporate community). Finally, the main survey was launched in a firm-hosted ESN as the final validation. The research design is discussed in more detail in Chapter 4.



1.6 Thesis Outline

The thesis is presented in six chapters. This first chapter provide an introduction to the thesis. Chapter 2 comprises four sections. Section 2.1 and 2.2 provide an overview of the literature on the corporate use of social software and an identification of the gaps in ESN research in particular. Section 2.3 is a review of the literature on lurking and posting behaviours in online communities and the working definition of the 'lurking' phenomenon. Lastly, section 4 presents the theoretical lenses employed to inform the research conceptual model, namely, the social exchange theory (Blau 1964), Kankanhalli et al. (2005) model of knowledge contribution, the ELM (Petty et al. 1986), the social influence theory (Kelman 1958) and policy–behaviour compliance literature.

Chapter 3 is a detailed description of the development process of the research conceptual model and the four propositions. To guide the discussion in this chapter, the proposed research conceptual model is presented. Then, the second section explains the use of lurking and posting behaviours in ESNs as the dependent variable. Guided by social exchange theory (Blau 1964) and Kankanhalli et al.'s

(2005) model of knowledge contribution, the third section identifies, justifies and discusses the relationships (Propostion-1) of four relevant parameters (as independent variables) on lurking/posting behaviour in an ESN. The fourth section discusses the three commonly-used management interventions (promotional messages, management pressure techniques and SMPs) aim to motivate users' participation (Propositions 2, 3 and 4).

Chapter 4 presents a detailed account of how the research model was empirically tested. The first section provides a background to the survey method and a justification for the use of this method in the study's research context. The second section provides a detailed discussion of the cross-sectional online survey method. The work by Preece and Nonnecke (2000) (2001) (2004) on understanding the reasons for lurking is well acknowledged in the literature. Preece and Nonnecke found "just reading/browsing is enough" to be the dominant reason for lurking in online discussion communities. Despite the significance of this reason in explaining why users lurk, there is, to the best of the author's knowledge, no research that provides a conceptualisation of this reason. Thus, the present research conceptualised "perceived fulfilment" as a new construct (discussed in detail in Chapter 4, Section 4.2.1.4). The new construct's measures were created and then validated before inclusion in the survey instrument. Next, the chapter discusses the sample selection and some general guidelines for the survey design. The chapter then concluded by describing the content validation procedures and the pre-test and pilot tests that were employed before proceeding with the full-scale survey.

Chapter 5 covers the process undertaken to analyse the data collected using the survey instrument (Chapter 4) for the purpose of validating the study's research model (Chapter 3). The chapter begins with an overall discussion of the data analysis design, followed by an overview of the data preparation procedures. It then presents the descriptive statistics about the data. The next section examines the reliability and validity of the measurement models before testing the research propositions. The last section discusses the research findings.

Finally, Chapter 6 concludes the thesis by summarising this research and the theoretical and practical contributions of the study, particularly in relation to forming better strategies to promote user participation. The limitations of the research are outlined, and recommendations for further work are suggested.

Chapter 2: Literature Review

This chapter provides a comprehensive literature review relevant to the research topic. The chapter begins by introducing the enterprise social network (ESN) and its characteristics and usage compared to other online communities (e.g., public social networks [PSNs]). In order to position our research, we provide a critical review of the extant literature on ESNs to identify the gaps in our current theoretical understanding of use (or non-use) in ESNs. Next, we discuss the phenomenon of lurking and posting in online communities, followed by a review of the industrial and academic research on interventions that aim to improve user participation in online communities. In the same section, we review several theoretical frameworks on behavioural change in the literature. The last section provides a synthesis of this chapter.

2.1 Enterprise Social Networks: An Overview

2.1.1 Social networks

Social networks are "web-based services that allow individuals to (1) construct a public or semi-public profile within a bounded system, (2) articulate a list of other users with whom they share a connection, and (3) view and traverse their list of connections and those made by others within the system" Boyd and Ellison (2007a, p.211). Social networks are considered to be rich information resources that provide significant social capital support (Ellison et al. 2013). They are Web 2.0based applications that depict core dynamic capabilities such as interactivity (i.e., the generation, consumption and sharing of content by users), modality (i.e., the convergence of audio, video and textual streams), voluminous content creation, high visibility (i.e., high public exposure in real time) and really simple syndication (RSS) (i.e., the instantaneous updating of content) (Bradley et al. 2011; Coyle et al. 2012; Hinchcliffe et al. 2012; Kang et al. 2013; Kaplan et al. 2010; Kietzmann et al. 2011; OReilly 2007; Qualman 2012). With other unique features like availability (i.e., twenty-four hours a day, seven days a week), multiple platforms support, direct interaction (e.g., tweeting, re-tweets, 'clicking likes', or commenting between users and groups) at no cost, among many others (Macnamara et al. 2012; Qualman 2012), social networks have "dramatically altered how people communicate, with one another and they are now mainstream tools of communication for individuals in all age groups" (Cardon et al. 2014). Therefore, the use of social networks has been gaining much attention from academics and practitioners (Ellison et al. 2013; Vodanovich et al. 2010).

Social networks create mass user bases, which are said to be growing more than three times the overall growth rate of the Internet (Koch et al. 2012; Muscat 2012). The growing engagement with and dependency on social media tools is driving organisations to increase their spending on social software. In the United States alone, business spending on social software is expected to reach \$4.6 billion in 2016, despite the recent world recession (Perez 2012).

2.1.2 Enterprise social networks

Organisations are increasingly using social networks (i.e., PSNs and ESNs) in their daily operations to enhance their operations and business processes (Qualman 2012). The two forms of organisational usage are: (i) internal purposes like communicating, collaborating and sharing information with employees (using an ESN), and (ii) the more commonly studied, external purposes such as sensing and responding to the needs of customers (using a PSN like Facebook) (Bunce et al. 2012). However, academic research on the internal use of social networks is still scarce, with nearly all academic research about social media "confined to public social networking platforms" (Cardon et al. 2014, p. 3).

While public social networks such as Twitter and Facebook are open systems, ESNs are organisationally-bound, private social networks that cannot be accessed by outsiders (Turban et al. 2011). In more specific terms, ESNs are voluntary systems in which members: (i) use IDs that are linked to (semi-) public profiles (that can only be accessed behind the organisation's firewall) showing their activities (e.g., content created by the user, content provided by other members, and/or system-level data); (ii) establish connections with other members in the organisation, which can be viewed and commented on by others; and (iii) comment, consume and/or interact with streams of content generated by others (Ellison et al. 2013; Leonardi 2013).

ESNs mimic the functionality of well-known PSNs such as Facebook or Twitter (Behrendt et al. 2014) and include a bundle of wide-ranging services such as social tagging systems, wikis, blogs, social bookmarking systems, microblogging, private

email and instant messaging (Fulk et al. 2013). ESNs revolve around microblogging services, that is, the sending of short text messages within the network to support a broad range of information sharing, communication and coordination (Riemer et al. 2010; Stieglitz et al. 2014) and marketed by platform providers by more general term enterprise social networks (Richter et al. 2013a). In the present study, the term "ESN" refers in particular to microblogging services that "facilitate short message communication and the establishment of social connections within organizations" (Riemer et al. 2013, p. 3).

There are two main types of ESNs: custom and packaged ESN platforms. A small number of organisations build their own ESN, such as IBM's "Beehive", Deloitte's "Dstreet", Hewlett-Packard's "Watercooler", PG's "PeopleConnect" and SAP's "Harmony" (Liu et al. 2014). However, most organisations employ vendor platforms (Qualman 2012). Popular examples of vendor platforms include Yammer, Socialcast, Jive and Google⁺ corporate communities (Riemer et al. 2013).

The characteristics and capabilities of ESNs have triggered the massive transformation of traditional (codified, centralised and controlled) knowledge management systems that were previously used by organisations as knowledge sharing tools among their employees (Antonius et al. 2015; Schneider et al. 2013). Compared to traditional systems, ESNs are "more effective in meeting individual needs" (Antonius et al. 2015). Thus, it is logical to assume that users' participation behaviour in ESNs could be different to their behaviour in traditional knowledge management systems (Lai et al. 2014).

2.1.3 Organisations use of ESNs

ESNs allow organisations to create a digital space in which co-workers can connect, collaborate and exchange information (David et al. 2013; Kane et al. 2014; Riemer et al. 2013; Stieglitz et al. 2014; Zhao et al. 2009). Studies have found ESNs to be more open and participative compared to traditional methods of communication (Denyer et al. 2011); these features, in turn promote communication among employees (Leonardi 2013). Therefore, the use of ESNs has gained prominence in contemporary organisations (Qualman 2012) and several scholars have identified the various business impacts of using an ESN (e.g., Ali-Hassan et al. (2015), Kuegler et al. (2015)).

Studies discussing benefits of ESNs (e.g., (Hinchcliffe et al. 2012), (Majchrzak et al. 2013), (Richter et al. 2011), and (Richter et al. 2013a) and (van Osch et al. 2015)) highlight the implications for internal communication and the ability of the ESN to facilitate work coordination, collaboration and opinion sharing. Examples of the business impacts emerging from ESNs include cost and time savings (Denyer et al. 2011), higher morale, better recruitment, better employee engagement (Leidner et al. 2010), improved task execution among employees and innovative performance (Kuegler et al. 2015). As well as organisational benefits, studies have identified benefits that are largely for employees. These benefits include access to expertise, information seeking, idea sharing (DiMicco et al. 2009), reputation building, community building, the giving and receiving of feedback (Jackson et al. 2007), discussions about concerns (da Cunha and Orlikowski 2008) and discussions about problems (Zhang et al. 2010).

It is important to acknowledge that, along with the identified benefits and success stories of ESNs, studies have also reported difficulties that range from time-wasting to the leaking of corporate secrets (Turban et al. 2011). For instance, it has been reported that the use of ESNs is associated with a number of risky behaviours like the posting of offensive content, workplace romances, sexual harassment and time-wasting (Landers and Callan 2014; Mainiero and Jones 2013; Koch, Leidner and Gonzalez 2013;El Ouirdi et al. 2015). One case study revealed that the information posted on ESNs by employees made organisations vulnerable to criminal attacks (Hart 2010). There are risks and negative aspects associated with the excessive and improper use of ESNs (Munnukka et al. 2014). However, the ESN literature seems to find that the positives aspects of ESN usage far outweigh any negatives. With the exception of a few studies (e.g., (Husin et al. 2011a; Husin et al. 2011b)), there has been limited research investigating the impact of working governing tools (e.g., improper content, bullying, harassing).

Researchers suggest that organisations have invested in and adopted ESNs (Riemer et al. 2013) and then experienced a substantial positive change in the ways in which employees collaborate and communicate internally (Aral et al. 2013; Ortbach et al. 2014). As at 2012, it was found that four out of five organisations used enterprise social systems at varying stages of maturity (Majchrzak et al. 2013; Overby 2012). A

recent industrial survey revealed that 72% of over 4,200 global leading organisations had adopted at least one social software (Bughin et al. 2011; in (Ortbach et al. 2014)). Furthermore, a survey conducted at the end of 2013 by Deloitte (2013) showed that more than 90% of all Fortune 500 corporations had partially or fully used an ESN, representing a 70% increase compared to 2011 (Berger et al. 2014). It is expected that, by 2016, up to 50% of large organisations will have implemented ESNs (Mathiesen et al. 2013; Perez 2014). According to Forrester Research, the enterprise social software market value is expected to reach US\$6.4 billion in 2016 (Liu et al. 2014).

As more organisations employ ESNs in their daily internal communications and work practices, issues related to employees' adoption and use of ESNs (e.g., underutilisation of the platform, excessive and improper use of the platform, strategies to promote use of the platform) have arisen, representing an increasingly attractive research area for both academics and practitioners (Beck et al. 2014a; Boh et al. 2013). Organisations are facing many challenging "what to do" and "how to do" questions concerning employees' use (or non-use) of these platforms. These questions require strategies, roles and processes if they are to be fully addressed (Kasper et al. 2012; Kügler et al. 2015b). As previously illustrated, the aim of the present study is to investigate one of the most pressing challenges for ESN community managers, namely, underutilisation by community members. An ESN community with few or no messages (i.e., posts) will impair the vitality of the community and eventually fail.

2.2 Existing Studies on ESNs

A detailed literature review is essential to establish and maintain a good understanding of contemporary studies related to research area (Keen 1980). We conducted a literature review through a search of academic journals, conference proceedings, books, government reports, newsletters, workshops, seminars, and internet sources. We used different databases search engines such as SpringerLink, EBSCOhost, Informit, ProQuest and ACM Digital Library. We often used the following keywords: "Enterprise social network, systems, or software", "online participation", "promote, enhance, or encourage online participation" "lurkers or lurking", "posters or posting", "promotional or management interventions, mechanisms, or tactics", "knowledge creation or management") to then review the abstract to ensure whether the result paper is relevant to our research area.

We focused on top refereed journals (e.g., MIS Quarterly, Information System Research, Decision Support Systems, MIS Quarterly Executive, European Journal of Operations Research, Journal of MIS, Journal of the Association for IS) as well as A-ranked conferences with leading professional and scientific computing societies such as AIS conferences (e.g., ICIS, ECIS, and PACIS), IEEE conferences (e.g., HICSS), and ACM conferences (e.g., CHI, and CSCW). However, we found that academic main stream has limited studies on some contemporary issues related to organizational interventions (e.g., social media governance framework and policies, promotional messages). Therefore, we conducted a review of industrial annual reports, blogs, broadcasts, and consultants reports and case studies by private organizations such as Gartner, Clearswift, American Life Project and KPMG.

2.2.1 Main research areas on corporate use of social networks

In the relatively short period of time in which ESNs have been available, a growing body of academic literature has investigated the corporate use of social networks. Based on our review of the literature, academic studies fall into in five broad areas as shown in Table 2.1.

Research Area	Main Themes	Author/s
Business opportunities	Organisations & social business	(Zhang et al. 2010), (David et al. 2013), (Turban et al. 2011), (Mathiesen et al. 2013),(van Osch et al. 2015), (Hinchcliffe et al. 2012)
	Corporate transformations and social networks	(Qualman 2012), (Leonardi 2013), (Richter et al. 2011), (Majchrzak et al. 2013)
Platforms	Design features and	(Zhang et al. 2011),(Wen et al.
design and	collaborative technologies in	2012), (Cialdini et al. 2009),
features	workplace	(Tajfel et al. 1978)
Strategic &	Return on investment and	(Weinberg et al. 2011), (Herzog
governance	corporate use of social	et al. 2013), (Macnamara 2011)
issues and risks	software	
	Role of social media policy	(Husin et al. 2011a; Husin et al.
		2011b), (Lyssand 2010), (Vaast et al. 2013)
	Risks associated with	(Dreher, 2014), (Landers &
	employees' use of social	Callan, 2014)
	networks	

Table 2.1 Research areas on corporate use of social network	ks
---	----

~ · ·		
Communication	ESN impact on network-wide	(Zhao et al. 2009), (Ebner et al.,
mediums	and groups informal/formal	2010), (Riemer et al. 2012),
	communications at work	(Riemer et al. 2013), (Behrendt
		et al. 2014)
Employees'	Users' characteristics	(Berger et al. 2014)
motivations and	ESN usage behaviours	(Kügler et al. 2015b), (Kügler et
usage		al. 2014), (Kuegler et al. 2015)
behaviour	Employees' acceptance of	(Kugler et al. 2013b),
	corporate social software	(Cleveland 2012), (Kügler et al.
		2015a)
	Employees' motivations to use	(DiMicco et al. 2008; DiMicco
	corporate social networks	et al. 2009), (Antonius et al.
		2014), (Kügler et al. 2014;
		Ortbach et al. 2014)
	External influences (feedback	(Brzozowski et al. 2009),
	and peer pressure) on	(Moon et al. 2008)
	employees' use of corporate	
	blog services	
	External influences (e.g. user's	(Stieglitz et al. 2014), (Ortbach
	hierarchical level) on ESN use	& Recker, 2014a)

Furthermore, researchers have investigated different types of enterprise social software, including wikis (Beck et al. 2014b; Hester 2011; Majchrzak et al. 2012; Newman et al. 2009), bookmarking tools (Damianos et al. 2007; Warr 2008) and blogging tools (Yardi et al. 2008; Yardi et al. 2009). A significant body of research has focused on employees' use of microblogging tools (Kügler et al. 2015b; Kugler et al. 2013b; Ortbach et al. 2014; Richter et al. 2013a; Stieglitz et al. 2014; Stocker et al. 2012) as the most widely used and popular services provided by ESNs (Qualman 2012). Nearly all the research studies presented above in Table 2.1 were conducted on ESNs. Moreover, most streams of research have focused on the individual user and social behavioural aspects to explain ESN adoption and use. The next section provides further discussion on why ESN research has tended to focus on behavioural aspects.

2.2.2 The behavioural aspects of ESN research

IS researchers have repeatedly emphasised that the successful implementation of any IS is largely determined by user acceptance and use of the system (Venkatesh et al. 2000). In fact, the lack of employee use is the most likely issue that causes organisational system failure (Karahanna and Straub 1999). For decades, several theoretical lenses—including the expectation–confirmation model (ECM) (Bhattacherjee 2001), the theory of reasoned action (TRA) (Fishbein and Ajzen 1975), the theory of planned behaviour (TPB) (Ajzen 1991), the technology acceptance model (TAM) (Davis 1989; Davis et al. 1989), TAM2 (Venkatesh and Davis 2000) and many others—have been employed to understand and predict an individual's intention to use new technology (Ajzen 2011). Understanding the determinants of use (and non-use) is critical because it provides leverage points with which to create favourable perceptions and, consequently, foster user motivations and usage (Venkatesh et al. 2000).

In line with these arguments, and apart from the practicality aspects (e.g., the time and resources available), the present study focuses on key individual-level factors to understand the problem of ESN underutilisation for three main reasons. Firstly, by definition, an IS is a socio-technical system that includes people, processes and information with the purpose of enabling organisations in attaining their business objectives (Huber et al. 2007; Laudon et al. 2012; Robey et al. 2013). From the technology perspective, just like public social networks (e.g., Twitter), ESNs are easy and intuitive to use (Zhang et al. 2010); in addition, as we investigated the live implementation of an ESN, some technological factors (e.g., compatibility and ease of use) may not be of significance because members are already familiar with the platform (refer to Section 4.2.2.1 for further detail on the participation criteria of the research study) (Kügler et al. 2015b). However, from the people perspective, and because ESNs are voluntary settings, understanding how users feel and behave is crucial to successful ESN implementation in organisations.

Secondly, it is necessary to understand and explore the innate leading drivers of posting and lurking behaviours in ESNs. In particular, the antecedents of lurking behaviours are key to understanding the low participation problem in corporate social software; yet these antecedents are still vague and need further exploration (Sun et al. 2014). Thirdly, unless employees see that the perceived benefits outweigh the perceived costs of participating in ESNs, the ESN will remain underutilised. This highlights the importance of investigating the extent of the influence of those individual-level benefits and cost factors in driving employees' participation behaviour. To conclude, we believe that an examination of individual-level factors can inform strategies to change participation behaviours and therefore contribute to the successful implementation of these platforms.

Existing studies on employees' motivations and usage behaviour regarding ESNs have mainly concentrated on three key perspectives: (i) employees' usage behaviours in ESNs, (ii) employees' acceptance of (or motivations to use) ESNs, and (iii) external influences on employees' use of ESNs. The following sub-sections discuss each of these perspectives in turn.

2.2.3 Employees' usage behaviours in ESNs

The vast majority of existing ESN research looks at single dimensional usage behaviour, focusing in particular on employees' intention to use or the actual usage of ESNs (e.g.,(Chin et al. 2014), (Choi et al. 2014), (DiMicco et al. 2008; DiMicco et al. 2009), (Koch et al. 2012), (Kugler et al. 2013a; Kügler et al. 2012), (Riemer et al. 2013), (Sahib et al. 2009)). However, there are a few exceptions that examine other use cases.

To compare usage patterns in ESNs, Richter and Riemer (2013a) conducted a detailed comparison of multiple case studies, and found three different use cases in ESNs: work coordination, information storage, and social praise. These use cases provide different "possibilities of ESN when appropriated into team, project or large enterprise contexts" (Richter et al. 2013a, p. 1). They concluded that a better understanding of the multiple forms of use and/or applications of ESNs can help decision-makers to incorporate ESNs into employees' day-to-day work practices.

Kügler et al. (2014) set out to investigate employee's post-acceptance ESN use behaviour. Based on the qualitative data, they identified another set of use behaviours. Thus, they conceptualised and operationalised four distinct sets of use behaviours: consumptive use, contributive use, hedonic use, and social use. They aimed to provide practitioners with a deeper understanding of employees' use to consume, contribute, socialise and entertain themselves (Kügler et al. 2014). Similarly, Ortbach et al. (2014) proposed a conceptual model to understand three sets of participation behaviour by academics: knowledge acquisition, knowledge socialisation, and knowledge contribution on the ESN.

In relation to post-usage research, two recent studies took a further step and examined whether different usage behaviours could have different outcomes. To understand the impact of two sets of usage behaviours on employees' performance in ESNs, (Kuegler et al. 2015) investigated intra-team versus inter-team use behaviour

(where intra-team behaviour referred to "the extent to which individuals use [an ESN] for knowledge sharing, collaboration, and communication with their team members" and inter-team behaviour referred to interactions with co-workers outside the team). They found that intra-team use yielded employee performance outcomes that were different from the outcomes of inter-team use, signifying a relationship between ESN use and employee performance. In the same vein, Ali-Hassan et al. (2015) conducted a large-scale survey in a multinational IT company on the corporate use of social media tools (including blogs, wikis, social tagging and microblogging services). They investigated the impact of three sets of use behaviours, namely, social, hedonic and cognitive use, on job performance and found positive as well as negative impacts on job performance, it was shown to (indirectly) have a positive influence on innovative performance.

Although these studies examine different sets of use behaviours, they fall short in two areas. First, they are overwhelmingly qualitative studies; thus, there is still a need to test and validate these propositions and understand (and explain) the extent of the effect of these use behaviours. Second, they don't explain the antecedents that form these specific use behaviours and examine the linkages (and the extent of those linkages) between antecedents and the different modes and variances of ESN use. For example, what motivates the hedonic use of an ESN and how are those motivations different from social use motivations? Does a more hedonic use mean more (or less) consumptive use? It is also important to understand whether the same antecedents could play a positive (or negative) role in forming one or multiple use behaviours.

2.2.4 Employees' acceptance and motivations to use ESNs

Investigating employees' motivations to use (or participate in) an ESN has been the primary focus of existing ESN research. For example, using the unified theory of acceptance and use of technology (UTAUT) by Venkatesh et al. (2003), Cleveland (2012) proposes the determinants of users' acceptance of Yammer as an ESN for knowledge creation and reuse in ICT projects. In a similar study, Kügler et al. (2013b), by means of qualitative data and the theoretical lenses of innovation diffusion theory (IDT) and social capital theory (SCT), propose the determining factors (i.e., relative advantage, ease of use, result demonstrability, compatibility, reputation, perceived critical mass, trust, collaboration norms and community identification) influencing employees' ESN usage in two professional services firms. Guided by the research on knowledge exchange, Ortbach et al. (2014) developed a conceptual model that links two motivations (i.e., post quality and posting self-efficacy) in a number of participation behaviours by academics on an ESN. However, these studies need further testing to validate their conceptual models.

By means of qualitative work, DiMicco et al. (2008) conducted one of the earliest empirical studies of employees' motivations to use social networks at work (i.e., IBM's Beehive social network). Based on their qualitative work, it appeared that employees were motivated to use Beehive for three reasons: "connecting on a personal level, advancing their career within the company, and campaigning projects and ideas within the company" (DiMicco et al. 2008, p. 719). In a later investigation of IBM's Beehive social network, DiMicco et al. (2009) added two motivations: connecting and maintaining relationships with others on the site, and performing "people sensemaking" on the site.

We are aware of only two studies that propose and empirically validate models of motivations to use (or participate on) an ESN. In the first study, based on socialpsychological and IS theories, Park et al. (2014) examined five antecedents of the intention to share and seek information on online investment communities in South Korea (i.e., perceived usefulness of information, entertainment value, seeking reputation, sense of belonging and perceived knowledge). They validated their model using an online survey and found that entertainment value, sense of belonging and perceived usefulness had a significant influence on both intention to share and intention to seek (Park et al. 2014). In the second study, using the TAM (Davis 1989), Antonius et al. (2014) examined the role of two individual beliefs (i.e., perceived usefulness and perceived ease of use) in the adoption of enterprise social software in an Australian organisation. They used an online survey and collected 300 responses. They found that perceived usefulness and ease of use had a significant influence on the decision to adopt enterprise social software, and they recommended applying conducive strategies around external intrinsic and extrinsic variables to positively influence the perceptions of usefulness and ease of use.

To conclude, the extant research on users' motivations to use (or participate on) an ESN is limited in three main respects. Firstly, the majority of the reviewed studies

provide propositions that are yet to be validated. To date, to the best of our knowledge, there are two theory-driven empirical studies on users' motivations to use ESNs. Secondly, the extant research contributes limited knowledge on users' salient motivations to use an ESN, and even less on the linkages between users' motivations and different participation behaviours (e.g., posting, reading, liking and sharing). Thirdly, the proposed use motivation models tend to focus on extrinsic motivations or values (e.g., perceived usefulness, information quality). In reality, employees use an ESN not only for performing job-related activities but also for so-called water cooler chatting, entertainment, social arrangements and as a conversation medium for relationship building signifying a relationship between intrinsic motivations (e.g., fun) and ESN use.

2.2.5 External influences on employees' use of ESNs

Having discussed the extant literature on employees' usage behaviours and the determents of employees' use of ESNs, we now review the research on the external influences that encourage employees' use. The studies by Brzozowski et al. (2009) and Moon et al. (2008) are the earliest research on this topic. Brzozowski et al. (2009) analysed the year-long dataset of an online forum in a large technology company. The objective was to determine the effect of two forms of external influences (i.e., feedback, and managers' and co-workers' participation) on employees' participation behaviour. They found that recent manager activities and others' feedback in the form of posted comments were highly correlated with a user's subsequent participation (Brzozowski et al. 2009). Similarly, an empirical analysis of Hewlett-Packard's social forum logs showed that peer activities (i.e., posts) positively influenced other users in becoming active participants in the forum (Moon et al. 2008). Further, few studies have investigated other contextual and technological factors in earlier collaborative systems such as : Warr's (2008) examination of 'gamification' mechanisms, Zhang et al.'s (2011) examination of design features in collaborative systems and Zhang et al.'s (2013) study of community response.

However, research on external influences that encourage users' participation on ESNs is rare (Kügler et al. 2015b). Ortbach et al. (2014) propose a conceptual model of the relationship between certain strategic tactics by others and ESN usage. They developed the model of ESN usage and five impression management tactics

identified by Jones and Pittman (1973) (i.e., self-promotion, ingratiation, exemplification, intimidation and supplication) on an ESN platform at an Australian university. They expected their research to further the understanding of ESN use and to provide practitioners with an assessment instrument to gauge ESN use and improve users' participation (Ortbach et al. 2014). The literature includes one empirical examination of the external influences on ESN usage. It is a qualitative analysis of the messages posted on the Yammer ESN at Deloitte Australia. Stieglitz et al. (2014) examined the impact of users' hierarchical level and communication activity (i.e., the frequency of a user's postings) on their ability to elicit responses from other Yammer users. Compared to the users' hierarchical level, Stieglitz et al. (2014) found that communication activity had a bigger influence on eliciting responses from others. They concluded that their findings demonstrate the potential of ESNs for cultivating organic, user-driven communication and knowledge sharing in organisations.

In conclusion, most academic research on interventions (i.e., external influences) to promote users' online participation (e.g., (Bock et al. 2006), (Koh et al. 2007), and (Won-Seok et al. 2002)) largely pre-dates the establishment of ESNs. Research on external influences that encourage employees' use or participation in a work setting has been mainly conducted on earlier social tools such as blogs, online forums and wikis (Schneider et al. 2013), making this research perspective of existing ESN studies the least researched topic of the three key perspectives discussed above. Limited knowledge is thus available regarding how to foster the positive ramifications (or mitigate the potential adverse effects) of user participation on ESNs.

2.3 Lurking and Posting Behaviours

2.3.1 Posters, lurkers, and in-between

In the Jargon Dictionary (2001), a lurker is defined as "one of the 'silent majorities' in an electronic forum, one who posts occasionally or not at all but is known to read the group's postings regularly". Although this definition doesn't provide a quantitative standard of lurkers, it does highlight two important characterises of lurkers: they rarely post, but they regularly read others' posts (Sun et al. 2014). In general, lurkers are the largest user group (Lai et al. 2014; Malinen

2015) who never or rarely post in the community to which they belong; rather, they regularly browse others' posts and try to find the answers to their questions (Muller et al. 2010). Most researchers have developed their own definition of lurking (Ridings et al. 2006; Tagarelli and Interdonato 2015). Among the various definitions, lurkers have been defined as:

- the "persistent but silent audience" (Rafaeli et al. 2004)
- members who only occasionally post a message (Nonnecke & Preece 2003)
- members who post messages only once in a long while (Golder & Donath 2004)
- members who never post (Gensollen 2007; Lai et al. 2014; Muller et al. 2010; Nonnecke et al. 2006; Preece et al. 2004; Ridings et al. 2006)
- members who posted in the last four months or who had posted three or fewer messages since the implementation of the ESN (Ganley, Moser & Groenewegen 2012)
- members who posted once in the last three months (Nonnecke & Preece 2000)
- members who do not post more than one message in a 6 week period (Han et al. 2013)
- members who do not make a contribution in the first 12 months after subscribing (Stegbauer and Rausch 2002)

It can be observed from this list of definitions that researchers on online communities are conflicted regarding the provision of a specific threshold for lurking behaviour. While some (e.g., Rafaeli et al. (2004)) do not quantify the lurking threshold, others (e.g., Ridings et al. (2006) and Nonnecke and Preece (2000)) specify different criteria that span from "never posting" irrespective of the timeframe to posting once, twice or three times during different timeframes. In an effort to provide more specific criteria for the lurking threshold, Chen (2004) proposed the following quantitative standards to identify potential lurkers: (i) the lurker logged into the community at least once every week in a 6 week timespan, (ii) the lurker's posting frequency per week is below the average of the group members, and (iii) the lurker's posting frequency per week divided by the login frequency count is above the average of the group members. However, these criteria haven't been widely used, perhaps because of the socio-psychological factors and other factors such as the size and nature of the
online communities that could influence lurkers' behaviours. In addition, online communities are highly varied in terms of their domains (Yan and Davison 2013). In a recent review of the lurking literature, Sun et al. (2014), p 111 concluded that lurking is a context-dependent behaviour and depends on how active or inactive the community is; for example, "lurkers in technical communities may be considered posters in synthetic communities".

Our rationale for selecting the threshold that differentiates lurking from posting behaviours lay in the following considerations:

- The lurking threshold should be set in relation to the average number of posts in that online community during a specific timeframe. Therefore, specifying a ceiling limit of posts or comments by which to identify lurkers seems to be more practical. A similar approach was used by Rau et al. (2008) and Hung et al. (2015).
- The timeframe in which the lurkers' activities (i.e., the number of posts or comments) is calculated should consider the inherent characteristics of the social network (e.g., the volume of content creation, the sense of live feedback interactions). The timelines of social networks travel fast, particularly for large communities.
- The community type, size, topics discussed and other contextual factors are to be considered in specifying the lurking threshold. For instance, a member may be considered to lurk in one community and actively post in another (Cranefield et al. 2015).
- Behavioural and social psychologists (e.g., De Guinea and Markus (2009), Clear (2012) and Lally et al. (2010)) have found that the timeframe for individuals to form a habit ranges from 21 to 66 days (Gardner et al. 2012). Orbell and Verplanken (2010) provided evidence that, after one month, a behaviour, through regular repetition, becomes automatic or habitual. We believe a one month timeframe is short enough for participants to recall their activities (i.e., the number of posts or comments) and long enough, according to behavioural psychology studies, for individuals to form a habit (i.e., lurking behaviour).

Accordingly, based on our sample mean (i.e., the number of posts and comments) and the nature, activities and dynamics of the communities in which we collected our

data (refer to Chapter 5, Section 5.3 for further details), this study defines lurkers as *members who did not create any content (post or comment) in the last month*. In addition, based on Ridings et al.'s (2006) definition of posters as "community members who actively contribute content", we define posters *as members who posted or commented at least once in the last month*.

It is important to note that there are other categories of online user groups which the literature identifies as neither lurkers nor posters. For instance, Kim (2000) identifies three categories of online user groups: novices ("who were once lurkers, but have become new members who need to learn about the community and its values" (Bishop 2007, p. 1885)), regulars ("who were once novices, but now are established in the community and comfortably participating in community life" (Bishop 2007, p. 1885)), and leaders ("who are volunteers and staff who keep the community running and go on to become posters" (Bishop 2007, p. 1885)). In addition, Takahashi et al. (2003) further classify lurking behaviour into: active lurking (sharing the information or knowledge gained online with others) and passive lurking (using the information gained online but not sharing it). Walker et al. (2010), p. 162 propose two posting categories: initial posters (the posters who "asked a new question or raised a new issue but did not continue the thread") and responding posters (the posters "whose first post was a direct response to someone else asking a question"). However, irrespective of these in-between member categorical stages (the member lifecycle), the lurker user group often constitutes the vast majority of online communities (Schneider et al. 2013). The "90–9–1" principle of collaborative websites posits that 90% of network members only read others' content (i.e., lurk), 9% of members edit the content, and 1% of members actively create new content (i.e., post) (Arthur 2006).

2.3.2 Significance of lurking behaviour

The academic perspective on lurking has been mixed. Although the general online literature considers lurking as a passive but nonnegative approach to enjoying an online community (Nonnecke et al. 2006), some studies see lurking as problematic behaviour that needs to be changed. The definitions proposed in those studies reflect the negative connotations of lurking (e.g., Fogg (2002), Sánchez et al. (2010), Smith et al. (1999) and Zhou (2011)). Lurking has been considered as an obstruction, unnecessary for communication, and as "the scourge that prevents

successful collective efforts'' (Antin et al. 2010). In the same vein, Lim et al. (2001), p. 58 argue that "the existence of 'lurkers' may lead to [the] group fading, as some active participants may be disheartened to continue with the discussion when they fail to get any feedback, verbal or non-verbal, from others". Generally, the lurking literature agrees that although a certain number of lurkers is acceptable for big communities, "too many lurkers would impair the vitality of the community" (Sun et al. 2014).

Lurking is alternatively seen as a valid and essential behaviour in any online community (Djajakusuma et al. 2015). The reasons for this vary: for instance, lurkers increase the popularity of an online community and generate website traffic and hits (Koh et al. 2007). Nonnecke et al. (2004) researched participation in an online discussion board and found that lurking was a way for newcomers to learn about the online community. For some members, the ability to lurk was an important factor in their willingness to join the community (Nonnecke et al. 2006). Furthermore, in an investigation of lurking in an online course, Beaudoin (2002), p. 151 found that lurkers felt "they were learning just as much or more from reading others' comments than from writing their own". Preece et al. (2004) stress that lurkers are not self-interested individuals and they may even be willing to contribute; however, already-developed beliefs and values were holding them back from doing so (Grigore et al. 2011). Lurkers constitute the audience that consumes the knowledge created by the posters; and lurkers "seem to profit to a similar extent from accessing online communities as posters" (Schneider et al. 2013).

In ESNs, one of the advantages of classifying participation behaviours into posting and lurking is to make it easy to understand the issues associated with each behaviour (e.g., why it happens and how it responds to different interventions) as it reflects the reality of online participation in ESNs. Academics as well as practitioners could benefit from reviewing the actions of posters and lurkers and the different aspects identified in our research model to, for example, initiate different strategies in order to improve ESN usage.

2.3.3 Why lurkers lurk

Previous studies have identified many individual (extrinsic and intrinsic), contextual and technological reasons for lurking behaviour (Table 2.2). In particular, the work by Preece and Nonnecke (2000) (2001) (2004) on understanding the

reasons for lurking is well acknowledged in the literature (e.g., (Bishop 2007; Bishop 2011), (Muller 2012; Muller et al. 2010), (Rau et al. 2008), (Ridings et al. 2006) and (Sun et al. 2014)). Preece and Nonnecke initially identified 79 reasons for lurking and then, in a survey of 219 lurkers, condensed these to 19 reasons. From the 19 reasons, Preece and Nonnecke (2004) identified five important reasons for not posting: (1) lurkers think that just reading/browsing is enough, (2) lurkers are still learning about the group, (3) lurkers think they are being helpful by being altruistic observers, (4) there is no requirement to post, and (5) lurkers are simply not able to use the software functionalities.

Table 2.2 Examples of the reasons why lurkers don't post

1. Just reading / browsing is enough
2. Still learning about the group
3. Shy about posting
4. Nothing to offer
5. No requirement to post \ needs
6. Others respond the way I would
7. Want to remain anonymous
8. Had no intention to post from the outset
9. No value
10. If I post, I am making a commitment
11. Wrong group for me
12. Poor quality of messages or group/community
13. Not enough time to post
14. Concern about aggressive or hostile responses
15. There are too many messages already
16. Long delay in response to postings
17. Group treats new members badly
18. Low sense of group belonging
19. Being helpful by being altruistic lurkers
20. Language problems (e.g., English is the second language)
21. Low sense of knowledge worth

22. Trust concerns

Source (Grigore et al. 2011; Liang et al. 2008; Munar et al. 2014; Nonnecke et al. 2000; Preece 2000; Preece 2001; Preece et al. 2004; Schneider et al. 2013; Teichmann et al. 2015)

The literature on online behaviours suggests that posters and lurkers are motivated by different factors (Koh et al. 2007). For example, Wasko and Fara (2005) found that posters mainly contributed knowledge for extrinsic reasons (such as enhanced reputation), whereas a study by Preece et al. (2004) found an intrinsic factor ("just reading is enough") was the dominant reason for lurking. Similarly, in a content analysis of 15,505 enterprise microblogging messages, Beck et al. (2014a) found that

the user characteristics differed between knowledge seekers and knowledge contributors: the knowledge seekers' characteristics were more important in determining the knowledge exchange. In addition, Lai et al. (2014) examined the knowledge sharing intention of posters and lurkers in recreation-oriented interest communities in public websites and found that the poster and lurker user groups differed in their motivations to share knowledge. While the posters' main motivations were intrinsic, extrinsic motivational factors (i.e., reciprocity) were the most influential factors in the lurker user group (Lai et al. 2014). A recent study to understand how knowledge-sharing intention was formed in the use of three IT-oriented technical websites in Taiwan, Hung et al. (2015) concluded that lurkers and posters demonstrated strong differences. The enjoyment in helping others was the primary motivation for posters, whereas perceived compatibility, ease of use and reciprocity shaped the lurkers' attitudes (Hung et al. 2015).

On the other hand, the literature notes some similarities between posters and lurkers (e.g., Dennen (2008), Liang et al. (2008) and Mo & Coulson (2010)). For example, both types of users are interested in improving their understanding of particular subjects (Preece et al. 2004) and both lurkers and posters benefit from participation to the same extent (Mo & Coulson 2010; van Uden-Kraan et al. 2008). Students who lurked in the online discussion forums of educational courses were found to read and reflect on the content in these communities without posting any content themselves (Dennen 2008).

To conclude, the literature suggests that "there is not a grounded rule about the benefits and other outcomes from the lurking behavior, when compared to posting" (de Carvalho et al. 2015, p. 3) and further research is needed to examine how lurkers' and posters' experiences are different (Koh et al. 2007; Schneider et al. 2013; Yan et al. 2013a; Yan et al. 2013b).

2.3.4 How to influence lurkers

As previously demonstrated, the unique characteristics of lurkers make them an essential user group in any online community (to increase the popularity of an online community, generate website traffic and hits, etc.). Thus, encouraging lurkers to contribute is an attractive research area for both academics and practitioners (Djajakusuma et al. 2015; Schneider et al. 2013) yet few studies have been conducted on the phenomenon of lurking particularly in a work setting. This is not to suggest

the transformation of all members to posters. Clearly, having too many posters could cause chaos and disruption in online communities with a massive flow of information that increases the participation costs such as reading, sorting and understanding (Takahashi et al. 2003). However, online communities that have few or no posters will eventually fail as there will be no more content to be consumed (Matzat et al. 2014).

In sum, identifying lurking behaviour, understanding 'why' members lurk after they have already been introduced to the platform and examining 'how' to encourage lurkers to be more active members are the most significant challenges for online-community managers (Djajakusuma et al. 2015; Sun et al. 2014; Tagarelli et al. 2014). However, researchers have largely focused on the behaviour of posters and 'how' or 'why' they use or share their knowledge on ESNs (e.g., Sahib et al. (2009) and Beck et al. (2014b)) without considering the motives and usage behaviours of the larger user group, namely, lurkers (Lai et al. 2014; Malinen 2015). We are not aware of any empirical study which focuses on the behaviour of poster and lurker user groups in ESNs and provides a comparative group analysis of 'why' or 'why not' participate in ESNs. Furthermore, encouraging members to participate could have different outcomes in different user groups (i.e., posters and lurkers). A more detailed review of the literature on interventions to improve user participation is presented next.

2.4 Theoretical Background

2.4.1 Participation in online communities

Since the emergence of the notion of the online community three decades ago, the literature suggests that it is only by participation that people can interact in cyberspace (Koh et al. 2007). Given that participation is essential for sustainable online communities (Bagozzi & Dholakia 2006), the literature asserts the lack of user contributions to be the main reason for the failure of online communities (Ling et al. 2005; Malinen 2015). In response, numerous studies have investigated the antecedents of online participation behaviours from various theoretical perspectives (Zhang et al. 2013).

The literature on online participation typically summarises user participation into two behaviour types: lurking and posting (e.g., Beck et al. (2014a), de Carvalho et al. (2015), Koh et al. (2007), Okleshen et al. (1998), Preece and Nonnecke (2000)

(2001) (2004), Ridings et al. (2006), Sun et al. (2014), Wasko and Fara (2005), Yan et al. (2013a)). Koh et al. (2007) categorise participation in an online community as passive participation (what we call lurking) or active participation (what we call posting) and add that "without viewing and posting, a virtual community is not sustainable". According to Tonteri, Kosonen, Ellonen and Tarkiainen (2011), posting and lurking practices account for the full range of motivational needs that a user meets by being part of the online community. Similarly, most microblogging activities in ESNs take the form of either viewing other posts (i.e., lurking) or posting.

Past studies have identified many factors that influence knowledge sharing, and these are usually classified into personal factors (Kankanhalli et al. 2005; Lin et al. 2012; McLure Wasko et al. 2000; Wasko et al. 2005), contextual factors (King et al. 2008; Renzl 2008; Wickramasinghe et al. 2012) and technological factors (Hsu et al. 2008; Ma et al. 2007). These factors include, among others, reciprocity, reputation (Hung et al. 2011; Hung et al. 2015; Kankanhalli et al. 2005; Lai et al. 2014; Lin et al. 2012; McLure Wasko et al. 2000; Oh 2012; Wasko et al. 2005), knowledge-sharing selfefficacy (Hsu et al. 2007; Lai et al. 2014; Lin et al. 2009; Tseng et al. 2010), sense of self-worth (Bock et al. 2005; Yan et al. 2013a), enjoyment in helping others (Kankanhalli et al. 2005; Lai et al. 2014; Wasko et al. 2005), perceived compatibility (Hung et al. 2015; Kuo et al. 2011), trust (Chandra et al. 2009; Chandra et al. 2012; Hsu et al. 2007; Renzl 2008; Sánchez-Franco et al. 2014), identification (Behrendt et al. 2014; Kankanhalli et al. 2005; Tseng et al. 2010), personal outcome expectations (Chiu et al. 2006; Hsu et al. 2007; Hung et al. 2015), community-related outcome expectations (Chiu et al. 2006; Hsu et al. 2007; Lai et al. 2014), and use satisfaction (Cheung et al. 2013; Lim et al. 2013).

As employees' activities are expected to be task-oriented, instead of using the term "participation", organisational research on virtual communities often uses the terms "knowledge sharing" or "knowledge contribution". It is important to note that research has been overwhelmingly focused on traditional (i.e., codified) knowledge management systems (e.g., (Alavi et al. 2001), (Gray 2001), (Kankanhalli et al. 2005), (Kulkarni et al. 2007), (McLure Wasko et al. 2000; Wasko et al. 2005)). Table 2.3 summarises the relevant research on online participation studies and its theoretical lenses.

Theoretical Lens	Key Idea	Reference
Social identity theory	How group norms and social identity influence participation in online communities as well as the motivational antecedents and mediators of group norms	Dholakia et al. (2004)
	and social identity	
Irretrievable investments	How reputation, relational capital, and personalisation influence continuance intention above and beyond satisfaction with the network	Tiwana and Bush (2005)
Social capital theory	Impact of individual motivations and social capital (i.e. structural, cognitive and relational capital) on knowledge contribution in online networks	Wasko and Faraj (2005)
Social exchange theory and the social capital theory	Impact of the social and individual cost and benefit factors in knowledge sharing	Kankanhalli et al. (2005)
Theory of commitment and socialisation to groups	Influence of the existence of responses to a newcomer's initial post and the characteristics of the initial post and the responses to the newcomer's posting of another message	Joyce and Kraut (2006)
Motivational model	Influence of formal leadership role, personal and community benefits, and community characteristics on members' participation	Butler et al. (2007)
Expectation confirmation theory	Contextual antecedents and technological antecedents of an individual's continuance intention	Chen (2007)
Theory of legitimate peripheral participation	Mechanisms that sustain long-term voluntary developer participation in open source software communities	Fang and Neufeld (2009)
Commitment theory	Types of commitment and types of member behaviours	Bateman et al. (2011)
Elaboration likelihood model	Posits that human attitudes can be changed by two "routes" of influence, namely, the peripheral route and central route	(Petty et al. 1986)
Social influence theory	Determinants of online community user participation from a social influence perspective	(Zhou 2011)
Expectancy-value theory and a social learning process	Relationship between motivation and sustained participation in knowledge sharing in transactional virtual communities	(Sun et al. 2012)
UTAUT	Effects of major factors of participation in internet innovation intermediary platforms	Chu (2013)

Table 2.3 Examples of online participation studies and theoretical lense
--

Source: Lin et al. (2015), Zhang et al. (2013) and Zhang et al. (2015)

In relation to social software, there is a growing research interest on user online participation and knowledge sharing in different contexts using different theoretical lenses. For example, Majchrzak et al. (2013) used the affordances lens, Beck et al. (2014a) used a multi-level model of knowledge exchange in electronic networks of practice, Yan et al. (2013b) used self-perception theory, Wang et al. (2012) used the TAM, and Vassileva (2012) used multiple theories from the area of social psychology and behavioural economics (El Ouirdi et al. 2015). Further, research on online participation behaviour attracts scholars from a wide range of different disciplines. For example, in the field of hospitality and tourism management, Kang et al. (2014) employed a theoretical model that represents the correlations between four types of benefits (functional, social, psychological and hedonic) to increase the active participation of users in restaurants' Facebook fan pages. However, theory-driven empirical studies on user participation in ESNs is rare (Kügler et al. 2015b).

In relation to ESNs, the first choice of theoretical base would appear to be IS adoption models such as TAM (Davis 1989; Davis et al. 1989), TAM2 (Venkatesh et al. 2000), extended TAM for a WWW context (Moon et al. 2001), extended TAM for online consumer behaviour (Koufaris 2002), UTAUT (Venkatesh et al. 2003), TAM3 (Venkatesh et al. 2008a) and UTAUT2 (Venkatesh et al. 2012). Although these theoretical frameworks are very well established in IS research and have been successful in understanding individual use and adoption of information technologies (Sykes et al. 2009), they are limited in relation to users' participation behaviour in ESNs in four areas. First, they only partially explain the participation behaviour. For example, they do not directly account for possible barriers to participation that could cause users to lurk. Even though an ESN may provide functional values (e.g., it is useful or knowledgeable), employees may still reject it if they perceive certain costs (e.g., feeling afraid, loss of knowledge, the time and effort required). Second, they focus on the factors in initial usage which may be different from the factors in continued use (Karahanna et al. 1999), which is essential for sustainable online communities (Zhang et al. 2013). Third, as prediction models, they focus on the intention to use rather than actual usage. Research suggests that examining actual usage as the dependent variable may provide greater insights than examining the intention to use a technology (Venkatesh et al. 2008b). Fourth, they are general models and attempt to address a wide range of technologies; however, as suggested by Venkatesh and Bala (2008a), a model that focuses on a specific class of technology will provide more explanatory power.

Compared to other communication technologies commonly used in organizations (e.g., emails, , bulletin board systems, and discussion lists), an ESN is a different form of technology in terms of uses, practices, benefits and objectives (Leonardi 2013). It is less complex and is flat in terms of its structure. More importantly, participation in an ESN is voluntary in nature (refer to the discussion in Section 2.1.2, for details on ESN characteristics). In a voluntarily setting, users' motivations or perceived values of information technologies have different weights in impacting usage (Beaudry et al. 2010).

After reviewing the theories on factors that influence human behaviours, particularly those that have been previously employed to understand online participation behaviour, we identified the social exchange theory (Blau 1964) as the appropriate theoretical lens for the present study. Further, in order to account for benefit-relevant factors and cost-relevant factors in participation, we relied on the literature on extrinsic and intrinsic motivations. By bridging the two streams of research on the individual antecedents of two distinct types of online behaviour (i.e., lurking and posting), we believed we could develop a nuanced understanding as to why employees lurk or post after they have already been introduced to the ESN. This model aligned well with our first research objective. We discuss both components of our theoretical lenses in turn.

2.4.1.1 Social exchange theory

Social exchange theory (Blau 1964) is one of the most popular theoretical frameworks used in the literature on online participation to explain user participation (Liang et al. 2008). According to social exchange theory, an individual interacts with others based on their self-interested analysis of the expected benefits and costs of that social exchange (Kankanhalli et al. 2005). It assumes that: (i) people maximise the benefits and minimise the costs when they interact with others, (ii) people help others with a general expectation of future return, and (iii) such future returns are not tangible (Kankanhalli et al. 2005; Liang et al. 2008).

In the last decade, social exchange theory has been used in numerous studies to understand why individuals are willing to share their knowledge and the extent to which they perceive the contribution of their knowledge to involve benefits and costs (e.g., Allam et al. (2012), Hung et al. (2011), Kankanhalli et al. (2005), Oh (2012), Park et al. (2014), and Sánchez-Franco et al. (2014)). In a review of empirical studies that reported a correlation between knowledge-sharing behaviour and independent factors in a ten year period, Liang et al. (2008) found 29 studies that examined several factors in knowledge-sharing behaviour using social exchange theory.

Our rationale for selecting this theory to understand employees' participation behaviour in ESNs lay in the following considerations:

- (i) It accounts for cost and benefit motivations that could drive users to either lurk or post;
- (ii) It relates to online participation in a voluntary setting with no expectation of obtaining rewards or avoiding punishment. Many studies that have used social exchange theory in these settings have been published in toptier journals (Liang et al. 2008);
- (iii) There is ample empirical support for using this theory in a live setting (after users have been introduced to the online platform);
- (iv) Using social exchange theory provides the ability to link users' motivations to participation rather than the intention to participate;
- (v) It has been tested extensively in several empirical settings including work settings (e.g., Hung et al. (2011), Kankanhalli et al. (2005) and Oh (2012)).

The extant research highlights various factors affecting users' participation (Choi et al. 2014). Next, we look at the literature on extrinsic and intrinsic motivations to account for benefit-relevant and cost-relevant factors in user participation.

2.4.1.2 Extrinsic and intrinsic motivations

Motivation theories suggest that individuals always initiate behaviours to satisfy the full range of their needs (Deci 1975; Deci et al. 1985). Broadly, needs-based motivations fall into two major groups: intrinsic and extrinsic motivations (Wu et al. 2013). Extrinsic motivations refer to "the performance of an activity because it is perceived to be instrumental in achieving valued outcomes that are distinct from the activity itself" (Davis et al. 1992, p. 1112), such as improved job performance or enhanced image. With intrinsic motivations, users interact with a system "for no

apparent reinforcement other than the process of performing activity per se" (Davis et al. 1992, p. 1112), such as perceived fun. IS researchers have identified extrinsic and intrinsic motivations to create content in public and corporate online communities (Beck et al. 2014b). In public use, the motivations have been found to include, among others, social connections and entertainment (Boyd et al. 2007b); in corporate use, the motivations have been found to include, among others, personal brand building and reciprocity (Kankanhalli et al. 2005; Wasko et al. 2005).

As shown previously, in online communities, user motivations to participate differ across user groups (Zhang et al. 2013) and therefore exert varying degrees of influence on the participation behaviour. In a survey conducted in online forums in Korea, Koh et al. (2007) found that active participants (i.e., posters) and passive participants (i.e., lurkers) were motivated by different reasons. The literature suggests that taking a purely positive approach and examining only beneficial motivations to understand technology use may leave important facets undiscovered (Cenfetelli 2004). Cost factors such as the codification effort (Beck et al. 2014b; Kankanhalli et al. 2005) have been found to significantly hinder knowledge-sharing behaviour and cause online community members to lurk. Another example of a cost factor is when users are afraid that sharing knowledge with others will lead them to lose their knowledge power.

Kankanhalli et al.'s (2005) model of knowledge contribution is one of the most commonly cited models of knowledge contribution (He et al. 2009; Liang et al. 2008; Wang et al. 2010). Kankanhalli et al. (2005) used social exchange theory as a theoretical base upon which to develop an extended model to explain the use of electronic knowledge repositories by knowledge contributors. They identified, operationalised and validated a model of employees' motivations to contribute. The model comprised the cost dimension (codification effort, loss of knowledge power), extrinsic benefits dimension (organizational reward, reciprocity, and image) and intrinsic benefits dimension (self-efficacy, and enjoyment in helping others). The present study employed Kankanhalli et al.'s (2005) model of knowledge contribution to account for the benefit-relevant and cost-relevant factors that drive users to either lurk or post in ESNs. This is discussed in further detail in Chapter 3 (Section 3.3.1) in relation to the research model and propositions.

2.4.2 Management interventions

Although not all members need to contribute for an ESN to be successful, an ESN community with little or no message posting will have difficulty achieving its objectives. In such a scenario, lurking is a problem as "no one wants to be part of a community where no one says anything" (Preece et al. 2004). Hence, in academia, motivating users to participate in online activities has been one of the most widely studied topics in online participation research (e.g., (Bock et al. 2006),(Lee et al. 2013), (Kankanhalli et al. 2005),(Nah et al. 2011), (McLure Wasko et al. 2000; Wasko et al. 2005) (Ren et al. 2012; Ren et al. 2007) and (Won-Seok et al. 2002)). In an extensive review of the literature on user participation in online communities, Malinen (2015), p. 235 concluded that "the most frequently recurring research question throughout the reviewed studies has been, How to encourage users to participate?".

Studies that investigate possible interventions to motivate users' online participation have mainly concentrated on four key areas: practitioners' suggestions; persuasionbased interventions such as promotional messages; compliance-based interventions such as written or spoken management pressure techniques; and governance tools such as SMPs. A review of the literature on each of these areas is presented next.

2.4.2.1 Practitioners' suggestions for boosting ESN participation

Encouraging participation is one of the greatest challenges faced by practitioners, and many blogs, industrial reports, broadcasts and consultancy reports demonstrate ways in which online communities can be facilitated (Hinchcliffe et al. 2012; Qualman 2012). Practitioners (e.g., Adamson (2014), Li (2015b), Perez (2014) and Pisoni (2013)) have proposed several interventions to enhance user participation in ESNs, including promotional messages, management pressure techniques and SMPs. Almost all the existing research on SMPs, for example, has been conducted by practitioners such as Gartner, Clearswift, American Life Project and KPMG (Jaeger et al. 2012; Rudman 2010).

Based on his experience as the co-founder and CTO of Yammer, Pisoni (2013) highlights that the biggest challenges faced by ESN managers are not technical but behavioural. He suggests several solutions to boost participation such as giving praise, liking someone's post, giving unsolicited advice and encouraging transparency by showing unfinished work, accepting mistakes and working "out

loud". Additionally, many enterprise social network consultants and business strategists emphasise the importance of managers' participation and support to drive a successful ESN (Li 2015b). Dion Hinchcliffe, a Chief Strategy Officer at Adjuvi, highlights that ESNs need to be supported by an executive-level sponsor who is "powerful and influential in the organisation, creating the air cover for it to succeed so others can do experiments and get the resources they need" (Li 2015b). According to Dell's Director of Social Media, Richard Margetic, without the leadership of Dell's senior executive "there's no way we would have been able to become a social business" (David 2013). However, these proposals require an appropriate empirical and theoretical base. We know very little about the outcomes and the extent of influence of these proposals in prompting users' online participation.

2.4.2.2 Persuasion-based interventions

Several theoretical approaches have been proposed to understand and possibly alter human cognitive strategies and actions, such as the push-pull mooring model from migration theory (Bansal et al. 2005), the motivation–opportunity–ability model of human behaviour (MacInnis et al. 1991), the control theory of users' actions (i.e., the controlee) (Kirsch 1996), the health belief model (Sarstedt et al. 2011) and many others. Persuasion frameworks, such as the heuristic-systematic model of information processing (Chin 1998), the ELM (Petty et al. 1986) and the persuasion knowledge model (Friestad and Wright 1994), are particularly appropriate when the technology use is voluntary in nature (Kane et al. 2014).

Traditionally, scholars in the area of persuasion have focused on influencing individuals to change their attitudes, motivations, and subsequently their behaviour for their own benefit (e.g., exercise more, eat healthier) or for the benefit of the society (e.g., save electricity, share rides) (Vassileva 2012). Persuasion frameworks have provided different explanations about how cognitive involvement leads to persuasion, in other words, the changes in the ways people feel, think, then act (Oinas-Kukkonen et al. 2008). Based on earlier theories of human behaviour and attitude change, persuasion frameworks have largely focused on either the relationship between attitudes and behaviours or on the persuasion process itself. Oinas-Kukkonen and Harjumaa (2008) summarised the key approaches of persuasion in IS (Table 2.4).

Theory	Key Idea	Reference
Influence techniques approach	Individuals respond automatically to one piece of information instead of reacting in a controlled way and on the basis of thorough analysis of all the information	(Cialdini et al. 2009)
Coactive approach to persuasion	Differences can be bridged by reducing psychological distances in order to secure preferred outcomes	(Simons et al.)
Persuasive technology framework	Identify how people are persuaded when interacting with computer technology	(Fogg 2002)
ELM	A person's motivation and ability determine whether (s)he will be persuaded through the central route (relying on arguments) or through the peripheral route (relying on cues); ELM integrates many persuasion theories	(Petty et al. 1986)
Cognitive consistency theory	If attitudes and behaviour are not consistent, people change their attitudes or behaviour to achieve cognitive consistency	(Tajfel et al. 1978)
Information processing theory	The persuasive impact of messages is the multiplicative product of six information processing steps	(Miller 1973)

T 11 0 4 17	1 .	1	
Table 7.4 Kev	annroaches to	human_com	niter nersuasion
1 able 2.7 Reg	approaches to	numan comp	futer persuasion

Source: (Oinas-Kukkonen et al. 2008)

In the work environment, management can use different persuasive strategies (e.g., promotional messages, social cues, managers' involvement, peer support, material inducements like incentives or rewards, and setting an example for others) to draw employees' attention to an IS and persuade them to use it (Li 2013; Sánchez et al. 2010). Therefore, persuasion frameworks are more applicable to voluntary technologies such as ESNs (Kane et al. 2014). Among the interventions which community managers can use to enhance user participation in ESNs are promotional messages. Promotional messages are the most widely-used intervention in ESNs (All 2014; Qualman 2012; Yuan et al. 2013). For the purposes of the present study, we define promotional messages as persuasive communication sent by management through emails or online posts to encourage users' participation and to provide information about the ESN (e.g., its benefits, qualities and recently discussed topics).

To understand how motivations to participate could potentially be influenced through interventions such as promotional messages, we reviewed many theories on the factors that influence human behaviours. Persuasion researchers suggest that it is imperative to understand employees' cognitive processes toward the IS in order to enhance the efficiency and effectiveness of the organisational stimuli (Oinas-Kukkonen et al. 2009). Among the many persuasion models that have been previously employed to understand how to persuade employees to use an IS, the ELM (Petty et al. 1986) stands out for its ability to relate a management intervention (i.e., promotional message) to human beliefs.

2.4.2.2.1 Elaboration likelihood model

We employed the ELM (Petty et al. 1986) in order to propose central and peripheral routes of influence that facilitate an understanding of how management interventions such as promotional messages will influence users' motivations for either lurking or posting behaviours in an ESN. Our rationale for selecting this model lay in the following considerations:

- Using the ELM provides the ability to relate a management intervention (i.e., promotional message) to human beliefs;
- (ii) The ELM suggests that beliefs change first before behaviour (in other words, the user first receives and understands the message before he or she acts);
- (iii) Using the ELM provides the ability to explore and explain the "black box" of influence processes within the ESN context, namely, understanding the two outcomes (the central and peripheral routes) of promotional messages on human beliefs and subsequent participation across different users (i.e., lurkers and posters); and
- (iv) Ample empirical support is available (e.g., Angst et al. 2009; Bhattacherjee et al. 2006; Chuang et al. 2014; Luo et al. 2013; Sussman et al. 2003).

The ELM posits that human attitudes can be changed by two "routes" of influence, namely, the peripheral route and central route (Petty et al. 1986). The difference between the two routes is the amount of cognitive effort involved or the "elaboration" required by the individual (e.g., simple cues or task-relevant arguments) (Bhattacherjee et al. 2006; Petty et al. 1986). In the central route, the person needs "to think critically about issue-related arguments in an informational message and scrutinize the relative merits and relevance of those arguments prior to forming an informed judgment about the target behavior" (Bhattacherjee et al. 2006, p. 808). In the peripheral route, which involves less cognitive effort, "subjects rely on cues regarding the target behavior" (Bhattacherjee et al. 2006, p. 808). Examples of the relevant information to be communicated in the central route include the system's

features or qualities, the potential benefits of using the system, the availability of system support and the costs of and returns from using the system. In the peripheral route, individuals rely on cues in messages regarding the target behaviour (such as whether or not a promotional message was sent by a manager or an expert, or the number or status of the people copied into the message), rather than the quality of the information presented in the message (Bhattacherjee et al. 2006). The central and peripheral routes are often operationalised using "argument quality" and "source credibility", respectively (Bhattacherjee et al. 2006).

The ELM has been examined in a range of different disciplines including social psychology (e.g., Petty et al. (1986)), organisational behaviour (e.g., Elangovan et al. (1999)), health (e.g., Cameron (2009)) and marketing (e.g., Recker et al. (2007) and Petty et al. (1999)), and has become increasingly popular in IS research. While the majority of ELM studies use "attitude" as the dependent variable, some scholars have examined the impact of the peripheral and central routes on "beliefs". IS researchers have applied the ELM on the beliefs held by users. For example: (i) Bhattacherjee and Sanford (2006) studied IT acceptance and explained how perceived knowledge usefulness was formed by processes of outer influence (i.e., training); (ii) Sussman and Siegal (2003) demonstrated how the argument quality and source credibility of the messages received by users can influence the perceived usefulness of the information in those messages; (iii) Jin et al. (2009) surveyed 240 users of a bulletin board system in a university in China and found that user satisfaction was determined by information quality and source credibility; and (iv) a few studies have applied the ELM to examine other beliefs, such as the work by Pee (2012) on trust and Wu et al. (2011) on curiosity.

We argue that examining the two ELM persuasion-based routes (i.e., operationalised using argument quality for the central route and source credibility for the peripheral route) of promotional messages could help to explore and explain how such interventions influence users' beliefs about the ESN and the subsequent participation behaviour across different users (i.e., lurkers and posters). In doing so, we expand the dependent variable in ELM research to include motivations for lurking or posting behaviours in an ESN. Furthermore, we are not aware of any empirical study which employs the ELM in a comparative group analysis (i.e., lurking and posting groups) of the online participation problem.

2.4.2.3 Compliance-based interventions

Since different individuals are influenced by different things, it can be expected that persuasive techniques alone will not align ESN users' beliefs and behaviours with the firm's expectations. Even for voluntary systems, certain interventions (e.g., management pressure) could lead to the creation of favourable perceptions among users (Venkatesh et al. 2008a). In the IS literature, extensive research has been published on mandating behaviour change. Examples include research on: exercising formal authoritative tactics to overcome IS implementation barriers (Ngwenyama et al. 2013), implementing a portfolio of formal controls by managers (controllers) to ensure that employees (controlees) will achieve organisational goals in enterprise system projects (Soh et al. 2011) and integrating a model of IS security effectiveness (i.e., security practices like deterrent efforts or preventive measures, and organisational factors like top management support) to prevent abuses in the organisation's IS security (Kankanhalli et al. 2003), among many others.

Two interventions have been shown to be effective to mandate behaviour change in IS research: management pressure and policy documentation (Herath et al. 2009). Management pressure has been conceptualised and operationalised as organisational compliance-based interventions (Venkatesh et al. 2008a). Similarly, policy documentation has been operationalised as a formal governing intervention not only to restrict detrimental use (Bartridge 2005) but to guide users to best use the technology in an effective manner (Barney 1991; Doherty et al. 2011). Both interventions are discussed next in turn.

2.4.2.3.1 Management pressure

In general, users will comply when they perceive "pressure to behave in a certain way, to either gain rewards or avoid punishment" (Wang et al. 2013, p. 300). Social influence or pressure on user behaviours was emphasised more than five decades ago by Burns et al. (1961), p. 3 5 as follows: "In working organizations, decisions are made either in the presence of others or with the knowledge that they will have to be implemented, or understood, or approved by others". Most dominant technology theories include social influence as an important antecedent of system use (Agarwal 2000). IS researchers have repeatedly underlined the importance of social influence in technology adoption and use (Davis et al. 1989; Eckhardt et al. 2009; Venkatesh et al. 2008a; Venkatesh et al. 2000; Venkatesh et al. 2003).

Furthermore, previous studies have highlighted management pressure as an important facet of social influence and as an intervention that can influence employees' behaviour in a significant manner (Boss et al. 2009). Venkatesh et al. (2008a) emphasised that management pressure interventions in the post-implementation phase are particularly relevant to creating favourable perceptions among users of both mandatory and voluntary systems. Eckhardt et al. (2009) found that the role of social pressure from different workplace referent groups (i.e., pressure from supervisors and colleagues) had a significant impact on IT adoption and non-adoption intention. In facilitating the assimilation of collaborative system technologies, Bajwa et al. (2008) found the influence of decision-makers to be critical in the assimilation process.

In research on online participation, Beenen et al. (2004) (in Brzozowski et al. 2009) found that users were more likely to contribute when they were explicitly asked. Thus, social influence has been employed to facilitate participation in online forums (e.g., Brzozowski et al. (2009)). An empirical analysis of Hewlett-Packard's social forum logs showed that peer activities (e.g., posts) positively influenced other users in becoming active participants in the forum (Moon et al. 2008). Chang et al. (2013) found that social influence was an important determinant of players' continuous intention to play online games.

In sum, as previously illustrated, practitioners recommend the use of management pressure and involvement as a way to boost users' participation (Qualman 2012; Yuan et al. 2013). To understand how to influence employees to participate through management pressure intervention, we employed the social influence theory (Kelman 1958) from social psychology. We drew on Kelman's conceptualisation of compliance to understand the ability of management pressure to align employees' participation with the ESN managers' expectations.

2.4.2.3.2 Social influence theory

According to Kelman's (1958) theory, people's beliefs and (consequent) behaviours are influenced by three theoretical processes:

 i. compliance – compliance occurs when individuals "perceive pressure to behave in a certain way, to either gain rewards or avoid punishment" (Wang et al. 2013, p 300), such as management pressure and subjective norms;

- ii. internalisation internalisation occurs when an individual "consciously or unconsciously assimilates others' opinions and acts in accordance with those opinions" (Wang et al. 2013, p 300), such as a user transforming the community's vision and values into their own beliefs;
- iii. identification identification occurs when individuals "adopt behaviors that conform to those of a respected social group in order to establish or sustain a beneficial relationship with that group" (Wang et al. 2013, p 300), such as a sense of belonging and a sense of attachment.

However, a compliance-based process is the dominant conceptualisation of social influence in IS research (Wang et al. 2013). Based on Kelman's theory, Karahanna and Straub (1999) found that the social influence exerted by supervisors significantly impacted users' perceptions of the usefulness of a technology. In Venkatesh et al.'s (2003) UTAUT model, social influence derived from subjective norm is a key determinant of user intention. Furthermore, Pentina et al. (2008), Zhou (2011) and Shen et al. (2010) adopted Kelman's social influence theory to understand the factors affecting online community behaviours.

Building on Kelman's (1958) conceptualisation of the compliance, identification and internalisation processes of attitude change, and distinct and separate from identification and internalisation-based social influence, compliance-based processes are likely to be effective in getting people to comply with the firm's expectations. Based on Kelman's conceptualisation of compliance, this study posits that management pressure can align participation behaviour across different users (i.e., lurkers and posters) in the ESN. Consistent with other IS researchers (e.g., Venkatesh and Davis (2000)), certain types of social and managerial pressure could influence individuals' behaviours in order to ensure that users react in a desired fashion (Boss et al. 2009). For example, in the ESN context, a manager might mandate that each employee must post a certain number of entries each month or that they must broadcast their project deliverables. Understanding how management pressure influences both posters' and lurkers' behaviours in online communities is still a niche area in research, especially in a work setting. This is discussed in more detail in Chapter 3 (Section 3.4.2) in relation to the research model and propositions.

2.4.2.4 Social media policy

A policy is a means of standardising use (Alinaghian et al. 2010; Bia et al. 2007). Policies allow people to "understand their roles and responsibilities within predefined limits" (Bartridge 2005) and organisations use policies as guidelines to dictate the rules and regulations (Vroom et al. 2004). Policies that are specifically related to the use of IT are referred to as IT policy (i.e., a tool that articulates the rights, duties and responsibilities of technology stakeholders and identifies the scope of acceptable use of a technology) (Straub & Nance 1990). A policy is an important formal governing intervention not only to restrict detrimental use (Bartridge 2005) but to guide users to best use the technology in an effective manner (Barney 1991; Doherty et al. 2011). Therefore, IT policy plays an important role in IS success as it enables organisations to reduce risks and enhance competitive advantages (Checchi et al. 2002).

The academic literature on behavioural issues relating to policy usually covers the domains of information privacy and security (Xue et al. 2011), particularly policy–behaviour compliance in mandatory IT settings. Most of the compliance-based interventions investigated in IS research (e.g., (Doherty et al. 2011), (Guo 2012), (Hekkala et al. 2012), (Herath et al. 2009), (Hu et al. 2012), (Hung et al. 2012), (Ifinedo 2011) and (Siponen et al. 2010)) were used to mitigate informational and behavioural security challenges (e.g., unsafe internet connection, malware, spam, identity theft, leaking information, reputation damage) (He 2012). Several theoretical lenses have been employed to understand interventions (e.g., penalties, pressures and policies) such as protection motivation theory (Rogers et al. 1983), deterrence theory (Paternoster and Simpson 1996) and neutralisation theory (Herath et al. 2009).

As the IT policies for social media use, SMPs are often short, generic and easy to read (Hrdinová et al. 2010; Husin et al. 2011a). To make SMPs memorable and easy to understand, some firms use short videos (e.g., Department of Justice in Victoria, Australia) (Honigman 2014). A study on social media governance issues in Australian private and public sector organisations showed that an increasing number of organisations were employing SMPs to cover the use of social media by employees (Macnamara 2011). With a growing number of firms already using an SMP, it could act as an important intervention to provide guidance on best practices for participation in an ESN ('know-how' for collaboration, finding solutions, etc.)

and protection from any misuse (e.g., improper content, bullying or harassment). In a landmark study on online lurking, Preece et al. (2004) found that members were concerned about aggressive responses and poor treatment, and these concerns were the reasons for lurking. We believe that the use of an SMP could mitigate such fears.

In this research, we argue that an SMP could be viewed as a communication document that requires critical thinking to scrutinise the relative merits of the ESN and possibly encourages employees to engage (e.g., how to create or join a group, upload a document, update a profile). An SMP can also provide the sense of protection that mitigates employees' fears of any negative behaviour by others (e.g., concerns about aggressive or hostile responses) which could, as well, encourage employees to engage in the ESN. Thus, an SMP could have a dual effect of mitigating certain perceived costs and maximising members' perceived benefits, both of which could encourage participation. However, there is no empirical study, that we are aware of, examining the influence of an already operational governance tool (i.e., an SMP) on users' perceptions and lurking and posting behaviours in an ESN.

2.5 Literature Review Synthesis

2.5.1 Research emphasis

IS researchers have repeatedly emphasised the pivotal role of individuals' use of an IS (Burton-Jones et al. 2006) in determining its success or failure (Karahanna and Straub 1999). As we previously discussed, the phenomenon of ESN underutilisation is mainly caused by a large number of community members being silent (i.e., lurking). Although not all members need to contribute in order for an ESN to be successful, an ESN community with few or no messages (i.e., posts) will have impaired vitality and eventually fail. Thus, an understanding of members' characteristics that drive them to either lurk or post is essential to address this problem.

With ESN participation being voluntary by nature, several organisational interventions have been proposed to influence employees' beliefs about an ESN and (consequently) improve their participation. The behavioural change literature suggests that, in order to persuade users, beliefs should be changed before the behaviour can be changed, particularly in voluntary settings. The most widely-used organisational interventions are classified in three broad areas: persuasion-based

interventions (e.g., promotional messages), compliance-based interventions (e.g., management pressure techniques), and governance tools (e.g., SMPs). However, understanding how organisational interventions influence employees' beliefs about an ESN requires first of all the identification of those beliefs. This step is important for examining the effectiveness of organisational interventions in shaping a positive perception of the platform and ultimately encouraging users' participation.

In online communities, user motivations to participate differ across user groups (Zhang et al. 2013) and therefore exert varying degrees of influence on the participation behaviour. In addition, interventions to influence users to participate could have different outcomes in different user groups (i.e., posters and lurkers). Therefore, we argue that the understanding of which interventions have more effect and which interventions have less effect on the motivation–participation relationship of posters and lurkers can help organisations form a better strategy to promote user participation. Figure 2.1 illustrates an overview of the interventions–motivations– participation relationship.



2.5.2 Limitations in the literature

The extant literature is limited regarding the understanding of why, how and in what conditions employees lurk or post in ESNs. The key limitations are outlined as follows:

- Practitioners (e.g., Qualman (2012), Hinchcliffe and Kim (2012), Adamson (2014) and Pisoni (2013)) have proposed several interventions (e.g., give praise, like someone's post, give unsolicited advice, send promotional messages and write SMPs) to enhance user participation in ESNs. However, these proposals require an appropriate empirical and theoretical base;
- 2) Although motivating users to participate in online activities has been one of the most widely studied topics in online participation research (Ren et al.

2012), academic research on interventions to promote users' online participation (e.g., (Bock et al. 2006), (Koh et al. 2007) and (Won-Seok et al. 2002)) largely pre-dates the launch of ESNs. Previous research: (i) has often been conducted in traditional online communities (e.g., bulletin board systems, discussion lists and online forums), (ii) investigated oftentimes earlier social tools such as blogs, online forums and wikis (e.g., Brzozowski et al. (2009) and Moon et al. (2008)); or (iii) focused on public social networks (e.g., (Boyd et al. 2007b), (Riedl et al. 2013) and (Turel et al. 2012)).

- 3) The academic literature on employees' motivations to use ESNs focuses on posters and 'how' or 'why' they use or share their knowledge on ESNs (Beck et al. 2014a) without considering the motives and usage behaviours of the larger user group, namely, lurkers (Lai et al. 2014; Malinen 2015). Further, influencing users to participate could have different outcomes in different user groups. For example, interventions to improve user participation (e.g., promotional messages) might not yield the hoped-for results because strategies that encourage lurkers to be more active may not translate into posters' willingness to continue being active posters.
- 4) The proposed use-motivation models in literature have tended to focus on extrinsic motivations or values (e.g., perceived usefulness, information quality) with less attention paid to the intrinsic motivations (e.g., perceived fun).
- 5) Methodologically speaking, academic literature on employees' use of ESNs comprises either: (i) qualitative studies (Table 2.5), or (ii) propositions (research in progress) that need to be validated. There are limited empirical, quantitative and theory-driven studies on individual-level motivations to use (or not use) an ESN and the extent of that influence (with a few exceptions such as the work by Kügler et al. (2014) (2015a)). The literature contributes no knowledge on what motivates a specific usage (e.g., lurking) of an ESN, how this usage is different from other use case motivations (e.g., posting) and whether the same antecedents could play a positive (or negative) role in forming one or multiple use behaviours. There is little theoretically-grounded research on "what makes some online communities more successful than others" (Ren et al. 2012) particularly in the work environment.

Author(s)	Description
Kügler et al.	Proposed conceptual models of the
(2013b), (2012),	determinants of ESN usage (by means of
and Punj et al.	qualitative data)
(1983)	
Meske and	Interviewed decision-makers in small and
Stieglitz (2013)	medium-sized enterprises to identify issues
	and concerns regarding their adoption of
	ESNs
Stocker et al.	Reviewed three case studies and identified
(2012)	the state of the art on microblogging
	services regarding their use and benefits
Richter et al.	Provided recommendations and
(2013b), (2013c)	implementation strategies (e.g. improving
	employee-to-employee communication) on
	ESNs in Germany, Austria and Switzerland
Riemer et al.	Identified different types of communicative
(2013), (2012)	work practices in their genre analysis of
	Yammer messages at Deloitte Australia

Table 2.5 Examples of the qualitative studies on ESNs

6) Several managerial interventions have already been implemented to boost ESN participation in organisations but we still have no way of knowing if these interventions are effective. For example, Preece et al. (2004) found that members lurked because they were concerned about the risk of aggressive responses and poor treatment. However, there is limited research investigating SMPs that are supposed to provide employees with a sense of protection. We are not aware of research that investigates SMPs in corporate use of social networks and the impact of these policies on users' beliefs of an ESN.

2.5.3 Research objectives

Thus, the extant literature on behavioural issues in corporate social networks is limited in addressing the problem of ESN underutilisation and maintaining sustainable levels of active participation. ESN community managers need assistance to identify the direction and level of influence of already-implemented interventions (e.g., promotional messages) with the aim to boost employees' participation. Against this backdrop, our research aims are:

- (i) to identify the key reasons that drive ESN members to either lurk or post after they have already been introduced to the platform; and
- to examine whether the already-implemented interventions (i.e., promotional messages, management pressure techniques and SMP) improve users' beliefs or, worse, turn off posters' willingness to participate, as well as the extent of that influence.

This study responds to recent calls by scholars in this area (e.g., Ren et al. (2012), Aral et al. (2013), Kane et al. (2014) and Kügler et al. (2015b)) for further research to understand "how and why people use (or do not use) social networks and how this use results in performance variation between users" (Kane et al. 2014, p. 281) and to identify the barriers and enablers in the adoption of knowledge management by social software in firms. We present the first study of posting and lurking behaviours in ESNs, noting that such an examination has been largely ignored in the research to date which has tended instead to analyse posting and lurking behaviours independently (Park et al. 2014).

We used social exchange theory (Blau 1964) as our base to develop an extended model of employees' motivations to participate, categorised in two dimensions (i.e., costs and benefits). To account for the benefit-relevant and cost-relevant factors in participation, we used Kankanhalli et al.'s (2005) model of knowledge contribution to identify the salient motivations that drive ESN members to either lurk or post after they have already been introduced to the platform. We then turned to two behavioural change theories from social psychology, namely, the ELM (Petty et al. 1986) and social influence theory (Kelman 1958), to examine persuasion-based interventions (i.e., promotional messages) and compliance-based interventions (i.e., management pressure techniques), respectively. Finally, we examined the influence of governance tools (i.e., SMPs). The next chapter provides a detailed description of the development of our research model.

Chapter 3: Research Model and Propositions

The extant literature on ESNs was reviewed in the previous chapter in order to evaluate the current understanding of (i) participation behaviours across two user groups (i.e., lurkers and posters), (ii) users' motivations to either lurk or post, and (iii) management interventions to encourage user participation. In addition, several theoretical lenses on virtual communities and behavioural change frameworks were explained in the literature review.

This chapter presents the research model and four research propositions. It is structured as follows:

- I. The first section presents the proposed research model. To guide the discussion in this chapter, an overview of the analysis used to develop the research model and formulate the propositions for investigation in this study is provided.
- II. The second section explains the dependent variable that represents lurking and posting behaviours in ESNs, including an explanation and justification of the appropriate lurking threshold.
- III. Guided by social exchange theory (Blau 1964) and Kankanhalli et al.'s (2005) model of knowledge contribution, the third section identifies, justifies and discusses the relationships of four relevant parameters (as independent variables) categorised into two cost factors (that drive employees to lurk) and two beneficial factors (that drive employees to post) (Proposition 1).
- IV. The fourth section discusses the commonly-used management interventions that aim to motivate users' participation. Building on several behavioural change frameworks, we discuss the relationships of three organisational interventions (i.e., promotional messages, management pressure, and SMPs) and examine whether (and to what extent) these interventions impact individuals' beliefs and subsequent participation across different user groups (i.e., lurkers and posters) (Propositions 2, 3 and 4).
- V. The chapter summary is presented in the last section.

3.1 Model Development

The development of the proposed research model was informed by: (i) social exchange theory (Blau 1964) and Kankanhalli et al.'s (2005) model of knowledge contribution; (ii) the ELM (Petty et al. 1986); (iii) social influence theory (Kelman 1958); and (iv) the policy-behaviour compliance literature. Social exchange theory (Blau 1964) and Kankanhalli et al.'s (2005) model of knowledge contribution led to the identification of the four factors that we believe to be the key factors in motivating ESN posting and lurking behaviours, namely, extrinsic benefit operationalised using "image", extrinsic cost operationalised using "loss of knowledge power", intrinsic benefit operationalised using "intrinsic interest", and intrinsic cost operationalised using a new conceptualised construct named "perceived fulfilment". The ELM (Petty et al. 1986) was used to examine the influence of persuasion-based interventions (i.e. promotional messages) on users' beliefs (i.e. the four motivations). Social influence theory (Kelman 1958) was used to examine the influence of compliance-based interventions (i.e. management pressure techniques) on users' participation. The policy-behaviour compliance literature was used to examine the influence of a governance tool (i.e. SMP) on users' beliefs (i.e. the four motivations). Our rationale for selecting these theoretical frameworks is explained in Chapter 2 (Section 2.4.1.1 for the social exchange theory and Kankanhalli et al.'s model of knowledge contribution; Section 2.4.2.2.1 for the ELM; and Section 2.4.2.3.2 for the social influence theory).

Individually, the above-mentioned theoretical frameworks would not address our research questions. Kankanhalli et al.'s (2005) model was employed to explain – at the individual level – the extrinsic and intrinsic benefits and costs factors that motivated users to either post or lurk (i.e., the study's first research question); however, Kankanhalli et al.'s model cannot explain the influence of persuasion/compliance-based management interventions on users' participation experiences in ESNs (i.e., the study's second research question).

Furthermore, as previously illustrated, the study's second area of inquiry is the extent of the influence of three interventions not only on users' posting/lurking behaviours, but also on their salient beliefs regarding participation in the ESN. Although the ELM could explain the influence of promotional messages on users' beliefs, it cannot explain the influence of management pressure techniques on users' posting/lurking behaviours. Together, however, we would be able to examine the direct influence of management pressure techniques on users' behaviours (through social influence theory) and the indirect influence of promotional messages (through the ELM) and of the SMP on users' beliefs about participating in the ESN.

Social science theorists (e.g., Dubin (1978)) stress that, for theories to be combined, they must be contiguous and "integrated based on logically consistent principles" (Tate et al. 2015, p. 710). All the theoretical frameworks explained earlier are from the discipline of social psychology. The operationalisation of all the theoretical frameworks is consistent with their original assumptions. Congruent with the originating theories, the unit of analysis is at the individual level. Except for the dependent variable of the ELM (refer to Section 2.4.2.2.1 for details), the operationalisations and the associations of the dependent and independent variables in our proposed model are in line with the original theories.

Figure 3.1 illustrates the proposed research conceptual model. The central thesis of the model is that, firstly, participation behaviour (the dependent variable) in an ESN is dependent on four motivations to participate, namely, image and intrinsic interest as benefits, and loss of knowledge power and fulfilment as costs (the independent variables). Secondly, the model proposes that the four motivations are influenced by the argument quality and the source credibility of the promotional messages sent by management to influence ESN participation. Thirdly, the model proposes that the four motivations are also influenced by SMP effectiveness. Lastly, the model proposes a direct influence of verbal management pressure and non-verbal management pressure (rules) on users' participation behaviour. The following sections discuss – in detail - each part of the proposed model in turn.



3.2 The Dependent Variable – Participation Behaviours

The existence of any online community primarily depends on members' participation (i.e., creating content). Not surprisingly, it is at the core of many theories that set out to explain what motivates people to participate (or not participate) in online communities (de Carvalho et al. 2015).

The literature on online participation typically summarises user participation into two behaviour types: lurking and posting with lurkers constitute the largest user group (Lai et al. 2014). Similarly, most microblogging activities in ESNs take the form of either viewing other posts (i.e., lurking) or posting (de Carvalho et al. 2015; Malinen 2015; Schneider et al. 2013). In line with our sample mean (i.e., the number of posts and comments) and the nature, activities and dynamics of the communities in which we collected our data (refer to chapter 2, Sections 2.3.1 for further detail on the rationale for selecting the threshold that differentiates lurking from posting behaviours), this study defines lurkers as *members who did not create any content (post or comment) in the last month.* Based on Ridings et al.'s (2006) definition of posters as "community members who actively contribute content", we define posters *as members who posted or commented at least once in the last month.*

Online participation is operationalised in terms of its quantity using measures such as the time spent, number of visits, number of posts and comments or amount of shared content (Malinen 2015). In this study, we employed different items to measure users' participation behaviours in terms of content creation (i.e., posts and comments) using two scales, namely, a 7-point Likert scale and a continuous scale. The measurement items of our dependent variable are explained in greater detail in Section 4.2.1.1. It is important to note that the dependant variable (participation) was then operationalized into binary variable of posting/lurking to identify which independent variable(s) leads to what behaviour. Refer to Section 5.5.2 for further detail.

3.3 The Independent Variables – Determinants of Participation

Having discussed users' participation and identified lurking and posting behaviours in ESNs, we now discuss the main determinants of these behaviours, building on the contributions of social psychology research.

The rapid growth of social networking has not gone unnoticed by academic researchers, yet few studies have been conducted to understand employee behaviours in internal social networks (Wu et al. 2013). The extant literature on behavioural issues in corporate social networks is limited in addressing the online participation

problems causing ESN underutilisation, particularly the challenges in maintaining a sustainable level of active participation. Recognising the limitations in the literature (Chapter 2, Section 2.5.2) and realising the problem of ESN underutilisation, we took a holistic view by considering not only the beneficial factors but also the cost factors that could motivate the behaviours of poster and lurker user groups. Therefore, our study's first objective was to identify the key reasons that drive ESN members to either lurk or post after they have already been introduced to the platform.

3.3.1 Cost and benefit factors

As explained in the literature review in Chapter 2 (Section 2.4.1.1), the main assumption of social exchange theory (Blau 1964) is that individuals interact with others based on their self-interested analysis of the expected benefits and costs of that social exchange (Kankanhalli et al. 2005) .To account for benefit-relevant and cost-relevant factors during social exchange, we turned to the literature on extrinsic and intrinsic motivations.

Of the many models explaining the extrinsic and intrinsic motivations that stimulate and hinder contributions in a corporate setting, Kankanhalli et al.'s (2005) model of knowledge contribution is one of the most commonly cited models of knowledge contribution (He et al. 2009; Liang et al. 2008; Wang et al. 2010). Kankanhalli et al. (2005) used social exchange theory as a theoretical base on which to explain the use of electronic knowledge repositories by knowledge contributors. They operationalised and validated a model of employees' motivations to contribute, categorised into three dimensions: the cost dimension (codification effort, loss of knowledge power), extrinsic benefits dimension (organizational reward, reciprocity, image) and intrinsic benefits dimension (self-efficacy, enjoyment in helping others).

Drawing on social exchange theory (Blau 1964) and Kankanhalli et al.'s (2005) model of knowledge contribution, our study examined a number of motivations for user participation, categorised in four dimensions: extrinsic benefits, extrinsic costs, intrinsic benefits, and intrinsic costs. The aim was to capture the salient motivations of poster and lurker user groups by examining the extrinsic and intrinsic benefits that make users post as well as the extrinsic and intrinsic costs that make users lurk. We adopted Kankanhalli et al.'s (2005) conceptualisation of "image" as the extrinsic benefit of posting and "loss of knowledge power" as the extrinsic cost of lurking. Although the intrinsic benefit of "enjoyment in helping others" is an important factor in predicting knowledge sharing in Kankanhalli et al.'s model, we decided it was better to extend this concept to capture broader aspects of users' own pleasure and

enjoyment. Therefore, we employed "intrinsic interest" as conceptualised by (Webster et al. 1993) as the intrinsic benefit of posting. Intrinsic interest represents an intrinsic type of motivation (Webster and Martocchio 1992; Webster et al. 1993), and research in IS has confirmed the significant effect of intrinsic interest in shaping people's use of an IS (e.g. Ali-Hassan et al. (2011) and Scheepers et al. (2014)). Table 3.1 summarises the extrinsic and intrinsic construct definitions.

Construct	Definition	Reference
Image (as an extrinsic-benefit)	The extent to which an individual believes that posting on the ESN enhances his/her social self-concept in the ESN	(Wasko et al. 2005)
Loss of knowledge power (as an extrinsic-cost)	The perception of power and unique value lost due to knowledge posting in ESN	(Kankanhalli et al. 2005)
Intrinsic interest (as an intrinsic-benefit)	The extent to which members are involved in the activity for its own pleasure and enjoyment rather than for some utilitarian purpose	(Webster et al. 1993)
Perceived Fulfillment (as an intrinsic cost)	The extent to which members feel their needs of using the ESN are fulfilled through reading only	Self- developed

Table 3.1 Definitions of extrinsic and intrinsic constructs

The knowledge sharing literature suggests that the factors we have selected are significant drivers of participating (and non-participating) behaviour. Further, in the interests of (i) parsimony, (ii) highlighting the influences of all four dimensions (i.e., extrinsic and intrinsic benefits and costs), and (iii) relevance to ESN implementation, and because identifying the motivations was not the sole objective of the study (we also examined the influence of three management interventions), we did not include all the factors in Kankanhalli et al.'s model. Codification effort was excluded due to its lack of relevance to the ESNs as the users in our study had pre-existing familiarity with public social networks and had used the ESN for at least one month (as discussed in more detail in Chapter 4, Section 4.2.2.1, in relation to the sample selection). In addition, the codification effort proposed in Kankanhalli et al.'s model has been found to have a negative but non-significant effect on knowledge sharing (Beck et al. 2014b); therefore, it was expected that the codification effort would be minimal in our context. Similarly, the organizational reward factor in Kankanhalli et al.'s model was not applicable because, in this study, we examined promotional messages as an organizational intervention to improve participation. There were no economic incentives in the network investigated in our study.

3.3.1.1 The extrinsic benefit of "image"

Individuals engage in social interaction if they expect that they will get social rewards such as respect or status (Blauner 1964; Wasko et al. 2005). As an extrinsic benefit, image enhancement has an important influence on individuals' behaviours (McLure Wasko et al. 2000). Several studies on technology adoption have highlighted the importance of the motivation to maintain a favourable social status or image in driving system use (Moore et al. 1991; Plouffe et al. 2001; Turel et al. 2007; Venkatesh et al. 2000), particularly the use of knowledge management systems (Beck et al. 2014a; Sun et al. 2012).

Research on corporate online communities found that members actively participated when they believed participation enhanced their personal image (Beck et al. 2014b; Hung et al. 2011; Hung et al. 2015; Kankanhalli et al. 2005; Lai et al. 2014; Lin et al. 2012; McLure Wasko et al. 2000; Oh 2012; Wasko et al. 2005). In a recent review of empirical studies on the effect of rewards and incentives on user participation in online communities, Malinen (2015), p 234 reports that "immaterial incentives such as prestige and reputation have been identified as the most effective rewards". These results are largely consistent with the finding by Wasko and Fara (2005) that posters mainly contributed knowledge for enhanced reputation.

On these grounds, we conclude that image plays a significant role in positively influencing posting behaviour in an ESN. This conclusion is further strengthened by two recent studies on employees' use of an enterprise social software in which Kügler et al. (2015a) found that image enhancement played a major role in employees' social connectedness in an enterprise social software context. Similarly, Beck et al. (2014b), p. 26 found that reputation positively affects knowledge creation and knowledge integration in an enterprise wiki and "that when employees perceive that they stand to gain in stature within the organization, they are more likely to contribute to the wiki".

Although research in the realm of social software usage has validated the importance of enhanced image in explaining user participation behaviour, we are not aware of any study that empirically examines the influence of image on employees' participation in ESNs across the poster and lurker user groups. We argue that image has a greater influence on the posters than on the lurker user group.

3.3.1.2 The extrinsic cost of "loss of knowledge power"

As previously indicated (Chapter 2, Section 2.4.1.1), social exchange theory assumes that people maximise the benefits and minimise the costs when they interact with others (Kankanhalli et al. 2005; Liang et al. 2008). Accordingly, in online communities, participation occurs when the perceived benefits outweigh the perceived costs of participation (Beck et al. 2014b). Molm (1997) suggests two forms of social exchange costs: opportunity costs (e.g., the time and effort required to participate) and actual loss of resources (e.g., the loss of knowledge power) (Kankanhalli et al. 2005; Markus 2001). Compared to other corporate social systems such as wikis (Beck et al. 2014b) and to knowledge management systems (e.g., (Kankanhalli et al. 2005)), it can be assumed that participation in microblogging communities such as ESNs requires fewer opportunity costs such as codification effort and time. In particular, the ESN members in this study had pre-existing familiarity with the platform as they had used the ESN for at least one month (as discussed in Chapter 4, Section 4.2.2.1, in relation to the sample selection).

The actual loss of resources, on the other hand, is an important form of cost associated with social exchange (Kankanhalli et al. 2005; Markus 2001). Above all, Gray (2001) highlights that loss of knowledge power is important in understanding why employees don't participate in knowledge management systems. Huang et al. (2008) surveyed 159 employees of different organisations in eastern China and found that the perceived risk of the loss of knowledge power had a significant negative impact on knowledge sharing attitudes. Kankanhalli et al. (2005) identified the loss of knowledge power as an extrinsic cost incurred in the process of sharing knowledge, which entails a negative relationship with knowledge contribution.

Some users are afraid that contributing may lead to the loss of their unique value (i.e., their knowledge) (Ding et al. 2014) and thus, they "would rather retain the knowledge than share it" (Huang et al. 2008, p. 456). In competitive work environments, we believe that this cost may be of particular significance for employees who otherwise compete with colleagues in multiple dimensions of which knowledge (especially tacit knowledge) is an important one. However, research on what motivates users to participate in an organisational context tends to take a positive approach and focuses on beneficial factors with less attention paid to the cost factors. On the basis of this discussion, we argue that the perceived loss of knowledge power has a greater influence on the lurker user group than the poster user group.

3.3.1.3 The intrinsic benefit of "intrinsic interest"

Researchers (e.g., (Bock et al. 2001), (McLure Wasko et al. 2000)) have repeatedly stressed that "no artificial incentive can ever match the power of intrinsic motivation" (Kohn 1993, p. 7). Intrinsic benefits (e.g., fun) have a greater impact on encouraging system use (Beaudry et al. 2010), particularly when the technology use is voluntary in nature (Webster et al. 1992). Of the many cognitions examined in IT usage research, intrinsic benefits are one of the most salient to influence user attitudes particularly towards systems with pleasure-oriented qualities like social networks (Lin et al. 2010; Wu et al. 2013). In the same vein, Kang et al. (2013) and Turel et al. (2012) highlight the importance of intrinsic benefits as the most significant motivations for using social networks.

In relation to work environments, research on IS usage demonstrates that perceptions regarding the intrinsic benefits strongly influence the use of knowledge management systems (Beck et al. 2014a; Kankanhalli et al. 2005; Sun et al. 2012; Wasko et al. 2005). Employees use virtual communities not only for work-related activities but also for water cooler chatting, entertainment and social arrangements and as a conversation medium for relationship building (Xu et al. 2012). In the analysis of 71,000 posts in an enterprise blogging system, Singh et al. (2014) found that nearly 75% of the posts were on non-work topics.

In order to capture broader aspects of users' own pleasure and enjoyment, we employed the benefit of "intrinsic interest" as conceptualised by (Webster et al. 1993). Intrinsic interest represents an intrinsic form of motivation (Webster et al. 1993), and IS research in IS has long-established the significant effect of intrinsic interest in shaping individuals' use of an IS (Ali-Hassan et al. 2011; Scheepers et al. 2014). For example, in a qualitative study of employees' use of an enterprise social software, Kügler et al. (2014) found hedonic use (i.e., the extent to which employees used the software for the purpose of entertainment) to be an important facet of the software usage. In a study on professional virtual communities, Hung et al. (2015b) found that intrinsic benefits (i.e., enjoyment in helping others) positively influenced posters' intentions to share their knowledge. Further, in a recent study on the intention to share and seek information on online investment communities in South Korea, Park et al. (2014) found that entertainment value had a significant influence on users' intentions to share and seek information. Therefore, we argue that intrinsic interest has a greater influence on the poster user group than on the lurker user group.

3.3.1.4 The intrinsic cost of "fulfilment"

As previously indicated, while previous research has investigated the relative importance of several extrinsic and intrinsic beneficial factors in knowledge sharing, understanding the cost factors that drive individuals to lurk is the least investigated research area particularly in relation to enterprise virtual communities (Beck et al. 2014a). In this study, the last motivation that completes the fourth block in the quadrant of salient motivations to participate (or not participate) in ESNs is the intrinsic cost of fulfilment.

As explored in Chapter 2 (Section 2.3.3), the scholarly work by Preece and Nonnecke (2000) (2001) (2004) on understanding the reasons for lurking is well acknowledged in the literature (e.g., (Bishop 2007; Bishop 2011), (Muller 2012; Muller et al. 2010) ,(Rau et al. 2008), (Ridings et al. 2006) and (Sun et al. 2014)). From a survey of 219 lurkers regarding their reasons for not posting, Preece et al. (2004) identified five main reasons for not posting: (1) the lurkers think that just reading/browsing is enough, (2) the lurkers are still learning about the group, (3) the lurkers think they are being helpful by being altruistic observers, (4) there is no requirement to post, or (5) the lurkers are simply not able to use the software functionalities. The "just reading/browsing is enough" reason was found to be the dominant reason for lurking in online discussion communities. More than half (53.9%) of the lurkers selected that reason for their lurking behaviour (Preece et al. 2004). The lurkers' typical comments in the follow-up open-ended question about their reasons for not posting were: "I do not really feel a need to" and other comments indicating that they "got what they wanted, and there was no need for them to post" (Preece et al. 2004, p. 220).

The "just reading/browsing is enough" reason is echoed in the literature on online lurking as the main reason for low levels of user participation (Sun et al. 2014); however, we are not aware of any research that provides a conceptualisation of this reason. The present study conceptualised a new construct to account for the "just reading/browsing is enough" reason. The rationale for developing this new construct is as follow:

 The dearth of empirical research on motivations to lurk in the corporate use of social software. The literature calls for further theory-based quantitative studies to examine why employees do not use social technologies (El Ouirdi et al. 2015Ren et al. 2012).
- Despite the significance of the "just reading/browsing is enough" reason in explaining why users lurk, there is, to the best of the author's knowledge, no research that provides a conceptualisation of this reason.
- In order to capture the relative richness of this reason, it is necessary to explain and examine: (i) the extent of its influence on lurking behaviour, and (ii) how posters' and lurkers' perceptions of this reason are different. Such understanding has both academic and practical value. For example, one implication for ESN community managers could be to try to alter the content of these messages to position the ESN as a favourable environment for lurkers.
- Finally, the new construct was developed in order to address the first objective of the study, that is, to identify the key reasons that drive ESN members to either lurk or post.

We drew on the lurking literature (especially Preece and Nonnecke (2000) (2001) (2004)) and conceptualised a new construct named "perceived fulfilment" as a cost factor that could hinder user participation. Perceived fulfilment is defined as "*the extent to which members feel their needs for using the ESN are fulfilled through reading only*". Although our new construct might not resemble inherently intrinsic factors (e.g., intrinsic interest), we believe it represents the intrinsic aspect of lurkers' realisation that the reading activity itself is sufficient and meaningful and that it fulfils their needs for using the ESN. Therefore, we included perceived fulfilment as an intrinsic cost in our model (further details on this new construct including the measures and validation procedure are presented in Chapter 4, Section 4.2.1.4, in relation to the research methodology). We argue that perceived fulfilment is an important driver of lurking behaviour in ESNs.

To conclude this part of the discussion, our theory suggests that the salient motivations of users' participation can be categorised in four dimensions: (a) extrinsic benefit (operationalised using "image"), (b) extrinsic cost (operationalised using "loss of knowledge power"), (c) intrinsic benefit (operationalised using "intrinsic interest"), and (d) intrinsic cost (operationalised using "perceived fulfilment"). Based on the previous arguments linking these four factors to users' participation, we formulated the following proposition:

Proposition 1 – Perceived extrinsic and intrinsic benefits and costs will impact ESN participation behaviour, such that the perceived extrinsic cost of loss of knowledge power and the perceived intrinsic cost of fulfilment will encourage lurking behaviour, and the perceived extrinsic benefit of image and the perceived intrinsic benefit of intrinsic interest will encourage posting behaviour.

3.4 Organisational Interventions

Given the voluntary nature of ESNs, participation in these communities needs to be properly stimulated in order for the communities to survive (Lai et al. 2013). Practitioners (e.g., David et al. (2013), Qualman (2012), Perez (2014) and Pisoni (2013)) have suggested numerous interventions to reach the silent user groups in ESNs (e.g., give praise, like someone's post, give unsolicited advice, send promotional messages and write SMPs); yet, these suggestions need an appropriate empirical and theoretical base. In fact, organisations have already implemented some of these interventions (May 2013), but there is still no way of knowing if these interventions are effective and whether they improve lurkers' attitudes or, worse, turn off posters' willingness to participate.

In the academic literature, the stimulation of users to participate in online activities has been one of the most widely studied topics in online participation research (e.g., (Bock et al. 2006), (Kankanhalli et al. 2005),(Lee et al. 2013), (McLure Wasko et al. 2000; Wasko et al. 2005),(Ren et al. 2012; Ren et al. 2007) and (Won-Seok et al. 2002)). However, these studies largely pre-date the establishment of ESNs. In addition, empirical studies evaluating the influence of organisational interventions across different user groups (i.e., lurkers and posters) are scarce (Kane et al. 2014). As members lack "sufficient motive to contribute" (Beck et al. 2014a), encouraging passive-but-not-lost members (i.e., lurkers) involves the use of different techniques (Koh et al. 2007; Schneider et al. 2013). An understanding of which interventions have more effect and which interventions have less effect on the motivation–participation relationship can help organisations form a better strategy to promote user participation. To date, very little is known about 'what' and 'how' management interventions impact on users' perceptions and/or users' online participation.

To examine whether certain interventions improve users' beliefs and subsequent participation (the second objective in our research), we investigated three types of interventions. As illustrated and discussed in the literature review in Chapter 2 (Section 2.4.2), academic studies (e.g., Wang et al. (2013)) that investigate possible interventions to influence users' online participation have been broadly classified into three key areas: persuasion-based interventions, compliance-based interventions, and governance tools (i.e., SMPs). Compared to other commonly-used organisational interventions, promotional messages (as a persuasion-based intervention), management pressure (as a compliance-based intervention) and SMPs are among the key interventions that are suggested in the literature to impact on the use of enterprise social software (All 2014; Qualman 2012; Yuan et al. 2013). These three key interventions are explained in greater detail in the following sub-sections.

3.4.1 Promotional messages

Researchers suggest that persuasion frameworks are more applicable to voluntary technologies (Kane et al. 2014) and propose many persuasive strategies (e.g., promotional messages, social cues, peer support and setting an example for others) that managers can use to draw employees' attention towards a new IS (Li 2013; Sánchez et al. 2010). In particular, promotional messages are one of the most widely-used organisational interventions in ESNs (Qualman 2012; Yuan et al. 2013). In the present study, promotional messages are defined as *persuasive communication sent by management through emails or online posts to encourage users' participation and to provide information about the ESN.*

Scholars in the area of persuasion have developed different persuasion frameworks to explain how cognitive involvement leads to persuasion: in other words, to model how changes are made to the way people feel, think and then act (Oinas-Kukkonen et al. 2008). As illustrated in the literature review in Chapter 2 (Section 2.4.2.2), in order to understand how motivations to participate could potentially be influenced through promotional messages, we employed the ELM (Petty et al. 1986) because it offers "a theoretical explanation for observed differences in the amount of *influence* accepted by recipients exposed to new information" (Angst et al. 2009, p. 341). This influence is captured by identifying its two routes, namely, the peripheral route and the central route (Petty et al. 1986) (as discussed in detail in Chapter 2, Section 2.4.2.2.1). In IS research, the ELM has been employed to examine different management interventions (e.g., training, promotional emails) that aim to engage employees (e.g., (Bhattacherjee et al. 2006), Li (2013) and Sussman et al. (2003)).

3.4.1.1 Central and peripheral route influences on motivations

Through the theoretical lens of the ELM, our empirical study evaluated the influence of a promotional message on the four dimensions of users' beliefs across different users (i.e., lurkers and posters). We posit that promotional messages can influence these beliefs through: (i) the central route (operationalised using "argument quality") and (ii) the peripheral route (operationalised using "source credibility") of promotional messages. Based on Bhattacherjee et al. (2006) definition of argument quality and source credibility, we define argument quality as *the persuasive strength of the arguments embedded in the promotional messages*, and source credibility as *the extent to which the promotional message source is perceived to be believable, competent and trustworthy by ESN users*.

When sending persuasive messages (promotional messages), the source credibility plays an important role in persuading recipients, particularly individuals in the peripheral route who process information by their identification with the source (Bhattacherjee et al. 2006). In contrast, in the central route, individuals rely more on the argument quality of such messages (Sussman et al. 2003). In the IS field, the majority of ELM research has investigated the persuasive impact of information messages in training courses (e.g., Bhattacherjee et al. (2006) and Li (2013)) or in recommendation emails received from colleagues (e.g., Sussman et al. (2003)). In corporate online communities, promotional messages are usually sent by email and online posts (Yuan et al. 2013).

We argue that when management (e.g., ESN community managers) send promotional messages, the persuasive strength of the arguments embedded in these messages and the source characteristics (the competence, trustworthiness and authority of the source as perceived by the ESN users) will influence the four motivations to participate, that is, image and intrinsic interest as the benefits and loss of knowledge power and fulfilment as the costs. However, as discussed in the literature review in Chapter 2 (Section 2.4.2.2.1), the literature links the argument quality and the source credibility of the message received by users to a limited number of user beliefs (e.g., usefulness). Therefore, we examined all possible paths of influence and proposed:

Proposition 2 – The argument quality in promotional messages and the credibility of their source will impact users' perceived benefits (i.e., image, intrinsic interest) and costs (i.e., loss of knowledge power, fulfilment) of participation in the ESN, and such impact will differ across lurkers and posters.

3.4.2 Management pressure

Since different individuals are influenced by different things, it can be expected that persuasive techniques alone will not align the ESN users' beliefs and behaviours with the firm's expectations. IS researchers have highlighted management pressure as an intervention that can influence employees' behaviour in a significant manner (Bajwa et al. 2008; Boss et al. 2009; Eckhardt et al. 2009; Venkatesh et al. 2008a).

As illustrated in the literature review in Chapter 2 (Section 2.4.2.3.1), management pressure could lead to the creation of favourable perceptions among users even for voluntary systems (Venkatesh et al. 2008a; Venkatesh et al. 2000). Further, several managerial pressure techniques are already implemented in organisations to boost ESN participation (Pisoni 2013; Qualman 2012; Yuan et al. 2013). However, in the

context of a work setting, less effort has been put into understanding how management pressure influences both posters' and lurkers' behaviours in virtual communities (Malinen 2015; Richter et al. 2013c). Written or spoken management pressure interventions to enhance user participation might not yield the hoped-for results because strategies that encourage lurkers to be more active may not translate into posters' willingness to continue being active posters.

Using the social influence theory (Kelman 1958), we drew on Kelman's conceptualisation of compliance to understand the effectiveness of management pressure in aligning employees' participation with the ESN managers' expectations. Consistent with other IS researchers (e.g., Venkatesh and Davis (2000)), certain types of social and managerial pressure could influence individuals' behaviours and ensure users react in a desired fashion (Boss et al. 2009). For example, in the ESN context, a manager might mandate that each employee must post a certain number of entries each month or that they must broadcast their project deliverables.

In contrast to our approach to promotional messages as an intervention employed to influence users' beliefs, here we examined the direct influence of management pressure on lurkers' and posters' participation behaviour. The rationale for the direct examination of management pressure techniques on users' behaviour lay in the following considerations:

- (i) Previous applications of the theory (e.g., Eckhardt et al. (2009) and Wang et al. (2013)) link several social and management influences to systems' usage.
- (ii) The aim of management pressure techniques is often to change behaviours. Management pressure techniques (e.g., written rules) are not designed to convince or appeal to users (like promotional messages) to change their beliefs and subsequently favour certain behaviours. Instead, management pressure techniques target users' behaviour in order to align the behaviour with the organisation's expectations.

Drawing on the literature on management influence (e.g., (Chatterjee et al. 2002), (Liang et al. 2007) and (Wang et al. 2013)), we categorised two types of management pressure: (i) verbal management pressure based on Brown et al.'s (2010) conceptualisation of "superior influence", and (ii) non-verbal management pressure (rules) based on Boss et al.'s (2009) conceptualisation of mandatoriness. We define verbal management pressure as *the perceived pressure of management unwritten rules to participate in the ESN*, and we define non-verbal management pressure (rules) as *the perceived pressure of management rules to participate in the ESN*.

3.4.2.1 Verbal and non-verbal management pressure on participation

Rogers (2003) suggests that social influence operates through two channels: non-verbal interaction and verbal communication (Wang et al. 2013). Most IS researchers (e.g., (Brown et al. 2010), (Pavlou et al. 2006; Venkatesh et al. 2008a; Venkatesh et al. 2003)) examine the verbal communication aspect to validate the effect of social influence on ongoing IS use and often measure it by asking respondents "to indicate the extent to which they think that others believe that they should use a technology, which is predominantly formed through language-based interactions" (Wang et al. 2013, p. 301). The non-verbal channels are largely overlooked in the IS literature. Very little is known about the outcomes and the extent of influence of the non-verbal channels (Wang et al. 2013).

In this study, we took a holistic view of not only employees' perceptions of management suggestions and gestures to participate (e.g., when supervisors suggest or encourage participation in the ESN) but also their perceptions of tougher techniques and written rules that management could employ to push employees to regularly post in the ESN (e.g., a manager mandating that employees must upload presentations on the ESN before any seminar). Therefore, we argue that employees are influenced by two types of management pressure, namely, the verbal management pressure and the non-verbal management pressure (rules).

The management pressure intervention could provide a significant impact on employees' participation as compared to other organisational interventions. From the verbal management pressure aspect, employees look to these important people (i.e., managers) and correlate with their expectations which could directly influence their own participation behaviour. On the other hand, users will comply when they "perceive pressure to behave in a certain way, to either gain rewards or avoid punishment" (Wang et al. 2013, p. 300). Therefore, from the non-verbal management pressure (rules) aspect, if employees perceive that participation is compulsory or highly expected by organisational management, particularly through written rules, they are more likely to participate.

In line with these arguments, we proposed:

Proposition 3 – The verbal management pressure and the non-verbal management pressure (rules) will impact ESN participation behaviour, and such impact will differ across lurkers and posters.

3.4.3 Social media policy

Having discussed promotional messages and management pressure interventions, we now discuss the third and final organisational intervention examined in this study, namely, SMPs. Organisations use policies as guidelines to dictate the rules and regulations (Vroom et al. 2004). Straub et al. (1990) define IT policy as a tool that articulates the rights, duties and responsibilities of technology stakeholders and identifies the scope of the acceptable use of a technology. As previously explained (Chapter 2, Section 2.4.2.4), firms implementing an ESN usually have an SMP (Macnamara 2011) because it is the only governance tool available to organisations to manage employee use of social media (Vaast et al. 2013).

IS researchers emphasise the important role of IT policies not only in restricting detrimental use (Bartridge 2005) but also in guiding users to best use the technology in an effective manner (Barney 1991; Doherty et al. 2011; Vaast et al. 2013). In this sense, "policies communicate organizations' official perception of the affordances of social media" (Vaast et al. 2013, p. 81). However, the literature on behavioural issues relating to policy usually cover the domains of information privacy and security (Xue et al. 2011), particularly policy-behaviour compliance in mandatory IT settings. There is limited empirical research investigating both sides of the policy (i.e., the protection and the know-how guidelines) and their effectiveness in influencing users' perceptions and participation behaviours in virtual communities (Husin et al. 2011a; Vaast et al. 2013).

Following this logic, the present study focused on employees' perceptions of the SMP in a broader sense. We investigated the role of the SMP as a communication document in providing: (i) guidance on best practices for participation ('know-how' for collaboration, finding solutions, etc.), and (ii) protection from any misuse (e.g., improper content, bullying or harassment). We argue that the guidelines on best practices for participation and the information on the relative merits of the ESN incorporated in the SMP document will persuade and positively influence employees' beliefs about participation in the ESN. On the other hand, as SMPs also articulate "what employees can and cannot do with social media in the organizational context" (Vaast et al. 2013, p. 81), the SMP provides the sense of protection that could mitigate members' fears of any negative behaviour by others. Members of

online communities have expressed concerns about the risk of aggressive responses and poor treatment, and have identified these concerns as their reasons for lurking (Preece et al. (2004). Therefore, we argue that employees' beliefs about participating in an ESN will depend on, among other factors, the persuasive strength of the policy's content in providing protection from any misuse by others (e.g., improper content, bullying or harassment).

Drawing on the policy-behaviour compliance literature and based on Xu et al. (2011) conceptualisation of the perceived effectiveness of privacy policy, we define SMP effectiveness as the extent to which an employee believes that the SMP provides guidance on how best to engage in the ESN and provides protection from any misuse (e.g., improper content). To the best of our knowledge, technological policy effectiveness has not been tested on the four motivations identified in this study. Thus, we examined all possible paths and proposed:

Proposition 4 – The effectiveness of the SMP will impact users' perceived benefits (i.e., image, intrinsic interest) and costs (i.e., loss of knowledge power, fulfilment) of participation in the ESN, and such impact will differ across lurkers and posters.

3.5 Summary

This chapter described the development process of the research conceptual model and the four propositions. First, to guide the discussion in this chapter, the proposed research conceptual model is presented. Second, the chapter discussed the dependent variable of lurking and posting behaviours in ESNs. Third, the four independent variables, namely, image and intrinsic interest as benefits, and loss of knowledge power and fulfilment as costs that believed to motivate posting and lurking behaviours were then identified. Table 3.2 summarises the construct definitions.

Construct	Definition	Reference
Image (as an extrinsic-benefit)	The extent to which an individual believes that posting on the ESN enhances his/her social self-concept in the ESN	(Wasko et al. 2005)
Loss of knowledge power (as an extrinsic-cost)	The perception of power and unique value lost due to knowledge posting in ESN	(Kankanhalli et al. 2005)

Intrinsic interest (as an intrinsic- benefit)	The extent to which members are involved in the activity for its own pleasure and enjoyment rather than for some utilitarian purpose	(Webster et al. 1993)
Perceived Fulfillment (as an intrinsic cost)	The extent to which members feel their needs of using the ESN are fulfilled through reading only	Self-developed
Argument quality	The persuasive strength of the arguments embedded in the messages*	(Bhattacherjee et al. 2006)
Source credibility	The extent to which a message* source is perceived to be believable, competent and trustworthy by ESN users	(Bhattacherjee et al. 2006)
verbal management pressure	The perceived pressure of management unwritten rules to participate in the ESN	(Brown et al. 2010)
non-verbal management pressure	The perceived pressure of management rules to participate in the ESN.	(Boss et al. 2009)
SMP** effectivenessThe extent to which an employee believes that the SMP** provides guidance on how best to engage in the ESN and provides protection from any misuse (e.g. improper content).		(Xu et al. 2011)
*persuasive communication sent by management through emails or online posts to encourage users' participation and to provide information about the ESN (e.g. its benefits, qualities and recent topics discussed). ** Social Media Policy		

Next, the chapter discussed the relationships (Propostion-1) of these four variables on lurking/posting behaviour in an ESN. In the last section, the chapter identified, justified and discussed the relationships of three management interventions (i.e., promotional messages, two management pressure techniques, and SMP) on users' four beliefs (Propostion2 and 4) and – directly – on users' participation behaviour (Proposition 3).

Chapter 4: Research Methodology

Informed by several theoretical frameworks and the literature on online participation, extrinsic and intrinsic motivations, behaviour change, and lurking behaviour, Chapter 3 presented the study's research model and propositions. This chapter describes how the study's research model was empirically tested, leading to findings that address the research objectives.

To present the research methodology, this chapter is structured as follows:

- I. The first section presents the key steps of the overall research design. This section then provides a background to the survey method and a justification for the use of this method in the study's research context.
- II. The second section provides a detailed discussion of the cross-sectional online survey method and the operationalisation of its procedure. This discussion covers the following points:
 - Development of the scale, including the adoption of previously-validated measures in the literature, the conceptualisation phase of a new construct and the operationalisation procedure that was followed to create the new construct's measures.
 - Sample selection criteria and an overview of the case context.
 - General guidelines for the online survey design.
 - Content validation procedures and the pre-test and pilot test that were employed before proceeding with the full-scale survey.

III. A summary of the chapter is presented in the final section.

4.1 Research Design

Clark et al. (2011) p. 53 define research design as "procedures for collecting, analysing, interpreting and reporting data" which are useful because "they help guide the methods and decisions that researchers must make during their studies and set the logic by which they make interpretations at the end of their studies".

As illustrated in the research design (Figure 1.1 in Chapter 1), after the research problem was defined and the research questions were identified (Chapter 1), a comprehensive literature review was performed (Chapter 2). Guided by the social

exchange theory (Blau 1964) and Kankanhalli et al.'s (2005) model of knowledge contribution, the salient motivations for user participation were identified. Several behavioural change frameworks, namely, the ELM (Petty et al. 1986), social influence theory (Kelman 1958) and policy–behaviour compliance literature, formed the basis of understanding how three commonly used organisational interventions (i.e., promotional messages, management pressure techniques, and social media policy-SMP-) influence users' beliefs and participation behaviours across two user groups (i.e., lurkers and posters). Next, the research model was constructed and four propositions were developed (Chapter 3). A survey design was chosen to validate the study's model and test the propositions (this chapter). The measurement items used in the study were adopted mainly and wherever possible from among the previously validated measures in the literature. Based on the data analysis, findings addressing the research objectives were obtained (Chapter 5).

4.1.1Data collection objectives

The phenomenon under investigation in this study concerns users' underutilisation of an ESN. In such a scenario, ESN community managers need to enhance user participation in ESNs. However, in order to achieve that, they need to better understand why and how employees participate in ESNs. Therefore, in an effort to better understand the reasons behind online behaviours and to identify the direction and level of influence of already-implemented interventions on participation, the objectives of this study were as follows:

- (i) to identify the key reasons that drive ESN members to either lurk or post after they have already been introduced to the platform [Hence, aligning with Research Question-1 "What are the salient drivers of lurkers' and posters' participation in ESNs?"]; and
- (ii) to examine whether the influence of already-implemented interventions improves users' beliefs or, worse, turns off posters' willingness to participate, and to examine the extent of that influence [Hence, aligning with Research Question-2 "How do promotional messages, management pressure techniques and SMP influence employees' perceptions of the ESN and their posting and/or lurking behaviours?"].

The central thesis of the model developed in the present study is that members' participation is dependent on four motivations, namely, image and intrinsic interest (as benefits) and loss of knowledge power and fulfilment (as costs) (thus addressing

the first research objective). In addition, to address the second research objective, the model proposes that the four motivations are influenced by: (i) the argument quality and the source credibility of the promotional messages sent by management to influence ESN participation and (ii) the SMP effectiveness. Lastly, the model proposes a direct influence of verbal management pressure and non-verbal management pressure (rules) on users' participation behaviour.

Accordingly, to evaluate the propositions in the research model, namely, the relationship between the four dimensions of users' beliefs and participation behaviours, and the relationship between several organisational interventions on the four beliefs and subsequent participation behaviours across lurkers and posters, the study employed a quantitative approach and chose an observational, cross-sectional survey design (Straub et al. 2004b).

4.1.2 Research methodology and justification

The quantitative approach and qualitative approach are the two most widely used methodological approaches in the IS literature (Bhattacherjee 2012). The quantitative approach is a means for "testing objective theories by examining the relationship among variables," while the qualitative approach is a means for "exploring and understanding the meaning individuals or groups ascribe to a social or human problem" Creswell (2009, p.4). A quantitative approach begins with a number of assumptions and then builds an instrument, measures variables, and interprets the statistical results (Atkinson et al. 1994). On the other hand, a qualitative approach looks at a phenomenon in order to understand it, then builds the principles and describes the research problem in detail (Bryman et al. 2011). Table 4.1 summarises the main characteristics of both approaches.

Characteristics	Quantitative Research	Qualitative Research
Type of data	Phenomena are described	Phenomena are described
	numerically	in a narrative fashion
Analysis	descriptive and inferential	Identification of major
	statistics	themes
Scope of inquiry	Specific questions or hypotheses	Broad, thematic concern
Primary	Large sample, statistical validity,	Rich, in-depth narrative
advantage	accurately reflects the population	description of sample
Primary	Superficial understanding of	Small sample, not
disadvantage	participants' thoughts and	generalizable to the
	feelings	population

Table 4.1 Quantitative versus qualitative research (adopted from VanderStoep et al. (2008))

4.1.2.1 Justification

Driven by the nature of the phenomenon and the research objectives as described in the previous section, a cross-sectional survey design (Straub et al. 2004b) was chosen in the present study. Surveys "are non-experimental designs that do not control for or manipulate independent variables or treatments, but measure these variables and test their effects using statistical methods" (Bhattacherjee 2012, p. 48). In a cross-sectional field survey, the dependent and independent variables are measured at once (Bhattacherjee 2012).

The aim of the survey method is to objectively test relationships and verify theories and hence "to provide generalisable statements about the object of study" (Gable 1994, p. 114). To do so, surveys often capture snapshots (e.g., beliefs, practices) from the participants in a survey questionnaire (Bhattacherjee 2012; Recker 2013; Straub et al. 2004b) to be then analysed using statistical techniques (Gable 1994). In IS research, a survey is a widely used research method (Recker 2008; Recker 2013).

The advantages of the survey methodology are:

- (i) its focus on verifying rather than discovering and understanding new variables (Gable 1994)
- (ii) its 'deducibility' power whereby surveys can "accurately document the norm, identify extreme outcomes and delineate associations between variables in a sample " (Gable 1994, p. 114)
- (iii)its ability to capture many variables using multiple theoretical frameworks (Bhattacherjee 2012)
- (iv)its ability to analyse data both at aggregate and at individual levels (Sedera et al. 2003a)
- (v) its ability to add to the inventory of previous survey instruments (Ishman 1996) in (Recker 2008; Sedera et al. 2003a).

In the case of the present study, the rationale for selecting the survey methodology lay in the study's interest in assessing the prevalence of different forms of participation (posting vs lurking) and the respective motivations (the four users' beliefs) among users engaged in different projects and work tasks at a single point in time, namely, after the employment of certain organisational interventions such as a promotional message. As in prior research, it was believed that a survey was the most appropriate technique to provide rich and efficient ways of assessing users' perceptions of the ESN participation experience in the present study.

4.2 Survey Design

The literature suggests several approaches (e.g., Bagozzi et al. (1991), Diamantopoulos et al. (2001), Fornell et al. (1981), (MacKenzie et al. (2011)), O'Brien et al. (2009) and Straub et al. (2004a)) to constructing and validating a survey instrument. The survey in the present study followed a classical crosssectional survey design to test the model and the proposed causal relationships between the model's latent constructs. With regard to the unit of analysis, the unit of examination was at the individual level (i.e., the ESN community member). Although it is the organisation that acquires and implements the ESN, it is the user group who decides the extent of its use (Kugler et al. 2013b).

As illustrated in Figure 4.1, the survey design involved six steps: 1) survey instrument development, 2) sample selection, 3) content validation, 4) pre-test and pilot test of the survey instrument, 5) revision of the survey instrument, and 6) survey deployment. Each step is explained in detail in the next sections.



4.2.1 Survey instrument development

All constructs used in this study are well established in the literature. Researchers have repeatedly recommended the use of 'proven' measurement instruments (MacKenzie et al. 2011) to increase construct validity. Following the approaches proposed by Churchill Jr (1979) and MacKenzie et al. (2011), the measurement items of all the constructs were adapted from previously-validated measures in the literature (except for the newly developed construct of "perceived fulfilment"). It is noted that all the constructs in the research model were measured reflectively. The following subsections explain the measurement items of each construct in the research model in turn.

4.2.1.1 The dependent variable – participation measurement scale

The literature on online participation typically refers to an individual who visits an online community and engages in any way or form as a participant (Malinen 2015). There is no specific definition of online participation; rather, "the visibility of the activity seems to be the most common way of conceptualizing participation" (Malinen 2015, p. 231). Some researchers (e.g., Cullen et al. (2011)) consider registering in an online community as a visible purposeful action and thus it is seen as a form of participation.

Normally, online participation is operationalised in terms of its quantity using measures such as the time spent, number of visits, number of posts and comments or the amount of shared content (Malinen 2015). Overall, "the quantitative success metrics focus on the volume of activity, and the more traffic there is at the site, the more successful it is considered to be" (Malinen 2015, p. 231).

This study adopted previously tested and proven items to measure online participation (e.g., (Kankanhalli et al. 2005), (Wasko et al. 2005) and (Watson et al. 2006)) and modified them for use in the ESN context following the item-writing suggestions by MacKenzie et al. (2011). In order to develop comprehensive metrics to capture the volume of participation, the study employed multiple items to measure users' participation behaviours in terms of content creation (i.e., posts and comments) using two scales (a 7-point Likert scale and a continuous scale). Accordingly, and consistent with the study's definition of lurkers (*members who did not create any content in the last month*) and posters (*members who posted or*).

commented at least once in the last month) (refer to Section 2.3.1 for detail), the study used three self-reported items to measure users' participation:

- (i) a continuous scale "UseCreate" (During the past month, how many posts did you create in the ESN?)
- (ii) a continuous scale "UseComm" (During the past month, how many posts created by others did you comment on in the ESN?)
- (iii) a categorical scale of "Post/Comment Frequency" (I post or comment in the ESN) by picking one of the listed options (Several times a day, About once a day, Several times a week, About once a week, About once a month, Once or twice in the last three months, Never).

4.2.1.2 The independent variable -motivation scale

The "image" construct was defined as "the extent to which an individual believes that posting in the ESN enhances his/her social self-concept in the ESN". It was measured using three items adopted from Wasko et al. (2005) which were originally adopted from Constant et al. (1996). In their study of employees' use of electronic networks of practice (message boards), Wasko et al. (2005) scale of reputation captured how employees' perceived reputation contributed to further use of the message boards. Wasko et al.'s three items were: (i) I earn respect from others by participation in the message boards, (ii) I feel that participation improves my status in the profession, and (iii) I participate in the message boards to improve my reputation in the profession. The present study followed (MacKenzie et al. 2011) advice on wording and made minor changes to suit the study's context.

The "loss of knowledge power" construct was defined as "the perception of power and unique value lost due to knowledge posting in ESN". This construct was measured using three items adopted from Kankanhalli et al. (2005). Kankanhalli et al. (2005) developed the loss of knowledge power measures based on Orlikowski (1992) research on groupwork practices and social interaction facilitated by technology. Drawing on social exchange theory (Blau 1964), Kankanhalli et al. examined a number of benefits and cost factors for user participation in electronic knowledge repositories (EKRs). Kankanhalli et al. (2005) conceptualised, operationalised and validated the cost factor of loss of knowledge power to negatively influence EKR usage by knowledge contributors. Their proposed items to measure the loss of knowledge power were: (i) Sharing my knowledge through EKRs makes me lose my unique value in the organisation, (ii) Sharing my knowledge through EKRs makes me lose my power base in the organisation, (iii) Sharing my knowledge through EKRs makes me lose my knowledge that makes me stand out with respect to others, and (iv) Sharing my knowledge through EKRs makes me lose my knowledge through EKRs makes me lose from Kankanhalli et al. (2005) to measure the loss of knowledge power construct. Minor changes were made to the wording of the original items to suit the study's context, following the recommendations by (MacKenzie et al. 2011).

The third motivational construct is intrinsic interest. Based on (Webster et al. 1993) conceptualisation, intrinsic interest was defined as "the extent to which members are involved in the activity for its own pleasure and enjoyment rather than for some utilitarian purpose". As explained in Chapter 3, the study did not use "enjoyment in helping others" from Kankanhalli et al.'s model because it was decided to better extend this concept to capture broader aspects of users' own pleasure and enjoyment. Therefore, the study employed "intrinsic interest" as conceptualised by (Webster et al. 1993) instead. Based on Csikszentmihalyi (1975) flow theory, Webster et al. (1993), p. 414 studied human-computer interactions and argued that when "individuals find the activity intrinsically interesting, they are involved in the activity for its own pleasure and enjoyment rather than for some utilitarian purpose". Based on their earlier work (Webster et al. 1992), Webster et al. (1993) developed three items to measure intrinsic interest in using Lotus 1-2-3: (i) Using Lotus 1-2-3 bored me (reverse-scored), (ii) Using Lotus 1-2-3 was intrinsically interesting, and (iii) Lotus 1-2-3 was fun for me to use. However, the present study excluded the reverse item because of confusion by most of the participants in the pre testing (refer to Section 4.2.5) and adopted the other two items.

The literature often emphasises the use of a minimum of three items per construct (e.g., Hair Jr et al. (2013) and Nunnally et al. (1994)). However, if a scale measures more than one construct, it is not uncommon to use as little as two items per construct (e.g., (Bock et al. 2005), (Kulkarni et al. 2007) and (Raubenheimer 2004)). Finally, in the same way as with the previous constructs, minor changes were made to the wording of the original items to suit the study's context.

The measure of the last motivational factor, "perceived fulfilment", is discussed in Section 4.2.1.4.

4.2.1.3 The influence scale (management interventions)

As previously illustrated (refer to Chapter 3, Section 3.4), the study examines three organisational interventions: persuasion-based interventions (promotional messages), compliance-based interventions (management pressure) and governance tools (SMPs).

Source credibility and argument quality

Through the theoretical lens of the ELM (Petty et al. 1986), this study posits that promotional messages can influence users' beliefs through: (i) the central route (operationalised using "argument quality") and (ii) the peripheral route (operationalised using "source credibility"). The "argument quality" was defined as "the persuasive strength of the arguments embedded in the promotional messages" and was measured using three items adopted from (Bhattacherjee et al. 2006). The "source credibility" was defined as "the extent to which a promotional message source is perceived to be believable, competent and trustworthy by ESN users" and was measured using four items adopted from (Bhattacherjee et al. 2006).

In their study on IT acceptance, Bhattacherjee and Sanford (2006) explain how perceived knowledge usefulness is formed by the processes of outer influence (i.e., training). They argue that the argument quality of informational messages (i.e., whether these informational messages are perceived by the users to be informative, valuable and persuasive) plays an important role in persuading users and potentially affects users' perception of the usefulness of IT acceptance. In the same vein, the source characteristics (i.e., the competence, trustworthiness and authority of the source as perceived by the users) have a positive effect on potential users' perceptions of the usefulness of IT acceptance. Bhattacherjee et al.'s (2006) measures of the source credibility and argument quality were modified versions of Sussman et al. (2003) measures. Lastly, this study followed (MacKenzie et al. 2011) advice on the wording and made minor changes to suit this study's context.

Verbal and non-verbal management pressures

IS researchers highlight management pressure as an intervention that can influence employees' behaviour in a significant manner (Bajwa et al. 2008; Boss et al. 2009; Eckhardt et al. 2009; Venkatesh et al. 2008a; Venkatesh et al. 2003). Using the social influence theory (Kelman 1958), this study drew on Kelman's (1958)

conceptualisation of compliance and the literature on management influence (e.g., (Chatterjee et al. 2002), (Liang et al. 2007) and (Wang et al. 2013)) to understand the direct influence of two types of management pressure on participation behaviour: (i) verbal management pressure defined as "the perceived pressure of management unwritten rules to participate in the ESN" based on Brown et al.'s (2010) conceptualisation of "superior influence", and (ii) non-verbal management pressure (rules) defined as "the perceived pressure of management rules to participate in the ESN" based on Boss et al.'s (2009) conceptualisation of management rules.

The present study adopted three items from Brown et al.'s (2010) measure of "superior influence" that was originally adapted from (Venkatesh et al. 2003) to measure the "verbal management pressure" construct: (i) I believe the top management would like me to use <collaboration tool>, (ii) My supervisor suggests that I use <collaboration tool>, and (iii) There is pressure from the organisation to use <collaboration tool>.

To measure "non-verbal management pressure (rules)", the study adopted four items from King et al. (2008) measure of supervisory control that "reflects the amount of influence that an individual perceives that management is exerting in order to get compliance for its notion of appropriate contributory behaviour" (King et al. 2008, p 135): (i) My supervisor spends time with me explaining the tasks I have to do to appropriately utilise SYSTEM X , (ii) My supervisor frequently monitors whether I am following established procedures for SYSTEM X utilisation, (iii) Specific performance goals are established for using SYSTEM X, (iv) My supervisor reviews how I do my job when I do not attain SYSTEM X goals, (v) If I do not meet performance goals associated with SYSTEM X, I am required to explain why, and (vi) I frequently receive feedback on how I am accomplishing performance goals as they pertain to SYSTEM X. Changes were made to the wording of the original items in order to suit the study's context using the recommendations by (MacKenzie et al. 2011).

Social media policy

The third and final organisational intervention examined in this study was the SMP. IS researchers emphasise the important role of IT policies not only in restricting detrimental use (Bartridge 2005) but also in guiding users to best use the technology in an effective manner (Barney 1991; Doherty et al. 2011; Vaast et al.

2013). As previously explained in Chapter 3 (Section 3.4.3), this study investigated the role of the SMP as a communication document in providing: (i) guidance on best practices for participation ('know-how' for collaboration, finding solutions, etc.), and (ii) protection from any misuse (e.g., improper content, bullying or harassment). Drawing on the policy–behaviour compliance literature and based on Xu et al. (2011) conceptualisation of the perceived effectiveness of privacy policy, this study defined SMP effectiveness as "the extent to which an employee believes that SMP provides guidance on how best to engage in the ESN and provides protection from any misuse (e.g., improper content)".

The study measured SMP effectiveness using two scales. Firstly, the study adapted three items from (Xu et al. 2011) measure of the perceived effectiveness of privacy policy: (i) With their privacy statements, I believe that my personal information will be kept private and confidential by these websites, (ii) I believe that these websites' privacy statements are an effective way to demonstrate their commitments to privacy, and (iii) I feel confident that these websites' privacy statements reflect their commitments to protect my personal information. Secondly, the study adapted two items from (Kirsch 1996) measure of pre-specified behaviour. Kirsch's items are about an understandable, written sequence of steps, and established materials (e.g., manuals, standards, directives, technical and professional books) that can be followed to ensure a project goal is met. To suit the study's context, minor changes were made to the wording of the original items.

Table 4.2 summarises all the items adopted from the literature. It is noted that the items in the table are in the final wording as used in the survey instrument (Sections 4.2.4 and 4.2.5 present further details on the content validation, pre-testing, pilot testing and refinement procedures).

Construct	Definition	Items	Original items
Image	The extent to which an individual believes that posting on the ESN enhances his/her social self-concept in the ESN	 I post my opinions on Google⁺ to earn respect from others. I post my opinions on Google⁺ to improve my reputation. I feel that participation improve my status on Google⁺. 	 Adopted from (Wasko et al. 2005) I earn respect from others by participation in the message boards I feel that participation improve my status in the profession I participate in the message boards to improve my reputation in the profession.
Loss of knowledge power	The perception of power and unique value lost due to knowledge posting in ESN	 When I post on Google⁺, I lose my unique value in the organisation. Posting on Google⁺ makes me lose the value of my knowledge that makes me stand out with respect to others. Posting on Google⁺ makes me lose my power base in the organisation. 	 Adopted from (Kankanhalli et al. 2005) Sharing my knowledge through EKRs makes me lose my unique value in the organization Sharing my knowledge through EKRs makes me lose my power base in the organization Sharing my knowledge through EKRs makes me lose my knowledge that makes me stand out with respect to others Sharing my knowledge through EKRs makes me lose my knowledge that no one else has
Intrinsic interest	The extent to which members are involved in the activity for its own pleasure and enjoyment rather than for some utilitarian purpose	 I find posting in Google⁺ interesting. It is fun to post in Google⁺. 	 Adopted from (Webster et al. 1993) Using Lotus 1-2-3 bored me. (Reverse-scored) Using Lotus 1-2-3 was intrinsically interesting. Lotus 1-2-3 was fun for me to use.
Perceived Fulfillment	The extent to which members feel their needs for using the ESN are fulfilled through reading only	 For me, just reading/browsing on Google⁺ is enough. I feel reading adequately meets my purpose for using Google⁺. By just reading, I feel my reasons for using Google⁺ are adequately met. 	Self-developed
Argument quality	The persuasive strength of the arguments embedded in the messages*	 The information in Google⁺ promotional messages is informative The information in Google⁺ promotional messages is valuable 	 Adopted from (Bhattacherjee et al. 2006) The information provided during the DMS training session was informative The information provided during the DMS

Table 4.2 Adopted measurement items

	1		
		 The information in Google⁺ promotional messages is persuasive 	 training session was helpful. The information provided during the DMS training session was valuable. The information provided during the DMS training session was persuasive.
Source credibility	The extent to which a message* source is perceived to be believable, competent and trustworthy by ESN users	 The person who usually sends these messages is trustworthy. is credible is experienced on Google⁺. appears to be an expert on Google⁺. 	 Adopted from (Bhattacherjee et al. 2006) The person providing the DMS training was trustworthy The person providing the DMS training was credible The person providing the DMS training was knowledgeable on this topic The person providing the DMS training appeared to be an expert on this topic
Verbal management pressure	The perceived pressure of management unwritten rules to participate in the ESN	 My supervisor suggests that I participate in the Google⁺ communities. I believe the organisation's management would like me to participate in the Google⁺ communities. There is pressure from the organisation to participate in the Google⁺ communities. 	 Adopted from Brown et al.'s (2010) I believe the top management would like me to use <collaboration tool="">.</collaboration> My supervisor suggests that I use <collaboration tool="">.</collaboration> There is pressure from the organization to use <collaboration tool="">.</collaboration>
Non-verbal management pressure	The perceived pressure of management rules to participate in the ESN.	 If I do not post on Google⁺ for one month, I am required to explain why. There are rules that require employees to post about certain tasks on Google⁺ I believe that my annual evaluation report (or Performance Planning and Review) takes into account my posting activities on Google⁺ Overall, I believe it is required that I regularly post on Google⁺ 	 Adopted from Boss et al.'s (Boss et al. 2009) My supervisor spends time with me explaining the tasks I have to do to appropriately utilise SYSTEM X. My supervisor frequently monitors whether I am following established procedures for SYSTEM X utilisation Specific performance goals are established for using SYSTEM X. My supervisor reviews how I do my job when I do not attain SYSTEM X goals. If I do not meet performance goals associated with SYSTEM X, I am required to explain why.

		- W'4.4. C. 11M. P. D. P. 11. P. 4.4	 I frequently receive feedback on how I am accomplishing performance goals as they pertain to SYSTEM X.
SMP effectiveness	The extent to which an employee believes that SMP provides guidance on how best to engage in the ESN and provides protection from any misuse (e.g. improper content).	 With the Social Media Policy, I believe that I am protected from any misuse by others (e.g. improper content, bullying, harassment). I believe that the Social Media Policy is an effective way to protect the Google⁺. communities from any misuse such as posts that have improper content, bullying, or harassment. I feel confident that the Social Media Policy reflects the organisation's commitment to protect the Google⁺ communities from any misuse by others (e.g. improper content, bully I believe that the Social Media Policy is an effective way to guide users on how to best use Google⁺. The organisation's Social Media Policy has an understandable, written sequence of steps that could be followed to ensure the best use of Google⁺. 	 Adopted from (Xu et al. 2011) With their privacy statements, I believe that my personal information will be kept private and confidential by these websites. I believe that these websites' privacy statements are an effective way to demonstrate their commitments to privacy. I feel confident that these websites' privacy statements reflect their commitments to protect my personal information. Adopted from (Kirsch 1996) There was an understandable, written sequence of steps that could be followed to ensure [the project goal was met]. To what extent did established materials (manuals, standards, directives, technical and professional books, and the like) cover how to [meet the project goal]?
*persuasive communication sent topics discussed).	by management through emails or online pos	ts to encourage users' participation and to provide informa	ation about the ESN (e.g. its benefits, qualities and recent

4.2.1.4 The new construct of perceived fulfilment

The last motivation that completes the fourth block in the quadrant of salient motivations to participate (or not participate) in ESNs is the cost factor of "perceived fulfilment". As previously explained in Chapter 3 (Section 3.3.1.4), the scholarly work by Preece and Nonnecke (2000; 2001; 2004) on understanding the reasons for lurking is well acknowledged in the literature (e.g., (Bishop 2007; Bishop 2011), (Muller 2012; Muller et al. 2010), (Rau et al. 2008), (Ridings et al. 2006) and (Sun et al. 2014)); particularly their landmark study (2004) on the top five reasons for lurking. They surveyed 1188 posters and lurkers in 375 MSN bulletin board communities. The "just reading/browsing is enough" reason was found to be the dominant reason for lurking in public online discussion communities. More than half (53.9%) of the lurkers selected that reason for their lurking behaviour (Preece et al. 2004). Despite the importance of this reason, there is, to the best of the author's knowledge, no research that provides a conceptualisation of this reason.

In order to capture the relative richness of the "just reading/browsing is enough" reason, it is necessary to explain and examine the extent of its influence on the different modes of participation, particularly lurking behaviour. For the purposes of addressing the first objective in our research (i.e., to identify the key reasons that drive ESN members to either lurk or post) and account for this reason, we exploited the literature on lurking (especially Preece and Nonnecke (2000; 2001; 2004)) and conceptualised a new construct named "perceived fulfilment" to account for the "just reading/browsing is enough" reason as a cost factor that could hinder user participation. The study defined perceived fulfilment as "the extent to which members feel their needs for using the ESN are fulfilled through reading only". This definition captures the essence of the "just reading/browsing is enough" reason as it represents the intrinsic aspect of lurkers' realisation that the reading activity itself is sufficient and meaningful and that it fulfils their needs for using the ESN. The approach employed to operationalise (generate items) and validate the new construct is discussed next.

Item generation

Providing a definition to a new construct is necessary, but not sufficient. It is also necessary to build a reliable and valid measurement (Froehle et al. 2004) to be able to empirically estimate the relationship of the new construct with the phenomenon under investigation. The first step in achieving that is by generating a set of items that tap into the construct's definition and help the researcher to truthfully measure the new construct from the users' perspective (Churchill, 1995). The literature stresses the importance of the item generation process "to produce a set of items that fully captures all of the essential aspects of the domain of the focal construct, while minimizing the extent to which the items tap concepts outside of the domain of the focal construct" (MacKenzie et al. 2011, p. 304).

The present study followed the guidelines prescribed by (Davis 1989) and later revised by Moore and Benbasat (1991). Apart from being one of the most cited procedures for scale development in IS research, Moore and Benbasat's (1991) procedure was chosen in this study because it "allows for the development of scales that are general enough to allow for a wider uptake in other empirical measurement studies" (Recker 2008, p. 216) which aligns well with our conceptualisation of the new construct as it reflects a broader array of members' needs for using the ESN. A pool of items was created from a thorough review of the conventional lurking literature (e.g., Bishop (2011), Cheng et al. (2014), Grigore et al. (2011), Lai et al. (2014), Muller et al. (2010), Muller (2012), Nonnecke et al. (2000), Nonnecke et al. (2006), Preece et al. (2004), Rau et al. (2008), Ridings et al. (2006) and Sun et al. (2014)). These items were fragmented into different aspects of needs; for example: information needs (e.g., By just reading, I learn new things, or I find the answers for my questions), curiosity needs (e.g., By just reading, I feel informed about what is going on Yammer) and global items (e.g., Overall, I feel reading adequately meets my needs). To assess the validity of these items, the study employed two qualitative techniques: a panel of reviewers and Q-sort.

Panel review

The purpose of a panel review is to evaluate the content validity of the generated items. The literature suggests that a panel review is essential for reviewing the item pool for quantitative surveys (Devellis 2003).

Once the initial set of items for the new construct was specified, the study employed a panel (five PhD students who majored in IS-related research and were familiar with ESNs) to review, eliminate and revise the items in the pool as appropriate. The panellists were asked to: (i) check the face validity to make sure the items were the right measures for the research context, (ii) identify any problems in wording, meaning, readability or repeated questions, and (iii) check the completeness and accuracy of the items (i.e., all aspects of the construct's definition is covered) (Recker 2013). During this phase, the panel members suggested a few new items that they thought would tap into the construct's definition.

Q-sort exercise

The remaining items were too many (17 items). The aim was to develop a parsimonious set of measures for the new construct. The literature suggests that it is more likely that other researchers adopt scales that have a reasonable number of items in order to reduce the level of 'survey fatigue' among participants (Barnes et al. 2014). Thus, the present study ran a Q-sort exercise to improve the construct validity (Moore and Benbasat 1991). In a firm that used Yammer¹ as an ESN, the study conducted a Q-sort exercise with 16 users. The firm (an academic institute in eastern Australia) was particularly appropriate for the purpose as it had used an ESN for knowledge sharing and collaboration for more than a year with over 1000 registered users.

Using an online card sorting tool (conceptcodify.com), each user received an email inviting them to participate in a quick (5 minute) online-Q-sort. The participants were given the construct definition and a set of cards (17 items) with the instruction to sort the cards from the most to the least suitable in one group. Ten responses were received. After the data collection, the card sorting tool generated the data analysis report that simply sorted the cards from the most cited to the least cited based on the participants' responses. In the interest of parsimony, the three most frequently cited items are presented in Table 4.2. The invitation email, the original items and screenshots of the tool used to run this exercise are presented in Appendix 1.

Until this stage, there is no way of establishing whether or not the selected items measure the intended construct (Straub et al. 2004a). Even with the Q-Sort, only initial indications of the reliability and validity of these selected items are obtained. Thus, the chosen items were then subjected to the same content validity and reliability tests that were conducted for the full survey instrument (e.g., pre-testing, and pilot testing).

¹ Yammer is the leading ESN used by more than 200,000 companies including 85% of the Fortune 500 (Yammer 2013).

4.2.2 Sample selection

4.2.2.1 Organisation and participant criteria

Before gathering data for this research, three conditions were identified to form the benchmarking for the selection of the target organisation: (i) the organisation had used an ESN for at least one year and had at least 500 registered users, thus having a mature implementation; (ii) the organisation encouraged ESN use to achieve certain objectives such as knowledge sharing (to enable the study to investigate the types of interventions and their influence across lurkers and posters); and (iii) the organisation face issues to get users to participate (to enable the study to examine lurkers' motives). Other criteria were identified for the appropriate survey participants: (i) the participant had been a user of the ESN for at least one month in order to ensure the quality of responses; (ii) participants held any position (management, operational, or executive level) in order to solicit the perceptions of high and low users of the ESN.

We choose one organization to mitigate bias stemming from the existence of multiple organizational cultures. Similarly, an online community is based on common norms. As we investigate a phenomenon of underutilised online community and its dependency on members to create content, it is rather advantageous that such communities belong to the same organization. Lastly, the communities from which data was collected were large (over 8000 members) and active communities (refer to next section for details)

4.2.2.2 The case organisation context: an overview

The study collected data by distributing an online survey to members of online communities within an Australian retail organisation. In terms of revenue, according to the Global Powers of Retailing 2015 report (Deloitte 2015), the case organisation was among the 25 largest organisations worldwide. At the time of this study, the company had over 200,000 employees across all Australian states.

In a competitive market, retail organisations are under constant pressure to innovate (Lewis and Dart 2014; Patroni et al. 2015). Our case organisation installed Google⁺ communities in order to support and encourage interorganisational collaboration, communication and innovative performance among the employees, independent of the locations at which they were working. Different communities were set up for different members of the organisation. At the time of data collection, the case organisation had over 50 communities (with the numbers of members ranging between 200 and 6000) for different members of the organisation. For instance, some

communities were set up for trading brands (i.e., department stores), while others were set up for functions (e.g., corporate communications and IT). Often encouraged by management (e.g., community managers, executives and middle managers), the employees use the communities to post new ideas, comment on others' posts, share information or highlight achievements. Prior to the introduction of the Google⁺ communities, the organisation relied greatly on email for communication; however, email was only available to a small percentage of the organisation's workforce (approximately 27,000 employees).

This study acknowledges the importance of organisational culture in influencing users' participation behaviour (i.e., posting or lurking). IS researchers have highlighted the significance of organisational culture in both fostering and inhibiting the general use of knowledge management systems (e.g., Huang et al. (2008), Rafaeli et al. (2004) and Shin et al. (2007)) as well as the use of social networking sites (e.g., Kim et al. (2011), Koch et al. (2013) and Schlagwein and Prasarnphanich (2011)). However, in this study, our focus is on the influence of particular management interventions that aim to boost ESN participation (i.e. promotional messages, management pressure techniques and SMP).

From the software perspective, the case organisation had implemented Google⁺ as an enterprise-wide platform in early 2014. Google⁺ is a vendor platform that was launched in 2011 by Google Inc. as a timeline-based social network (Kang et al. 2015). As at October 2013, there were nearly 540 million monthly active Google⁺ users (i.e., representing the number of interactions with Google⁺ each month) (McGee 2013). Google⁺ includes a bundle of wide-ranging services (e.g., data sharing, status updates, discussion, schedule management) that popular social networks such as Facebook or Twitter also implement. It is noted that Google⁺ uses different terms for its features. The term "communities" refers to conversations about specific topics, "circles" refers to different types of relationships (similar to "friends" on Facebook) and the Google⁺ "+1 button" for recommendations is similar to the "like" button on Facebook (Lytle 2013; McGee 2013). Although Google⁺ is initially introduced in the public domain, it has been increasingly utilized in professional domain.

Many organisations use Google⁺ communities as organisationally-bound, private social networks for relationship building, communicating, collaborating and sharing information with and among employees (Edelman & Eisenmann 2014). Google⁺ provides capabilities and functionalities that are similar to those provided by other

popular contemporary ESN platforms (e.g., Yammer, Jive and Chatter), particularly those related to microblogging services (Rus 2013; Turban et al. 2015). Google⁺ offers the leading features of popular enterprise social networking such as: rich collaborative features (microblogs), built-in applications (e.g., internal search engine, event management/calendar), file sharing and document collaboration (e.g., file versioning, importing/exporting to different formats), aggregation of users' activities, recommendation feature for content/members, and visualisation of the relationship networks and user hierarchy (Kang et al. 2015). Google⁺ also has more functionalities than some of the ESNs (such as Yammer) whose popularity remains firmly rooted in the professional world, including audio/video conferencing, or "Hangouts", and screen, calendar and contact sharing (Zone 2015). Thus, we do not consider the selection of Google⁺ communities in this study as a limitation on the generalisability of the results.

4.2.2.3 Google + communities

Members of two of the online communities in the case organisation were approached: Community A^2 was set up exclusively for staff responsible for the operation of 897 grocery supermarket stores across all Australian states, while Community B was set up exclusively for staff responsible for the operation of 182 department stores across all Australian states. Overall, for Community A, the staff population was about 115,000, of which 6000 were members of the Google⁺ community. For Community B, the staff population was about 17,000, of which 2000 were members of the Google⁺ community.

In return for their participation in the survey, we offered the respondents a chance to win an iPad Air 2. In addition, we provided the case organisation with access to a report on the results so the organisation could gain valuable insights into its employees' ESN usage (e.g., to help the organisation evaluate the strategies and interventions aimed at improving user participation).

4.2.2.4 Sampling size

Sampling is the process of selecting representative participants from the target population (Bhattacherjee 2012). Selecting the right sample size is critical in any survey research (Sedera et al. 2003). Generally, the larger the sample size the easier it is to assess the validity and reliability of measurements (Sedera et al. 2003).

² To maintain confidentiality, the names of the company and the communities are not used.

Researchers suggest different rules for the item-to-sample response ratio, with their suggestions for the minimum number of item-to-sample ratio per measure ranging from 3:1 to 10:1 (Cattell 2012; MacKenzie et al. 2011). For example, Rummel (1970) suggests a ratio of 1:4, Bryant and Yarnold (1995) suggest 1:5 and Schwab (1980) suggests an item-to-sample ratio of 1:10. Although there is no agreed-upon number for the sample size, the general rule of thumb is that the sample size should be five times the number of items and the number of participants should be more than 100 (Bryman and Cramer 2009). The present study satisfied these conditions with an item-to-sample ratio of 1:8 and more than 360 valid responses.

4.2.3 General instructions and guidelines for survey design

In relation to the number of items per construct, Cronbach et al. (1955) suggest that measurements should have an adequate number of items in order to capture all aspects of the construct but be as parsimonious as possible. However, if researchers use very few items to measure a construct, they could under-specify the construct (Hinkin et al. 1989) and the content and construct validity could be compromised (Nunnally et al. 1967). Following Nunnally et al. (1994) norm of three items per construct, this study used three items to measure nearly every construct.

The design of the survey (see Appendix B) incorporated: (i) a cover letter which contained details about the research team, a description of the research project and the target participants, expected time to complete the survey, expected benefits and possible risks for participants, and the privacy and confidentiality statements; (ii) three sections to capture information about the participant's demographics, membership and usage of the ESN; (iii) one section to capture the participant's perceptions of the four motivations to participate, namely, image, intrinsic interest, loss of knowledge power, and fulfilment (the first research objective); and (iv) three sections about the participant's perceptions of already-implemented interventions (promotional messages, management pressure, and the SMP) to influence their participation (the second research objective). Except for demographics, all the questions were made mandatory. In addition, the length of the survey instrument was considered because a long questionnaire entails the risks of low response rates, poor data quality and bias (Adams et al. 1982; Newell et al. 2004; Sedera et al. 2003b; Weisberg 2005). From the observation of the pre-test and pilot test, the survey took approximately 10–15 minutes to complete.

In the survey, all the items were operationalised in the form of 7-point Likert scales which were displayed from left to right, ranging from "strongly disagree" to "strongly agree", except for the two items ('UseCreate', 'UseComm') which were measured using a continuous scale (see Section 4.2.1.1). Using a single scale is "an important consideration of the instrument validation process" (Sedera 2006, p 5-10). The Likert scale is the most commonly used scale in IS research (Hair Jr et al. 2013; Recker 2008). In particular, the 7-point Likert scale is popular because it provides more accurate reflections of the respondents' perceptions and behaviours (Flynn et al. 2004).

Item wording is an important design aspect (MacKenzie et al. 2011). The wording of the items in this study's survey followed the recommendations by MacKenzie et al. (2011) and Black et al. (1998) to make the wording precise but as simple as possible by: (i) avoiding the use of ambiguous, negative, loaded or unfamiliar terms in order to minimise the risk of systematic response error, (ii) simplifying complex syntax and keeping questions short and specific, and (iii) removing items that contained obvious social desirability. In addition, all the items were subjected to wording review (the supervisory team, colleagues, pre-test and pilot test).

Lastly, before commencing the research, approval was obtained from the Queensland University of Technology Human Research Ethics Committee (No. 1300000354) (see Appendix B). The research was categorised under 'Low Risk Applications'. Participation was completely voluntary, and participants were free to withdraw at any time while completing the survey. All responses were anonymous and treated confidentially without any personal or identifiable information required. All the collected data was stored securely as per QUT policy on the management of research data. The participants who wanted to enter the free prize draw were asked to provide only contact details, and these details were kept completely separately from the research data.

4.2.4 Content validation

Content validation is a critical step in the design of any survey instrument as it validates that a set of items is actually measuring the intended construct. In other words, an item is not valid if it is measuring the wrong construct. Content validity is defined as "the extent to which a measure adequately represents the underlying construct that it is supposed to measure" (Bhattacherjee 2012, p. 58). Straub et al.

(2004a), p. 424 define content validity as "the degree to which items in an instrument reflect the content universe to which the instrument will be generalized". MacKenzie et al. (2011) identify two questions to assess content validity: Does each item represent an aspect of the content domain of the construct? And, Do all the items of a single construct represent the entire content domain of the construct? In other words, it is important that the construct is "well represented by one or more items and that the items are appropriate for the research domain" (Sedera et al. 2003a, p. 597).

There are two main approaches to assessing the content validity: theoretical and empirical approaches. The theoretical approaches focus "on how well the idea of a theoretical construct is translated into or represented in an operational measure" (Bhattacherjee 2012, p. 58). This approach uses techniques such as face validity, a panel of expert judges, and a qualitative technique such as Q-sort. Empirical approaches "examine how well a given measure relates to one or more external criterion, based on empirical observations" (Bhattacherjee 2012, p. 58). The empirical approach uses techniques such as convergent, discriminant, concurrent and predictive validity (refer to Chapter 5). As illustrated earlier in this chapter, following Churchill Jr (1979) and MacKenzie et al. (2011), all the items that encompassed the constructs of the research model were the result of a comprehensive literature review (see Section 4.2.1) and pre-testing.

4.2.5 Pre-test and pilot test

A pre-test is conducted with the objective of improving the face validity (i.e., ensuring that questions are valid and easy to understand by survey respondents) (Bhattacherjee 2012)) or the content validity of a survey instrument (Recker 2008). The literature suggests that three to ten critics are necessary to review the survey instrument (DeVellis 2011); among whom one should have sound knowledge of survey development. In this study, eleven individuals were asked to review the survey instrument based on the following criteria: (i) being a member of an ESN; (ii) already holding a doctorate degree or engaged in a doctoral program; and (iii) having experience in survey development. The first and second criteria were met by all members of the panel. Three individuals had experience in developing online survey instruments.

The eleven participants, comprising two IS professors and nine PhD students who majored in IS-related research, were asked in individual face-to-face meetings to complete a paper-based version of the survey. Notes were taken while the participant filled out the survey. In addition, the participants were asked to comment on the clarity, logic, wording, length and format of the scale. There were two main outcomes: (i) the wording of some items was revisited (e.g., 'loss of knowledge power' items) and one item was deleted because of confusion by most of the participants (i.e., a reverse-item of 'intrinsic interest'); and (ii) the format of one section (promotional messages) was slightly changed by adding a control item to ask respondents if they had ever received a promotional message. These changes helped to improve the content validity of the survey instrument.

Following the pre-test, a pilot test was conducted using a web-based version of the survey to assess the reliability and validity of the survey instrument. Pilot testing is an important part of the research process (Bhattacherjee 2012) because it helps detect potential research design issues, potential execution and performance issues of the web-based version, and any reliability or validity issues of the measures before proceeding with the full-scale survey. A Google⁺ community was targeted in the same organisation from which the main survey was collected. The invitation email was sent to all members (300) (i.e., a corporate Google+ community that represented a small subset of the target population) of whom 50 agreed to participate. Overall, the performance of the web-based version was stable with all data being captured and stored with no issue.

The pilot test focused on the quantitative insights particularly the measurement properties. The partial least square (PLS) technique of structural equation modelling (SEM) (Hair Jr et al. 2013) in the SmartPLS 3 software was used to examine the validity and reliability of the measurements. Nearly all the measures met the criteria for convergent and discriminant validity. Two items of the "verbal management pressure" construct were deleted because their loadings were less than 0.5. In sum, the data analysis of the pilot test provided reassurance to proceed with the full-scale survey.

4.2.6 Survey deployment

Following the reassurance gained through the results of the pre-test and pilot test, it was felt that the survey instrument was ready for the final full-scale survey. A web-based survey was used as the form of the data collection instrument. To save time and effort and reduce the distribution cost and processing complexity, the web-

based survey is the best option compared to traditional data collection instruments such as mail surveys (Couper et al. 2001; Olsen et al. 2004). With a rapid increase of internet access as in the case of the present study, the results may not be significantly biased by the use of web-based surveys (Porter 2004; Recker 2008).

As previously explained in Section 4.2.2, In March 2015, the study collected data by distributing an online survey to members of two ESN communities (i.e., a grocery supermarket staff community, and a department store staff community) within an Australian retail organisation. Participation in the survey was voluntary. Owing to the unavailability of members' email addresses, a link to the online questionnaire was posted; the study relied entirely on the invitation posted in the community for contacting participants. In the invitation post, the researcher introduced the study, explained its purpose and invited the community members (who had been using the platform for at least one month) to participate. To incentivise participation, members were offered the chance to win an iPad Air 2 (in a separate database, the respondents were asked to voluntarily give their names and email addresses for this purpose) and community managers were promised access to the results. The survey was online for one month.

A reminder was posted one week after the initial invitation posting. Overall, 473 members participated in the survey. After screening the responses, 107 responses were discarded because of high percentages of incomplete answers. Overall, therefore, the response rate was about 6%, which was to be expected because such posts may easily go unnoticed in active communities like Community A and Community B. The response rate is comparable to those of similar online studies with random user populations (Wu et al. 2014).

We also evaluated the common method variance (CMV). It is important to reduce the risk of CMV when collecting self-reported data from the same respondents about the models' independent and dependent variables (Podsakoff et al. 2003). There are several techniques to reduce the CMV. The Harman's single-factor test is perhaps the most commonly used approach to reducing the CMV (Sharma et al. 2009; Woszczynski and Whitman 2004). By conducting principal components analysis (PCA) in SPSS, the first factor was found to account for 26.3% of the variance. This result suggested that the CMV was not a concern in this study.

4.3 Chapter Summary

This chapter described the research methodology and explained how the research model, as illustrated in Chapter 3, was operationalised using a survey method. The main phases of the overall research design were set out and the selection of the survey design as the research methodology was justified. The six key steps of the survey design were then explained, namely, the survey instrument development, sample selection, content validation, pre-test and pilot test of the survey instrument, revision of the survey instrument and the survey deployment.

The measurement items of all the constructs were adapted from previously-validated measures in the literature except for the new developed construct. The chapter then discussed the conceptualisation phase of the new construct of "perceived fulfilment", followed by a discussion of the operationalisation procedure that was followed to create its measures. The sample selection and some general guidelines for the survey design were discussed. The chapter then concluded by describing the content validation procedures and the pre-test and pilot tests that were employed before proceeding with the full-scale survey.

Chapter 5: Data Analysis

This chapter describes the procedures followed to analyse the data collected using the survey instrument (Chapter 4) for the purpose of validating the study's research model (Chapter 3). The chapter begins with an overall discussion of the data analysis design, followed by an overview of the data preparation procedures. It then presents the descriptive statistics about the data. Next, the chapter examines the reliability and validity of the measurement models before testing the research propositions. Subsequently, the chapter discusses the research findings. The last section provides a summary of the chapter.

5.1 Data Analysis Design

5.1.1 Key steps in data analyses

The process of analysing the collected survey data is illustrated in Figure 5.1. Five steps formed the data analysis design in this study. The first step was the data preparation in which the data file was created and then screened for missing data, outliers and unengaged responses. The second step was reporting descriptive statistics about the data such as usage information and demographic information (age, gender, employment position, etc.). In the third step, the measurement models were evaluated. A number of tests were conducted to assess the construct reliability and meet the criteria for convergent and discriminant validity. Subsequently, the fourth and fifth steps were about testing the research propositions. The bootstrapping procedure was used to estimate the structural model for all users. In the second round of analysis, a stepwise binary logistic regression and multi-group analysis were used to differentiate posters and lurkers and their motivations.


5.1.2 Data analysis software

The PLS technique of SEM (Hair Jr et al. 2013) in the SmartPLS 3 software was used to evaluate the measurement properties and test the study's propositions. In IS research, SEM is a very popular data analysis method (Gefen et al. 2000). In addition, SPSS 22.0 software was used to perform stepwise binary logistic regression in order to examine the first proposition across poster and lurker user groups (i.e., the relative importance of the four motivations of image and intrinsic interest, loss of knowledge power and fulfilment to posting/lurking behaviour).

5.2 Data Preparation

As illustrated in Chapter 4 (Section 4.2.2), data was collected from an Australian retail organisation. The case organisation had implemented Google⁺ as an enterprise-wide platform and set up different communities for different groups of staff members. Members of two online communities were invited to participate in this study's survey. With approximately 6000 registered members, Community A was set up exclusively for staff responsible for the operation of 897 grocery supermarket stores across all Australian states, while Community B (2000 registered members) was set up exclusively for staff responsible for the operation of 182 department stores across all Australian states. These two communities were considered to be active communities. The average frequency of posting and commenting ranged from 6 to 8 times per month per member (discussed in Section 5.3 in more detail).

A master data file of 473 records was created in Excel and was then imported to SPSS for the screening of missing data, outliers and unengaged responses. Following the screening, 107 responses were discarded because of the high percentages of incomplete answers. The remaining 366 responses had very few missing values in the demographic questions on age and gender. Further, three cases (Case 69, Case 4 and Case 271) were identified as potential problematic outliers in the two continuous scales used to measure users' participation (UseCreate and UseComm). After both continuous scales were normalised using a log10 transformation in SPSS, the results indicated that the detected outliers (Cases 69, 4 and 271) no longer presented any concern. Next, standard deviation (SD) was used in the data analysis to evaluate the unengaged responses (Kline 1998). Unengaged responses occur when participants respond with almost the exact value for all questions. The SD for all latent variables was less than 0.5; therefore, there were no unengaged responses.

The response rate was 6%. The low response rate was to be expected because the invitation to participate in the survey was communicated in a post, and such posts may easily go unnoticed in active communities like Community A and Community B. Nevertheless, the response rate is comparable to those in similar online studies on random user populations (e.g., Pavlou (2003), Teo et al. (2002), Wu et al. (2014)).

5.3 Descriptive Statistics

The objective of the descriptive statistics analysis was to demonstrate that the sample in the present study: (i) was a representation of the population and that it represented the relevant demographics and the expected users, namely, lurkers and posters, and (ii) had adequate experience with the ESN and organisational intervention (e.g. promotional messages).

As explained in Chapter 4 (Section 4.2.1.1), in order to differentiate posters and lurkers, the scores on the variables UseCreate ("During the past month, how many posts did you create in the ESN?") and UseComm ("During the past month, how many posts created by others did you comment on in the ESN?") were examined. The examination identified 78 lurkers and 288 posters. Table 5.1 presents the posters' and lurkers' usage and demographic characteristics.

		Posters (288)	Lurkers (78)
Gender			
	Male	145 (55.3%)	36 (46.2%)
	Female	143 (49.7%)	42 (53.8%)
Employment Position			
	Employee	96 (33.3%)	51 (65.4%)
	Line Manager	166 (57.6%)	25 (32.1%)
	Others*	26 (9.1%)	2 (2.5%)
Purpose of usage			
	Work-related	247 (85.8%)	72 (92.3%)
	Social-related	1 (0.3%)	1 (1.3%)
Membership duration (in months)			
	Mean	9.6	10.2
Age			
	Mean	34.8	33.6
	SD	9.5	9.8
Posting frequency (last month)			

Table 5.1 Demographic characteristics

	Mean	5.99	00
	SD	9.8	00
Commenting			
frequency (last month)			
	Mean	8.86	00
	SD	19.9	00
Post or comment frequency(7Likert- Scale)			
	Mean	4.00	1.67
	SD	1.39	1.18
*Executives and C-level exe	ecutives		

The sample demonstrated consistent characteristics across the population and did not reveal any significant differences between lurkers and posters in relation to gender, employment position, age, or usage purposes. The correlation analyses were used to examine any association between age and gender and participation behaviour. The results showed no relationships between them. Because the vast majority (90%) of the respondents worked at the operational level and used the ESN for work-related matters, correlation analyses between these two factors (employment position, usage purposes) and participation behaviour were not run.

Males and females were represented in approximately equal number in both groups, with an average age of 34. In relation to employment position, nearly 90% of the respondents worked at the operational level (i.e., store employees and line managers). However, most posters (58%) were line managers while the vast majority of lurkers were store employees (65%). Further, in both groups, the mean for membership duration was approximately 10 months and most of the respondents (90%) used the ESN for work-related matters. It is noted that most of the respondents (80%) were members of Community A (grocery supermarket stores) and a large proportion of the respondents (79%) reported that they visited their online community at least once a day.

Next, the descriptive statistics are discussed in terms of the mean and SD of each construct and the items that were targeted in the validity and SEM analyses. The perceived differences between posters and lurkers in regard to each construct are presented (Table 5.2). It is noted that the results in Table 5.2 were calculated after assessing the validity and reliability of all the study's constructs.

		Posters	s (288)	Lurkers	s (78)	Indep sample	endent t-tests**
		Mean	SD	Mean	SD	t-value	Sig. (at 0.05 level)
Image						-5.52	0.000
	IMG1 IMG 2 IMG 3	3.62 3.76 4.12	1.72 1.85 1.84	2.76 2.56 3.05	1.58 1.47 1.66		
Loss of knowledge power						1.54	0.124
	LOKP1 LOKP2 LOKP3	2.52 2.41 2.24	1.56 1.52 1.47	2.77 2.68 2.53	1.46 1.40 1.40		
Intrinsic interest						-6.77	0.000
	INT1 INT2	5.09 4.95	1.43 1.56	3.87 3.65	1.64 1.44		
Perceived Fulfillment						0.004	0.997
	FUL1 FUL2 FUL3	4.46 4.39 4.36	1.63 1.46 1.53	4.64 4.41 4.17	1.82 1.83 1.93		
Argument quality						-2.17	0.038
	AQ 1 AQ 2 AQ 3	4.80* 4.70* 4.34*	1.45 1.45 1.44	4.05* 3.86* 3.86*	1.50 1.53 1.39		
Source credibility						-2.05	0.049
	SC1 SC2 SC3 SC4	5.08* 5.15* 5.20* 5.02*	1.37 1.35 1.43 1.43	4.90* 4.52* 4.57* 4.10*	1.51 1.60 1.47 1.41		
Verbal management pressure						-5.02	0.000
	VMP1 VMP2 VMP3	5.30 5.97 4.49	1.82 1.27 1.80	4.17 4.90 3.85	2.10 1.85 1.99		
Non-verbal management pressure						-2.54	0.012
	N-VMP1 N-VMP2 N-VMP3 N-VMP4	1.86 2.71 2.99 3.47	1.52 1.90 2.09 2.11	1.69 2.46 2.78 2.38	1.25 1.63 1.73 1.57		
SMP effectiveness						-2.62	0.01
* 100 out of 299 postors a	Pol1 Pol2 Pol3 Pol4 Pol5	5.47 5.56 5.70 5.53 5.45	1.44 1.36 1.25 1.30 1.33	4.95 5.32 5.44 5.01 5.01	1.63 1.34 1.28 1.52 1.40	1 out of 78 by	rkors
reported that they had rece	eived promotio	nal messag	es.		uges and 2	.1 Out OI 78 <u>IU</u>	18013
Equal variances not as	sumeu						

Table 5.2 Differences in mean and standard deviation

Generally, the poster group had higher agreement with the statements about beneficial factors (image, intrinsic interest) that could motivate their participation. In addition, the poster group's view of organisational promotions (e.g., promotional messages, SMP effectiveness) was higher compared to the lurker group.

To test the significance of the differences in perception, a number of independent sample t-tests (in SPSS) were conducted to compare the composite mean of each construct across posters and lurkers. As illustrated in Table 5.2, there were significant differences in perception between posters and lurkers in regard to most constructs. The lurker group had a higher perception of the cost factors (perceived fulfilment, loss of knowledge power) compared to the poster group; however, the difference was not statistically significant between posters and lurkers .

5.4 Measurement Properties

This section describes the process used to assess the validity and reliability of the study's reflective constructs. A reflective measure outlines any change in the construct through the changes in its measurement items. Measurement items measure the same aspect of the unobservable construct (unidimensional). The validity and reliability of the reflective constructs was performed using the PLS technique (Hair Jr et al. 2013). The reliability and validity tests are explained in this section in turn.

The construct reliability test examines the consistency and stability of measures (Sekaran 2006). The most widely used reliability test is Cronbach's alpha (Cronbach 1951). Thus, Cronbach's alpha was used in the study to ensure the measures were reliable. The literature suggests 0.7 or above as an acceptable cut-off value for the Cronbach alpha (Nunnally et al. 1967). The results of the Cronbach alpha test are presented in Table 5.3. Next, we examine construct validity using convergent and discriminant validity tests.

The literature proposes empirical and theoretical approaches to evaluating the content validity. The theoretical approaches use techniques such as: employing previously used and validated measures in the literature, face validity (pre-testing), pilot testing and the Q-sort qualitative technique. Empirical approaches "examine how well a given measure relates to one or more external criterion, based on empirical observations" (Bhattacherjee 2012, p. 58). The most widely used techniques in the empirical approach are the convergent and discriminant validity tests.

Convergent validity refers to "the closeness with which a measure relates to (or converges on) the construct that it is purported to measure", and discriminant validity refers to "the degree to which a measure does not measure (or discriminates from) other constructs that it is not supposed to measure" (Bhattacherjee 2012, p. 59). In other words, the measures (items) of a specific construct should load highly on that construct (convergent validity) and load less on other constructs (discriminant validity). To meet the criteria for convergent and discriminant validity in this study, the recommendations by Fornell et al. (1981) were followed. The reliability and validity tests were conducted on the entire sample³.

The factor analysis showed a low factor loading for three items. Item VMP3 in the verbal management pressure construct loaded only 0.47, causing the result of Cronbach's alpha test to be slightly below the cut-off value of 0.7. It was decided to eliminate Item VMP3. Furthermore, the factor loadings of Item Non-VMP1 (0.61) and Item Non-VMP2 (0.68) were slightly below the cut-off value of 0.7. However, given that the loadings of Non-VMP1 and Non-VMP2 were close to the cut-off value of 0.7 and all the other reliability and validity tests, namely, Cronbach's alpha and average variance extracted (AVE), easily passed the recommended cut-off values (see Table 5.3), it was decided to retain these items. The factor loadings of the remaining items exceeded 0.7, while the constructs' AVE values were greater than 0.50 suggesting that the Fornell criteria for convergent validity were met.

Similarly, to meet the Fornell criteria for discriminant validity, the square root of each construct's AVE exceeded the construct–measure correlation between each construct and other constructs in the factor correlation matrix (Hair et al. 2011) (see Table 5.4). In addition, the items' loadings on their intended constructs were higher compared to their loadings on any other construct, suggesting discriminant validity (see Table 5.5).

³ I used a confirmatory factor analysis (CFA) to ensure the accuracy of the measurements used in the survey (Straub et al. 2004). I used Principle Component Analysis (PCA) with varimax rotation Fornell et al. (1981). The Varimax rotation helps the interpretation of factors in increasing their information content and variance (Gefen and Straub 2005).

	Indicator	Loading	AVE	Cronbachs Alpha
I post my opinions on Google ⁺ to earn respect from others	IMG1	0.90	0.84	0.91
I post my opinions on Google ⁺ to improve my reputation.	IMG 2	0.95		
I feel that participation improve my status on Google ⁺ .	IMG 3	0.90		
I find posting in Google ⁺ interesting.	INT1	0.96	0.92	0.91
It is fun to post in Google ⁺ .	INT2	0.96		
When I post on Google ⁺ , I lose my unique value in the organisation.	LOKP1	0.90	0.89	0.94
Posting on Google ⁺ makes me lose the value of my knowledge that makes me stand out with respect to others.	LOKP2	0.96		
Posting on Google ⁺ makes me lose my power base in the organisation	LOKP3	0.96	-	
For me, just reading/browsing on Google ⁺ is	FUL1	0.85	0.84	0.91
I feel reading adequately meets my purpose for using Google ⁺	FUL2	0.95		
By just reading, I feel my reasons for using Google ⁺ are adequately met.	FUL3	0.95		
During the past month, How many posts created by others did you comment on on Coorda ⁺²	UseComm*	0.86	0.79	0.87
During the past month, How many posts did you create on Google ⁺ ?	UseCreate*	0.91		
I post or comment on Google ⁺ .	RevPostF	0.90	-	
The information in Google ⁺ promotional	AO 1	0.93	0.86	0.92
messages is informative				
The information in Google ⁺ promotional messages is valuable	AQ 2	0.94		
The information in Google ⁺ promotional messages is persuasive	AQ 3	0.91		
the person who usually sends these messages is trustworthy.	SC1	0.87	0.81	0.92
is credible	SC2	0.93		
is experienced on Google ⁺ .	SC3	0.93		
appears to be an expert on Google ⁺ .	SC4	0.87		
With the Social Media Policy, I believe that I am protected from any misuse by others (e.g., improper content, bullying, and harassment)	Pol1	0.85	0.75	0.92
I believe that the Social Media Policy is an effective way to protect the Google ⁺	Pol2	0.05		
communities from any misuse such as posts that have improper content, bullying, harassment.		0.89	-	
I feel confident that the Social Media Policy reflects the organisation's commitment to	Pol3			
protect the Google communities from any misuse by others (e.g., improper content,		0.97		
Dunying, and narassment).	Do14	0.87	-	
I believe that the Social Media Policy is an	P014			
Google ⁺		0.88		
The organisation's Social Media Policy has an	Pol5	0.00	1	
understandable, written sequence of steps that		0.84		

Table 5.3 Item and construct statistics

could be followed to ensure the best use of						
Google ⁺						
If I do not post on Google ⁺ for one month, I am	N-VMP1		0.60	0.82		
required to explain why		0.61				
There are rules that require employees to post	N-VMP2					
about certain tasks on Google ⁺		0.68				
I believe that my annual evaluation report (or	N-VMP3					
Performance Planning and Review) takes into						
account my posting activities on Google ⁺		0.79				
Overall, I believe it is required that I regularly	N-VMP4					
post on Google⁺		0.97				
My supervisor suggests that I participate in the	VMP1		0.81	0.77		
Google ⁺		0.88				
I believe the organisation's management would	VMP2					
like me to participate in the Google ⁺		0.92				
* Normalized using a log10 transformation.						
Image (IMG), Intrinsic interest (INT), Fulfillment (FUL), Loss of knowledge power (LOKP) Argument quality						
(AQ),Source credibility (SC), Verbal management pre	ssure(VMP), No	n-verbal man	agement pre	essure (Non-		
VMP), Social media policy effectiveness (SMP).						

Table 5.4 Correlation of constructs

	AQ	IMG	INT	LOKP	FUL	Non- VMP	Part.	Pol	SC	VMP
AQ	0.93									
IMG	0.12	0.92								
INT	0.27	0.45	0.96							
LOKP	0.11	0.20	-0.07	0.94						
FUL	0.15	0.24	0.23	0.15	0.92					
NonVMP	0.03	0.25	0.05	0.24	-0.05	0.77				
Part.	0.11	0.36	0.49	-0.11	-0.06	0.19	0.89			
Pol	0.27	0.22	0.41	-0.10	0.22	-0.01	0.16	0.87		
SC	0.63	0.12	0.32	-0.04	0.11	-0.01	0.18	0.29	0.90	
VMP	0.16	0.32	0.30	0.00	0.10	0.22	0.28	0.33	0.19	0.90
Image (IMG), Intrinsic interest (INT), Fulfillment (FUL), Loss of knowledge power (LOKP) Argument quality										
(AQ), Source credibility (SC), Verbal management pressure(VMP), Non-verbal management pressure (Non-										
VMP), Social	l media p	olicy effe	ctiveness	(SMP),Par	ticipation	(Part)				

	40	IMG	INIT	LOVD	EIII	Non- VMP	Dort	Pol	SC	VMD
AO1	0.93	0.08	0.29	0.05	0.14	0.01	0.11	0.26	0.63	0.17
AQ2	0.93	0.08	0.23	0.03	0.14	0.01	0.09	0.20	0.05	0.17
A03	0.91	0.00	0.23	0.12	0.12	0.05	0.11	0.23	0.56	0.12
IMG1	0.13	0.90	0.35	0.26	0.23	0.19	0.29	0.23	0.06	0.28
IMG2	0.11	0.95	0.42	0.18	0.21	0.25	0.35	0.17	0.08	0.30
IMG3	0.09	0.90	0.47	0.12	0.23	0.24	0.33	0.22	0.17	0.32
INT1	0.25	0.42	0.96	-0.07	0.24	0.05	0.46	0.40	0.30	0.30
INT2	0.26	0.45	0.96	-0.06	0.20	0.05	0.48	0.38	0.32	0.27
LOKP1	0.09	0.17	-0.08	0.90	0.13	0.24	-0.10	-0.09	-0.01	-0.01
LOKP2	0.11	0.21	-0.06	0.96	0.15	0.23	-0.11	-0.08	-0.04	0.03
LOKP3	0.11	0.18	-0.06	0.96	0.15	0.22	-0.10	-0.11	-0.06	-0.01
FUL1	0.05	0.13	0.04	0.16	0.85	-0.07	-0.15	0.13	0.01	0.06
FUL 2	0.16	0.22	0.26	0.11	0.95	-0.07	-0.05	0.23	0.14	0.11
FUL 3	0.18	0.28	0.26	0.16	0.95	0.00	0.00	0.22	0.11	0.11
Non_VMP1	-0.04	0.14	-0.06	0.24	-0.04	0.61	0.03	-0.11	-0.13	0.02
Non_VMP2	-0.03	0.12	-0.03	0.25	0.01	0.68	0.05	-0.06	-0.10	0.10
Non_VMP3	0.00	0.22	0.03	0.21	-0.01	0.79	0.06	0.00	0.00	0.17
Non_VMP4	0.06	0.24	0.08	0.20	-0.06	0.97	0.24	0.01	0.03	0.25
Pol1	0.20	0.23	0.37	-0.10	0.18	-0.04	0.17	0.85	0.24	0.25
Pol2	0.21	0.17	0.31	-0.09	0.16	-0.05	0.08	0.89	0.23	0.26
Pol3	0.22	0.12	0.32	-0.15	0.19	-0.09	0.09	0.87	0.24	0.26
Pol4	0.29	0.23	0.38	-0.06	0.19	0.04	0.19	0.88	0.31	0.30
Pol5	0.22	0.20	0.38	-0.03	0.22	0.07	0.15	0.84	0.25	0.35
SC1	0.53	0.09	0.28	-0.07	0.04	-0.03	0.14	0.26	0.87	0.14
SC2	0.60	0.13	0.31	-0.05	0.10	0.00	0.18	0.27	0.93	0.20
SC3	0.61	0.09	0.28	-0.04	0.11	0.01	0.16	0.28	0.93	0.18
SC4	0.50	0.10	0.28	-0.01	0.14	-0.01	0.15	0.25	0.87	0.17
UseCommLG	0.11	0.27	0.41	0.12	0.02	0.00	0.96	0.12	0.16	0.10
10 UseCreateLG	0.11	0.27	0.41	-0.12	-0.02	0.09	0.80	0.15	0.10	0.19
10	0.09	0.36	0.46	-0.10	-0.09	0.19	0.91	0.14	0.14	0.27
RevPostF	0.10	0.32	0.44	-0.08	-0.04	0.23	0.90	0.17	0.17	0.28
VMP1	0.20	0.30	0.27	0.01	0.04	0.23	0.23	0.27	0.21	0.88
VMP2	0.10	0.29	0.27	-0.01	0.14	0.18	0.28	0.32	0.15	0.92
Image (IMG),	Intrinsic	interest	(INT), F	Fulfillme	nt (FUL)	, Loss of	fknowle	dge pow	er (LOK	P)
Argument qua	lity (AQ), Sourc	e credibi	ility (SC)	,Verbal	manager	nent pres	ssure(VN	AP), Nor	1-
verbal management pressure (Non-VMP), Social media policy (SMP), Participation (Part).										

Table 5.5 Cross loading

5.5 Proposition Testing

Having established the reliability and validity of the constructs, the next step in the data analysis design was testing the proposed model and the four propositions as presented in Chapter 3:

Proposition 1 – Perceived extrinsic and intrinsic benefits and costs will impact ESN participation behaviour, such that the perceived extrinsic cost of loss of knowledge power and the perceived intrinsic cost of fulfilment will encourage lurking behaviour and the perceived extrinsic benefit of image and the perceived intrinsic benefit of intrinsic interest will encourage posting behaviour.

Proposition 2 – The argument quality in promotional messages and the credibility of their source will impact users' perceived benefits (i.e., image, intrinsic interest) and costs (i.e., loss of knowledge power, fulfilment) of participation in the ESN, and such impact will differ across lurkers and posters.

Proposition 3 – The verbal management pressure and non-verbal management pressure (rules) will impact ESN participation behaviour, and such impact will differ across lurkers and posters.

Proposition 4 – The effectiveness of the SMP will impact users' perceived benefits (i.e., image, intrinsic interest) and costs (i.e., loss of knowledge power, fulfilment) of participation in the ESN, and such impact will differ across lurkers and posters.

The strategy for proposition testing was as follows:

- First, using the PLS technique of SEM (Hair Jr et al. 2013) in the SmartPLS 3 software, a structural model corresponding to the proposed model (Chapter 3) was estimated. For all the proposed paths, the standardised path coefficients and path significance were examined. The variance explained (R2) of the proposed model was also provided⁴.
- In the second round of analysis, posters versus lurkers were examined in particular. Two post-hoc analyses were performed: one logistic binary regression (Pallant 2013) (using SPSS 22.0 software) and one MGA (Rigdon et al. 2010) of the structural model (using SmartPLS 3 software).

Table 5.6 summarises the details of the proposition testing conducted in this study. The following sub-sections report on each test in turn.

⁴ Following the detailed recommendations by MacKenzie et al. (2011) for testing the standardised path coefficients, path significance and variance explained (R2)

Obj	jective	Test	Sample (size)
del Evaluation	 To examine the influence of the four motivations for users' participation (Image, Intrinsic interest, Loss of knowledge power, Fulfilment) on users' participation (Proposition 1). The Verbal and Non-verbal management pressureon users' participation (Proposition 3). 	Bootstrapping procedure to test the standardised path coefficients and path significance	All groups: n=366
Structural mo	 To examine the influence of the quality of promotional message arguments and the credibility of the promotional message source on the four motivations (Proposition 2). To examine the influence of the effectiveness of the SMP on the four motivations (Proposition 4). 	As above	For promotional messages, all groups: n=130 * For SMP, all groups: n=366
versus lurkers	 To compare the influence (the likelihood) of the four motivations on posting/lurking. To compare the influence (the likelihood) of the management pressure techniques on posting/lurking. 	Stepwise binary logistic regressions	Posters (212) Lurkers (78)
nparing posters	To compare the significance of the path coefficient differences between lurkers and posters in the relationships of: - The arguments quality and the source credibility of promotional message on	Multi-group analysis	For promotional messages, Posters (109)* Lurkers (21)*
Con * On	 the four motivations The effectiveness of the SMP on the four motivations Iv members who had experience with promised in the second seco	notional messages	For SMP, Posters (212) Lurkers (78)

Table 5.6 Propositions testing summary

5.5.1 Evaluating the structural model

This step involved the estimation of the structural model. Consistent with the study's propositions, the structural model included the paths between:

- **A.** all four motivations (i.e., image, intrinsic interest, loss of knowledge power and fulfilment) and the dependent variable, ESN participation (Proposition 1)
- **B.** the management pressure constructs (verbal & non-verbal management pressure) and the dependent variable, ESN participation (Proposition 3)
- **C.** the promotional message constructs (argument quality, source credibility) and all four motivations (Proposition 2)
- **D.** and finally, the SMP effectiveness and all four motivations (Proposition 4).

The proposed model is large and its evaluation used different tests. The test used to examine the relative importance of the four motivations on the binary posting/lurking variable (i.e. logistic binary regression) was different from the test used to examine the paths' coefficients and significance of argument quality, source credibility and SMP effectiveness on all four motivations. In addition, for Path C, a small sample size of those who had received and experienced promotional messages (130 members out of 366) was used to examine the impact of argument quality and source credibility on all four motivations. This made it difficult to test the model as a whole. Thus, the structural model was partitioned into two parts: the first model evaluated Paths A and B (Figure 5.2) while the second model evaluated Paths C and D (Figure 5.3). Partitioning large and complex structural models for analysis is a common practice in data analysis (e.g. Beck et al. (2014) and Wiertz et al. (2007)).

To test these paths and determine their significance, the bootstrapping technique of 1000 re-sampling in PLS was applied following the recommendations by Wetzels et al. (2009) (to use a sample size of at least 500). The results on the standardised path coefficients and path significances are presented in turn. Overall, the model accounted for 34 % of the variance in participation.





Motivations and management pressure to participate in the ESN (Paths A and B)

After examining the impact of extrinsic and intrinsic benefits and costs on users' participation (Proposition 1), image and intrinsic interest (the perceived extrinsic and intrinsic benefits, respectively) were found to have a significant positive impact on participation (encouraging posting), Moreover, loss of knowledge power and fulfilment (the perceived extrinsic and intrinsic costs, respectively) were found to have a significant negative impact on participation (encouraging lurking) (refer to Table 5.7).

To examine whether management pressure constructs influenced users' participation (Proposition 3), the data analysis tested the two paths of verbal management pressure and non-verbal management pressure on the dependent variable of ESN participation. Both verbal management pressure and non-verbal management pressure were found to have a significant positive impact on users' participation (refer to Table 5.7).

Proposition-1	Results				
IMG => Participation	$\beta = 0.170^{***}$				
INT => Participation	$\beta = 0.386^{***}$				
LOKP => Participation	$\beta = (-) 0.124 **$				
FUL => Participation	$\beta = (-) 0.172 **$				
Proposition-3					
VMP => Participation	$\beta = 0.096*$				
Non-VMP => Participation	$\beta = 0.127*$				
(Participation $R^2 = 0.339$)					
*** p<0.001, ** p<0.01 , * p<0.05					
Shaded cells indicate significant path coefficients and differences.					
Image (IMG), Intrinsic interest (INT), Fulfilment (FUL),					
Loss of knowledge power (LOKP), Verbal management pressure(VMP),					
Non-verbal management pressure (Non-VMI	P)				

Table 5.7 Proposition 1 and 3 - Testing for all groups (n=366)

Promotional messages and SMP on users' motivation to participate in the ESN (Paths C and D)

To examine whether promotional messages influence the four motivations to participate (Proposition 2), the data analysis tested hypothesized paths between argument quality and source credibility of these messages vs members' perceived image, intrinsic interest, loss of knowledge power and fulfilment. This analysis used a subsample of 130 members (out of 366), namely, those who had received and experienced promotional messages. Altogether, four of the eight relationships were found to be significant. Argument quality was found to have a significant positive impact on members' perceived cost (loss of knowledge power) and members' perceived benefits (intrinsic interest), while source credibility was found to have a significant positive impact on members' perceived benefits (intrinsic interest) but a negative impact on members' perceived costs (loss of knowledge power) (refer to Table 5.8).

In relation to the influence of SMP effectiveness on the four motivations to participate (Proposition 4), similarly, the data analysis tested all possible paths of the SMP effectiveness vs members' perceived image, intrinsic interest, loss of knowledge power and perceived fulfilment. The four relationships were found to be significant (refer to Table 5.8). The next section provides details of the comparison between the poster and lurker user groups.

Proposition-2 (n	Results					
AQ =>	IMG	$\beta = 0.125$				
	INT	$\beta = 0.206^*$				
	LOKP	$\beta = 0.364^{***}$				
	FUL	$\beta = 0.228$				
SC =>	IMG	$\beta = 0.128$				
	INT	$\beta = 0.427^{***}$				
	LOKP	$\beta = (-) 0.286^{**}$				
	FUL	$\beta = 0.099$				
Proposition-4 (n	=366)					
SMP =>	IMG	$\beta = 0.207^{***}$				
	INT	$\beta = 0.340^{***}$				
	LOKP	$\beta = (-) 0.116^*$				
	FUL	$\beta = 0.194^{***}$				
(Participation $R^2 = 0.34$) *** $p < 0.001$, ** $p < 0.01$, * $p < 0.05$						
Shaded cells indicat	Shaded cells indicate significant path coefficients and differences.					
Image (IMG), Intrinsic interest (INT), Fulfilment (FUL),						
Loss of knowledge	power (LOKP) Ar	gument quality (AQ),				
Source credibility (SC),Social media	policy effectiveness (SMP)				

Table 5.8 Proposition 2 and 4 - Testing for all groups

5.5.2 Comparing posters and lurkers

The second round of analysis sought to differentiate posters and lurkers and their motivations. As explained earlier (refer to Section 2.3.1 for more detail in lurking definition), lurkers were those who did not create any content in the last month, while the posters were those members who posted or commented at least once in the last month. The sample comprised 78 lurkers and 288 posters (see Section 5.3 for details). However, out of the total number of posters (288), there were 76 who only commented once but did not post in the last month. Similar to previous research (e.g., Hung et al. (2015) and Rau et al. (2008)), care was taken to clearly

^a those who had received and experienced promotional messages

distinguish the lurker and poster user groups; therefore, the statistical analysis did not consider those 76 respondents as posters. For this phase of the data analysis, 78 lurkers and 212 posters were identified.

Motivations and management pressure on posting/lurking behaviours

Using the binary variable of poster/lurker, a stepwise binary logistic regression (Pallant 2013) was performed using SPSS 22.0 software to examine the relative importance of: (i) the four motivations (i.e., image and intrinsic interest as benefits, and loss of knowledge power and fulfilment as costs) to posting/lurking behaviour, and (ii) verbal management pressure and non-verbal management pressure to posting/lurking behaviour.

The analysis used the composite scores of the four motivations and management pressure techniques as the independent variables and the binary posting/lurking as the dependent variable. Table 5.9 summarises the results. The Hosmer–Lemeshow goodness-of-fit test showed that the regression model was significantly better at determining posting/lurking than random chance. The fit results were acceptable (Hosmer et al. 2000). Aligning with Proposition 1, the extrinsic and intrinsic benefits (image, intrinsic interest) were significant predictors of posting, while the extrinsic and intrinsic costs (fulfilment, loss of knowledge power) were significant predictors of lurking. However, in relation to Proposition 3, only verbal management pressure was shown to have significant influence on posting while non-verbal management pressure did not significantly influence posting/lurking behaviour.

Motivations	Beta	SE	Wald	Sig.	Exp (B)		
IMG	0.353	0.115	9.481	0.002	1.424		
INT	0.647	0.132	24.185	0.000	1.910		
LOKP	(-)0.355	0.124	8.171	0.004	0.701		
FUL	(-)0.323	0.124	6.805	0.009	0.724		
Management Pressure							
Non-VMP	0.160	0.125	1.646	0.199	1.173		
VMP	0.277	0.101	7.553	0.006	1.319		
Model fit on posting/lurking: (-2 Log Likelihood = 246.041),(Cox & Snell $R^2 = 0.271$),(Nagelkerke $R^2 = 0.394$) The Hosmer-Lemeshow goodness-of-fit (chi-square, p) = (6.888, p = 0.549)							
(mage (IMG), Intrinsic interest (INT), Fulfilment (FUL), Loss of knowledge power (LOKP), Verbal management pressure (VMP), Non-verbal management pressure (Non-VMP)							

Table 5.9 Stepwise binary logistic regressions (Lurkers n = 78 & Posters (n=212))

Multi-group analysis

The data analysis then compared the significance of the path coefficient differences among the lurker and poster user groups in the structural model. To that end, an MGA (Henseler 2010; Rigdon et al. 2010) was run to perform a pair-wise comparison of the bootstrap estimates for the overall structural model. A similar approach was used by Teo et al. (2014) and Recker et al. (2012). Before that, all the measurement properties for both the lurker (78) and poster (212) samples were re-examined. The SC1 loaded only 0.39 in the lurker sample (78). It was decided to eliminate Item SC1. Otherwise, all the construct validity and reliability criteria were met in both samples.

The analysis of the promotional messages used a subsample of 130 members (out of 366), namely, those who had received and experienced promotional messages. This subsample comprised 21 lurkers and 109 posters. Because of the size of the subsamples, two separate MGA of the structural model were run: one for argument quality and one for source credibility⁵. Table 5.10 summarises the results. In line with the expectations in Proposition 2, the impact of argument quality and source credibility on all four motivations was different between the posters and lurkers. Furthermore, the impact difference was sometimes significant. Likewise, an MGA of the structural model was run for SMP effectiveness. In line with the expectations in Proposition 4, the impact of the SMP on all four motivations was different between the posters and lurkers. However, the impact difference was not significant.

Argument quality and source credibility had a mixed impact on image, intrinsic interest, fulfillment, and loss of knowledge power across the lurkers and posters. In the lurker group, argument quality significantly increased image, fulfillment, and loss of knowledge power, while source credibility only increased lurkers' perceived image and fulfillment. In the poster group, argument quality and source credibility significantly increased the posters' perceived intrinsic interest. The difference in the impact of argument quality on image and on fulfillment was found to be significant (p=0.03, and 0.008, respectively), while the rest were not significant. On the other hand, the differences in the impact of source credibility on image and on fulfillment

⁵ Before that, the measurement properties were examined, and all the construct validity and reliability criteria were met in both samples. Note that because of the small sample size of lurkers (21) and posters (109) in the AQ and SC analysis, each path was examined separately (AQ to IMG, AQ to INT, etc.)

were significant (p=0.02 and p=0.002, respectively), while the impact of source credibility on intrinsic interest and on loss of knowledge power was not significantly different (refer to Table 5.10).

Similar to the source credibility and argument quality impact, SMP also had a mixed impact on image, intrinsic interest, loss of knowledge power and fulfilment across the lurkers and posters (refer to Table 5.10). The next section provides a discussion of the results.

		Lurkers	Posters	Lurkers	
Propositions =>	>	(n = 21)	(n = 109)	VS	
		$\beta =$	β =	Posters	
AQ	IMG	0.463**	0.133	0.033*	
	INT	0.237	0.485***	0.812	
	LOKP	0.398*	0.163	0.112	
	FUL	0.668***	0.243	0.008**	
SC	IMG	0.549**	0.135	0.028*	
	INT	0.421	0.556***	0.669	
	LOKP	0.242	(-)0.109	0.127	
	FUL	0.815***	0.226	0.002**	
Propositions ->		Lurkers	Posters		
FTOPOSITIONS	>	(n = 78)	(n = 212)		
SMP	IMG	0.229	0.236***	0.417	
	INT	0.474***	0.434***	0.351	
	LOKP	0.058	(-)0.067	0.264	
	FUL	0.315***	0.220***	0.180	
*** p<0.001, ** p	<0.01, * p<0.05				
Shaded cells indicate significant path coefficients and differences. Image (IMG), Intrinsic					
interest (INT), Fulfilment (FUL), Loss of knowledge power (LOKP), Argument quality					
(AQ), Source credibility (SC), Social media policy effectiveness (SMP)					

Fable	5.10	Multi-91	roup ana	lvsis	results
auto	5.10	iviuiu-gi	oup ana	19515	resuits

5.6 Discussion

All the propositions relating to the research model of the four motivations to participate (or not participate) in ESNs and the influence of three organisational interventions on these motivations and participation behaviours were supported. This demonstrates the general viability of the proposed model in: (i) explaining the cost and beneficial determinants of lurking/posting behaviour; and (ii) validating whether the already-implemented interventions improve users' beliefs or, worse, turn off posters' willingness to participate in an ESN.

Overall, the research model explained 34% of users' participation behaviour. Although the variance may not be very high, it is close to previous studies based on social exchange theory (e.g., 40% in Hung et al. (2011) and 40% in Chen et al. (2010)) and extrinsic and intrinsic motivation (e.g., 44% in (Lai et al. 2014) and 26%

in (Marett et al. 2009)). Furthermore, it is important to highlight that all the respondents were employees of the case organisation with experience in using Google⁺ (the firm's ESN) of at least 9.71 months and 86% of them used Google⁺ for work-related matters. Both communities from which data was collected were active communities, with 79% of members reporting that they visited their online community at least once a day. This indicates that the collected data was sufficient and appropriate because it was sourced from experienced users of an ESN.

Contrary to the general notion in the literature on online communities (Lai & Chen 2014; Malinen 2015) that lurkers comprise the largest user group (e.g., the "90–9–1" principle of collaborative websites (Arthur 2006)), we identified only 78 of all 366 participants as lurkers (21.3%). The reasons behind the low number of lurkers are: (i) context-wise, the study collected data from organisationally-bound, private networks in which all members are identifiable; thus, the characteristics of this user group are different from the characteristics of the user groups in previous studies (e.g., Preece et al. (2004)) that investigated public online forums (where the number of members is massive and lurkers can be unidentifiable); (ii) as discussed above in Section 5.3, the average number of posts and comments per month in the two Google⁺ communities from which we solicited our data was 5.99 and 8.86, respectively; this demonstrates the high level of activities in these communities, as more members participate; and (iii) it was expected that fewer lurkers would respond to the online survey because "it is their nature not to actively participate, as has been found with other online surveys targeting lurkers" (Ridings et al. 2006, p. 339). Nevertheless, the number of lurkers in the present study is comparable to the number of lurkers in previous surveys on lurking (e.g., 7.7% in Ridings et al. (2006), 12.2% in Petrovčič and Petrič (2014) and 34.7% in Andrews et al. (2003)).

This section sets out to discuss the findings on users' motivations for posting and lurking behaviours in ESNs (Proposition 1) and the influence of three interventions, namely, promotional messages (Proposition 2), management pressure (Proposition 3) and SMP (Proposition 4) on users' motivations and behaviours. A detailed discussion of the insights gained into the four propositions to address the research questions is presented next.

5.6.1 Explaining users' motivations to post (or lurk) in the ESN

The study's first proposition and its findings are summarised in Table 5.11. The research findings provide full support for Proposition 1 by revealing that the extrinsic and intrinsic benefits (image and intrinsic interest, respectively) are significant predictors of posting, while the intrinsic and extrinsic costs (fulfilment and loss of knowledge power, respectively) are significant predictors of lurking.

Propostions-1	Relevant empirical results
Perceived extrinsic and intrinsic benefits and costs will impact ESN participation behaviour, such that the perceived extrinsic cost of loss of knowledge power (LOKP) and the perceived intrinsic cost of fulfilment (FUL) will encourage lurking behaviour and the perceived extrinsic benefit of image (IMG) and the perceived intrinsic benefit of intrinsic interest (INT) will encourage posting behaviour	 IMG (β=0.353, p=0.002) was the most important extrinsic predictor of participation; and INT (β=0.647, p=0.000) was the most important intrinsic predictor of participation. Lurking was motivated by high levels of the perceived extrinsic cost LOKP and the perceived intrinsic cost FUL. Posting was motivated by high levels of the perceived extrinsic benefit IMG and the perceived intrinsic benefit INT.

Table 5.11 Proposition-1 and results

In relation to the two beneficial motivations of participation – perceived image (IMG) and perceived intrinsic interest (INT) – INT was found to be the most important predictor of posting in an ESN. Users with higher perceptions of INT were more likely to post. In fact, the likelihood was almost double. As illustrated in Table 5.9, for each point of increase in INT, the likelihood of posting increased from 1.0 to 1.910 when the other covariates were held constant. This finding confirms the study's argument about the importance of intrinsic determinants in explaining voluntary users' participation even in a work setting (Chapter 3, Section 3.3.1.3). The results are in line with previous research that found intrinsic values to have a greater impact on encouraging system use (Beaudry et al. 2010), particularly when the technology use is voluntary in nature (Webster et al. 1992).

The second important predictor of posting behaviour was an extrinsic factor. As expected, IMG was a positive and significant determinant of posting behaviour. Although it was not a strong predictor of posting behaviour as INT, nevertheless, for each point of increase in IMG, the likelihood of posting increased from 1.0 to 1.424 when the other covariates were held constant (refer to Table 5.9). These findings are consistent with previous research (e.g., Kügler et al. (2015a) and Wasko et al. (2005)) that found IMG to be a significant predictor of participation in professional practice communities.

On the other hand, the two proposed cost factors of participation, namely, loss of knowledge power (LOKP) and perceived fulfilment (FUL), had a significant negative effect on participation and therefore motivated users to lurk instead. As

previously argued (Chapter 3, Section 3.3.1.2), the cost factor of LOKP could significantly hinder users' participation particularly in today's competitive work environments as users could be afraid that contributing may lead to the loss of their unique value (i.e. their knowledge) (Cabrera et al. 2002; Ding et al. 2014). Contrary to Kankanhalli et al. (2005) who found no significant association between LOKP and knowledge contribution, the analysis in the present study found LOKP to have a significant negative correlation with users' participation, suggesting that the perceived extrinsic cost of LOKP is an important determinant of lurking behaviour in ESNs. The analysis revealed that, for each point of increase in LOKP, the likelihood of posting decreased from 1.0 to 0.701 when the other covariates were held constant (refer to Table 5.9). This suggests that users are unwilling to post about their experience as they think that sharing their knowledge could compromise their competitive advantage.

The newly proposed construct of FUL was found to have a significant negative correlation with users' participation; thus, making FUL a key predictor of lurking behaviour. Similar findings are reported in the literature on lurking, particularly the finding by Preece and Nonnecke (2000; 2001; 2004) that "just reading/browsing is enough" was the most frequently cited reason for low levels of user participation in public bulletin board communities. Furthermore, the findings in the present study extrapolate, for the first time, the extent of the influence of this reason. In support of the claim made in this study (Chapter 3, Section 3.3.1.4), perceived fulfilment was found to be a key reason for lurking in ESNs. Similar to the association between LOKP and users' participation, the likelihood of posting decreased from 1.0 to 0.724 for each point of increase in FUL assuming all other covariates were held constant (refer to Table 5.9). This finding suggests that users are unwilling to post when they feel their needs for using the ESN are fulfilled through reading only. Overall, these findings support the proposition that FUL and LOKP are key reasons for lurking in ESNs.

In summary, these results suggest that:

I. Participation behaviour is a dual factor concept with the opposite ends of the continuum being influenced by orthogonal antecedents. In other words, users' motivations to post are different from their motivations to lurk.

- II. ESNs are generally perceived as systems for work-related activities; however, users' participation was provoked by a mix of extrinsic and intrinsic factors. This suggests that users' motivations are not mutually exclusive because users also perceive the ESN as a social entertainment actor. As categorised by Wu et al. (2013), social networking technologies have the dual-purpose nature of improving productivity and providing entertainment.
- III. The investigation of both beneficial and cost factors provides a fuller picture of why users either lurk or post in online communities. Taking a purely positive approach and examining only beneficial motivations will leave the behaviour of the largest user group in any online community (i.e., lurkers) undiscovered.
- IV. While the findings in previous studies on the effect of image on users' participation in professional online communities are mixed (Lai et al. 2014), the findings in the present study suggest that image has a significant positive impact on users' willingness to participate in ESNs.
- V. The influence of the beneficial factors of image (IMG) and intrinsic interest (INT) on content creation can be extended to the ESN context. IMG ($\beta = 0.353$, p = 0.002) and INT ($\beta = 0.647$, p = 0.000) were significant predictors of participation. This is in line with findings in the literature that IMG and INT significantly impacted knowledge creation in professional online communities (e.g., He et al. (2009) and Shin et al. (2007)).
- VI. It is difficult to overcome self-interest factors (LOKP). The literature suggests that the cost factor of LOKP hinders users' participation (e.g., Huang et al. (2008) and Kankanhalli et al. (2005)), and LOKP is indeed a significant barrier to participation in ESNs ($\beta = (-)0.355$, p = 0.004). However, the participation of and feedback from management representatives, experienced staff members (well known for their academic or professional expertise) and ESN community managers could create a cooperative environment that eases users' concerns about losing their knowledge.
- VII. The results of the newly proposed cost factor (FUL) suggest that the referent construct is not only conceptually relevant (refer to Section 4.2.1.4), but also empirically relevant to the problem of ESN participation (lurking). Users are less likely to contribute when they believe that the reading activity itself is sufficient and meaningful on its own ($\beta = (-)0.323$, p = 0.009). A possible

strategy to change such a perception is the implementation of extensive campaigns to: (a) show that their voices are important and necessary for these communities to survive, and (b) raise awareness of the value of the strong norm of reciprocity in the collective.

VIII. Social exchange theory is an appropriate theoretical lens to explain the cost and beneficial factors that motivate posting and lurking behaviours.

Thus, the results of the data analysis are able to address the first research objective and support the claim that these four motivations are among the key drivers for lurking and posting behaviours in an ESN. Particularly, the results extend the view of the importance of cost factors in explaining lurking behaviour in these platforms.

5.6.2 Explaining the role of organisational interventions on users' motivations across poster and lurker user groups

Promotional messages

The second proposition explores how the four motivations are influenced by the argument quality and the source credibility of the promotional messages sent by management to influence ESN participation. Proposition 2 and its findings are summarised in Table 5.12. The findings were in some cases contradictory to the results that ESN managers may hope for.

Proposition 2		Relevant empirical results	
	•	In all groups, AQ significantly increased	
The argument quality in promotional		users' perceived benefit of INT and their	
messages and the credibility of their		perceived cost of LOKP while SC	
source will impact users' perceived		significantly increased users' perceived	
benefits (i.e. image, intrinsic interest)		benefit of INT but decreased users'	
and costs (i.e. loss of knowledge		perceived cost of LOKP.	
power, fulfilment) of participation in	•	In the lurker group, AQ significantly	
the ESN, and such impact will differ		increased lurkers' perceived cost of FUL	
across lurkers and posters.		and LOKP as well as their perceived benefit	
		of IMG. The SC, on the other hand,	
		significantly increased users' perceived cost	
		of FUL and their perceived benefit of IMG.	
	•	In the poster group, AQ and SC	
		significantly increased posters' perceived	
		benefit INT.	

In the all-group analysis, the results suggest that promotional messages may have impacts that contradict the intended effect. After examining all the possible paths of influence from argument quality (AQ) to all four motivations, two significant paths of influence were found. First, the AQ significantly increased users' perceived

benefit of INT as users became more animated and excited to participate to satisfy their pleasure needs. Previous research suggests that the articulation of the values of participation in online communities is an effective way to encourage participation (Yuan et al. 2013). Second, contrary to the outcome hoped for by ESN community managers, AQ was found to significantly increase users' perceived cost of LOKP. A possible explanation for this result is that when members perceive the content of promotional messages to be of great value (informative, valuable and persuasive), users may wonder why (despite all these good functionalities) others are not engaging, which in turn may lead to perceptions of fear of losing their knowledge. The literature on knowledge exchange among organisational employees suggests that when an employee realises that "no one else or very few others contributing, [he or she] will be saving a wasted contribution" (Cabrera et al. 2002, p. 693); therefore, not contributing will be the dominant strategy for that employee.

The examination of all possible paths of influence from source credibility (SC) to the four motivations revealed two significant paths. Fortunately, a higher perception of source credibility is good news to ESN community managers. SC significantly increased users' perceived benefit of INT and decreased users' perceived cost of LOKP. The results indicate that when credible users (or experts) send promotional messages: (1) members may think that if experts rally for the ESN and are not afraid of sharing, it should be okay to participate (decreased LOKP), and (2) members become even more excited to participate (increased INT). The finding on the decrease in users' perception of LOKP when they have a high perception of the source characteristics is echoed in the literature on knowledge creation. For example, according to (Renzl 2008, p. 210), "an individual's faith in another's benevolence and integrity increases that individual's willingness to take risks by cooperating and sharing valuable knowledge with others".

Promotional messages are usually designed to target the lurker user group. This study's analysis of the lurker group showed that AQ and SC significantly increased lurkers' perceived benefit of IMG while AQ significantly increased lurkers' perceived cost of LOKP and – along with SC – lurkers' perceived cost of FUL. With regard to IMG, the results indicate that the content of these messages and the source characteristics of these messages help to allow lurkers to recognise more image enhancement benefits from participation. This is consistent with the findings in

previous research (e.g.,(Cabrera et al. 2002)) that sending a clear message about the importance of an individual's participation would increase their perception of the values gained from participation.

An explanation of the effect of AQ on lurkers' perceived LOKP is similar to the explanation provided earlier in regard to the all-group analysis. Furthermore, a possible interpretation of the unexpected effect of AQ and SC on lurkers' perceived FUL is that, when lurkers perceive the content of promotional messages to be of great value and see it being promoted by important people in the organisation, they might find it too "risky" to post content in the community. The literature on online behaviours emphasises that one of the main reasons for not participating in virtual communities is the user's fear of "making a fool of oneself, either because of language issues - in other words, the fear of misspelling or misinterpreting the contents of the article [post] - or because of the fact that their comment would be visible to the whole organization" (Marten et al. 2011, p. 20). Because promotional messages convey, among other things, that the content of posts would be visible to the whole organisation, this may intensify users' fear of participation and, therefore, make them feel more comfortable to only read others' posts.

Although the poster group analysis showed that the posters were less influenced by promotional messages, the results provide better news to ESN community managers compared to the results of the previous group analysis (the lurkers group). After examining all the possible paths of influence from AQ and SC to all four motivations, it was found that AQ and SC significantly increased posters' perceived benefit of INT. In line with the expectations of community managers, these results suggest that the AQ and SC of promotional messages interest or excite posters to be more enthusiastic to post. Previous ELM studies have validated the positive influence of the AQ and SC of certain strategies (e.g., training, promotional emails) on the beliefs held by users. For example, Sussman and Siegal (2003) demonstrated how the AQ and SC of the promotional emails received by users positively influenced the perceived usefulness of the information in those messages. Yuan et al. (2013) suggest that receiving information from a trusted source can enhance users' perception of participation.

Management pressure

The research findings provide full support for Proposition 3. As summarised in Table 5.13, both verbal management pressure (VMP) and non-verbal management pressure (rules) (non-VMP) positively encouraged participation in the ESN—in about equal proportion. Further, posters and lurkers reacted differently to both types of management pressure. The lurker user group didn't respond to this particular management intervention.

Proposition 3	Relevant empirical results
Verbal management pressure (VMP) and non-verbal management pressure (rules) (non-VMP) will impact ESN participation behaviour, and such impact will differ across lurkers and posters.	 In all groups, VMP (β=0.096) and non-VMP (β=0.127) had a positive significant correlation on users' participation (at significance level of p<0.05). Although VMP and non-VMP encouraged posters to further participate in the ESN, there was no significant correlation in the direct relationship between VMP and non-VMP on lurking behaviour.

Table 5.13 Proposition-3 and results

The positive influence of VMP in encouraging users to further participate in the ESN can be explained by previous studies (e.g., (Brown et al. 2010; Brzozowski et al. 2009; Moon et al. 2008)) that identify managers' influence, suggestions or pressure as an intervention that can facilitate participation in online forums. In addition, the non-VMP or tougher techniques of formal written rules that management exercises to mandate user participation (e.g., a manager mandating that employees must upload presentations and achievements in the ESN) also positively influenced users to further participate in the ESN. This finding is consistent with the work by Boss et al. (2009) on the element of mandatoriness in aligning individual information security behaviour with management expectations. Even though the intended group for VMP and non-VMP was the lurker group, the impact was shown only in the poster group. These results are in line with the descriptive statistics of posters' and lurkers' perception of VMP (refer to Table 5.2) in which the poster group had higher agreement with the VMP and non-VMP statements compared to the lurker group.

IS researchers have argued that "no artificial incentive can ever match the power of intrinsic motivation" (Kohn 1993, p. 7) in (Herath et al. 2009). The literature on lurking (e.g., (Ridings et al. 2006) and (Sun et al. 2014)) suggests that lurkers are

primarily driven by intrinsic motives as well as some aspects of fear (e.g., fear of commitment, fear of loss knowledge, fear of negative behaviour by others) (Sun et al. 2014). As previously explained in the discussion of the results on Proposition 1, lurking is believed to be motivated by high levels of LOKP and FUL. Building on these studies and previous work on self-interest (e.g., De Dreu et al. (2008)), an explanation for lurkers not being impacted by these management pressure techniques is the overwhelming weight of self-interest factors (LOKP and FUL) on lurkers' willingness to participate that, in turn, prevents VMP and non-VMP strategies from influencing the lurker user group. In addition, the literature confirms that individual-level factors are the most consistent predictors of users' behaviours across technologies (Brown et al. 2010; Venkatesh et al. 2008a). It is expected that individual motivators have more immediate impact than management pressure strategies in driving users' behaviour.

Social media policy

The last proposition was fully supported. The examination of all paths of the SMP effectiveness on users' perceived image, intrinsic interest, loss of knowledge power and perceived fulfilment showed that all were significant. The fourth proposition and its findings are summarised in Table 5.14. Similar to the influence of promotional messages, the findings were in some cases contradictory to the results that ESN managers may hope for.

Proposition 4	Relevant empirical results
The effectiveness of the SMP will impact users' perceived benefits (i.e. image (IMG), intrinsic interest (INT)) and costs (i.e. loss of knowledge power (LOKP) and fulfilment (FUL)) of participation in the ESN, and such impact will differ across lurkers and posters.	 In all groups, SMP significantly increased users' perceived benefit of IMG, and INT. The SMP significantly increased users' perceived cost of FUL; however, it decreased users' perceived cost of LOKP. In the poster group, SMP significantly increased posters' perceived benefits IMG and INT and perceived cost FUL. In the lurker group, SMP significantly increased lurkers' perceived cost FUL and benefit INT.

Table 5.14 Proposition-4 and results

Generally speaking, the results from the all-group analysis suggest that SMP effectiveness yields the outcomes that ESN community managers would hope for. After examining all the possible paths of influence from SMP to the four motivations, it was found that the higher the user's perception of the ability of the

SMP to provide guidance and protection from misuse by others, the greater the user's perceived benefits of IMG and INT from participating in the ESN. These results indicate that the guidance on best practices for participation ('know-how' for collaboration, finding solutions, etc.) and the assurances that mitigate any negative aspect of participation (e.g. misuse by others) stimulate users' perceptions that participation in ESNs could: (i) truly enhance an individual's image, and (ii) be interesting and fun. These results are consistent with the findings by Vaast et al. (2013) that corporate SMPs can highlight the capabilities that social networks provide and ultimately reshape employee use of social networks. Also, similar to the explanation above in relation to promotional messages, the articulation of the value of participation in online communities by a trusted source (such as the firm's policy document) can be effective in encouraging users' e-participation (Yuan et al. 2013).

In addition, the higher perception of the SMP was correlated with a significant decrease in users' perceived cost of LOKP. This decrease in users' perceived LOKP possibly occurs because users feel assured by the policy document that: (i) their contribution is organisationally-bound, and cannot be accessed by outsiders, and (ii) other members cannot misuse this information in any form or shape (e.g., leaking information to a public social network). This finding is in agreement with prior research (e.g., (Husin et al. 2011a; Husin et al. 2011b)) that a SMP provides the sense of protection that could mitigate members' fears of any negative behaviour by others. This result also aligns with Xu et al. (2011) findings that consumers' perceived risk of using healthcare websites was significantly mitigated by a higher perception of the effectiveness of privacy policy. However, contrary to what ESN community managers may hope for, the SMP significantly increased users' perceived cost of FUL; this suggests that the SMP made users even more convinced that just reading others' posts is a better choice. Although it is difficult to interpret such result, a possible explanation is that the do and do not policy statements could be intimidating for many, and therefore, users find it risky to post something that other member could misinterpret and perceive as offensive or inappropriate. The poster group analysis yielded similar results to the all-group analysis. The SMP significantly increased posters' perception of IMG, INT and FUL. Although SMP was correlated with a decrease in posters' perceived cost of LOKP, the correlation was not significant. This was the only difference from the all-group analysis.

The lurker group analysis, on the other hand, showed that a higher perception of the SMP was correlated with a significant increase in lurkers' perceived INT and FUL. Similar to the all-group and poster group analysis, the lurkers found participation in the ESN to be more interesting and fun when they perceived the SMP to be effective in providing guidance on best practices as well as in providing protection from any negative behaviour by others. Like the all-group analysis, the SMP did not convince lurkers to favour participation over their temptation to only read others' posts. Rather, it extended their belief that reading others' posts is a better choice.

Synopsis

This study was able to address the second research objective and examine the effectiveness of the three most commonly implemented interventions aimed at improving users' participation in ESNs. The results on the role of the three interventions in influencing users' motivations across the poster and lurker user groups give rise to a number of suggestions in relation to promotional messages, management pressures and SMP effectiveness.

In relation to promotional messages:

- The impact of SC on users' beliefs suggests that a user in the peripheral route tends to respond positively to promotional messages. A higher perception of the message source characteristics increases users' perceived benefit INT but decreases users' perceived cost LOKP. This suggests that credible people or experts who send promotional messages play a pivotal role in shaping the intended effect that ESN community managers are hoping for. This is consistent with Petty and Cacioppo (1981, 1986) in that, in the peripheral route, people are more likely to be persuaded by cues such as the likeability of or affinity toward the endorser or message source.
- Users' perceived IMG particularly in the poster group was not influenced by management promotional messages perhaps because the motivated posters, with the goal of enhancing their reputation already set, don't need any further reinforcement. As explained in Section 5.6.1, IMG was the most important extrinsic predictor of participation. These results are largely consistent with previous studies in workplace settings (e.g., (Beck et al.

2014a; Sun et al. 2012)) that highlight the importance of maintaining a favourable social status or image in driving participation in knowledge management systems.

- When people are driven by self-interest rather than social-collective interest, they tend to withhold information (Yuan et al. 2013). Lurkers are overwhelmed by the fear of making mistakes, being easily replaceable, or losing their unique value. Promotional messages, in their current design, are not enough to ease these concerns. There is a need to employ other interventions in order to overcome individuals' fears. For example, in order to overcome users' reluctance to share their knowledge, Renzl (2008) suggests creating an atmosphere of a knowledge-friendly culture that shows management is committed to knowledge sharing.
- Users who never or hardly ever post in online communities (lurkers) will have no experience and, therefore, cannot truly appreciate the joy and fun of participating (Lai et al. 2014; Marett et al. 2009). This was manifested in the significant increase in posters' perceived INT (intrinsic interest) when they received promotional messages. However, there was no correlation between lurkers' perceived INT and the AQ and SC of promotional messages.
- The employment of the ELM (Petty et al. 1986) (often operationalised using AQ and SC) to understand how promotional messages influence users' motivations to participate provides important insights into the effectiveness of such an intervention in forming posters' and lurkers' salient beliefs about participation in ESNs.

In relation to management pressures:

- Although management pressure techniques are not intended for the poster user group, nevertheless, posters react positively to both VMP and non-VMP management pressures to further participate in the ESN.
- The lurker user group does not respond to this particular management intervention possibly because they are fundamentally driven by their individual characteristics. Consistent with the literature on lurking, lurkers are often motivated by intrinsic motives and aspects of fear (e.g., fear of loss of knowledge or fear of negative behaviour by others) (Sun et al. 2014).

The use of social influence theory (Kelman 1958) particularly its conceptualisation of compliance in examining the influence of management pressures on users' participation yielded interesting insights to understand the effectiveness of management pressure techniques in aligning employees' participation with the ESN managers' expectations.

In relation to SMP effectiveness:

- Although the governing tool of SMP may not yield all the hoped-for results to ESN community managers, nevertheless, the analysis suggests, for the first time, a strong link between users' perceived effectiveness of the SMP and four key motivations that drive users' participation in an ESN.
- The SMP can interfere in enhancing certain perceptions, specifically; an individual's perceived benefits of IMG and INT from participation in an ESN. In addition, the SMP is capable of mitigating certain fears. For instance, in all groups in the present study, the SMP was correlated with a significant decrease in users' perceived cost of LOKP.
- The SMP may not be the proper management intervention to change users' intrinsic cost factor of perceived fulfilment. This is, partially, consistent with the literature demonstrating that intrinsic factors are the hardest to change (e.g., (Kohn 1993)) especially in using systems that have a mix of utilitarian, social and entertaining aspects (Wu et al. 2013) such as ESNs.
- Compared to the poster user group, the SMP was not appealing to the lurker user group in the present study. The SMP was not associated with lurkers' perceived IMG or LOKP. Incorporating specific statements, for example, about intellectual property or sharing posts outside the ESN, may mitigate lurkers' fear of LOKP. However, any redesign of the SMP must be approached with caution because strategies that encourage lurkers to be more active may not translate into posters' willingness to continue being active posters.

5.7 Chapter Summary

This chapter presented the procedures for analysing the survey data collected in this study on users' posting and lurking behaviours in an ESN and the influence of three management interventions that aim to improve users' participation. The data analysis design involved five steps: preparation of the data, reporting of the descriptive statistics, assessments of the measurement models, testing of the research propositions, and finally, a post-hoc analysis to differentiate posters and lurkers and their motivations.

All the propositions were supported. The findings yielded many interesting results that were, in some cases, contradictory to the results that ESN community managers may hope for. The chapter presented a detailed discussion of these results and how they address the research objectives. It can be concluded that the model developed in this research can explain the cost and beneficial determinants of lurking/posting behaviours, and how already-implemented interventions influence users' beliefs and subsequent participation across different users (i.e., lurkers and posters).

Chapter 6: Conclusion

This chapter concludes the thesis and provides an overview of the main academic and practical contributions of the study. The chapter begins with a summary of the research reported in this thesis. Then, the chapter discusses the theoretical contributions made by the study, followed by the implications of the study for practice. Next, the chapter identifies the study's limitations and offer directions for future work. The last section provides a conclusion of this chapter.

6.1 Research Summary

The thesis consisted of six chapters. Chapter 1 provided a background and explained the motivations and significance of the research. Chapter 1 then presented the objectives that this research set out to achieve:

(i) to identify the key reasons for ESN members to either lurk or post after they have been introduced to the platform.

The research question - 1 "*What are the salient drivers of lurkers' and posters' participation in ESNs?*" addressed this objective by finding the extrinsic and intrinsic benefits (image and intrinsic interest, respectively) to be significant predictors of posting while the intrinsic and extrinsic costs (fulfillment and loss of knowledge power, respectively) are significant predictors of lurking behaviour (more detail in the next Section).

(ii) to examine whether the implemented interventions improve users' beliefs or, worse, turn off posters' willingness to participate, as well as the extent of that influence [Hence, aligning with Research Question-2]. The research question - 2 "How do promotional messages, management pressure techniques and SMP influence employees' perceptions of the ESN and their posting and/or lurking behaviours?" addressed this objective by finding that management interventions have a contradictory

effect in relation to the intended effect (more detail in the next Section).

Chapter 2 provided a critical review of the literature relevant to the research topic and identified important limitations regarding the understanding of why, how and in what conditions employees lurk or post in ESNs. The in-depth review of the extant literature related to the research problem further motivated the study. Furthermore, we reviewed several theoretical frameworks on use (or non-use) of IT artefacts, and then turned to the behavioural change literature for the relevant theoretical lenses through which to understand and possibly alter human cognitive strategies and actions. Informed by several theoretical frameworks and findings in the literature, we proposed the research model and propositions in Chapter 3. Four propositions were developed to guide the investigation. The research design and the survey development process were explained in Chapter 4. Lastly, Chapter 5 described how the proposed research model was empirically tested and analysed, and discussed how the results addressed the research objectives.

Reprise

This thesis was motivated by: (a) recognition of the rising challenge for ESN community managers to maintain a sustainable level of active participation among community members, (b) the desire to understand users' participation behaviours and the key perceived benefits and possible barriers to content creation in ESNs, (c) the desire to understand the group of users who create content (posters) and the larger group of users who only read others' posts (lurkers) and how both groups are different in their perceptions of the benefit and cost factors of participation in ESNs, (d) the desire to understand the impact of commonly-used management interventions on users' beliefs and the subsequent participation behaviours across different users (i.e. lurkers and posters), and (e) recent calls by scholars (e.g. Aral et al. (2013), Kane et al. (2014), Kügler et al. (2015b) and Ren et al. (2012)) for further research to understand "how and why people use (or do not use) social networks and how this use results in performance variation between users" (Kane et al. 2014, p. 281).

The existence of any online community primarily depends on members' participation (i.e. creation of content). When a large number of community members are silent (i.e. lurk), there will be no more content to be consumed and the online community will eventually fail. In such a scenario, ESN community managers need to enhance user participation in ESNs. Practitioners have proposed many strategies to boost participation. However, these proposed strategies require an appropriate empirical and theoretical base.

The main argument put forward in this study is that an understanding of the characteristics that drive ESN community members to either lurk or post is essential in order to address the problem of low participation (the study's first research

objective). It is equally important to identify the direction and level of influence of interventions that aim to boost users' participation because such interventions do not - always - yield the hoped-for results (the study's second research objective). Thus, guided by social exchange theory (Blau 1964) and Kankanhalli et al.'s (2005) model of knowledge contribution, the study identified the salient motivations for user participation categorised in four dimensions: extrinsic benefits, extrinsic costs, intrinsic benefits, and intrinsic costs (refer to Chapter 3, Section 3.3.1). We then turned to two behavioural change theories from social psychology, namely, the ELM (Petty et al. 1986) and social influence theory (Kelman 1958), to examine persuasion-based interventions (i.e. promotional messages) and compliance-based interventions (i.e. verbal and non-verbal management pressures), respectively. We also examined the influence of the SMP as a governance tool (refer to Chapter 3, Section 3.4). We examined these three interventions to understand how they influenced users' beliefs and subsequent participation across different user groups (i.e. lurkers and posters). The proposed model was discussed in detail in Chapter 3, Section 3.1.

The central notion of the proposed model is that members' participation is dependent on four motivations to participate, namely, image and intrinsic interest as benefits and loss of knowledge power and fulfilment (the new proposed construct) as costs. The model proposes that these four motivations are influenced by: (i) the argument quality and the source credibility of the promotional messages sent by management to influence ESN participation, and (ii) the SMP effectiveness. Lastly, the model proposes the direct influence of verbal management pressure and non-verbal management pressure (rules) on users' participation behaviour.

We examined our model using survey data collected from ESN users (two Google⁺ corporate communities) of a large Australian retail organisation. The case organisation and participants satisfied all the conditions that formed the benchmarking for selecting the organisation and the appropriate survey participants (refer to Chapter 4, Section 4.2.2). The data analysis revealed strong support for the model and its propositions (refer to Chapter 5, Section 5.5). The findings demonstrated the general viability of the proposed model in explaining: (i) the cost and benefit determinants of lurking/posting behaviours; and (ii) the positive and negative influences of already-implemented interventions on lurkers' and posters' beliefs and subsequent participation (refer to Chapter 5, Section 5.6).

After successfully completing the examination phase of this study, there were few studies published in the late 2015 in top refereed journals (i.e., Information System Research, Management Science, MIS Quarterly Executive) that investigated different issues on employees' adoption and use of social networks. Kane (2015) provides a framework for considering how social media affects organizations particularly in designing and implementing an enterprise social media platform. He set out to discuss possible implications for managers to help make better design decisions for their enterprise social media platform. Huang et al. (2015) develops a dynamic structural framework to analyze the blogging content creation and consumption behavior of employees within in a consulting firm. In the same vein, through an online questionnaire, Phang et al. (2015) investigated the motivations for future participation intention of Contributors vs. Lurkers in policy deliberation online forums. They found differences in the participation antecedents of the two groups. For instance, contributors are influenced by "political career benefit and political efficacy motives, while lurkers' future participation intention is driven by collective benefits, possession of civic skills, and mobilization "(Phang et al. 2015a, p. 1). However, these studies either: (i) investigate earlier social tools such as blogs (i.e., Huang et al. (2015)) and public online forums (i.e., Phang et al. (2015)), (ii) focus exclusively on the motives (e.g., Huang et al. (2015), and Phang et al. (2015)) without considering the interventions to improve user participation, (iii) discuss general frameworks to assess managers on design decisions for an enterprise social media platforms (i.e., Kane (2015)). There is limited knowledge on the linkages between employees' motivations and different participation behaviours (e.g., posting, lurking) in microblogging services, and even less on external influences (or interventions) aimed to encourage employees' participation.

6.2 Contributions to Theory

The main contribution of this study is the provision of an empirically validated theoretical model that enhances the understanding of the sociopsychological processes governing employees' participation in ESNs in the presence of three management interventions. The research model extends Kankanhalli et al.'s (2005) model of knowledge contribution (the three-way classification of extrinsic benefits, intrinsic benefits and cost factors) by adding the fourth block in the quadrant of salient motivations to not participate in ESNs; that is, the intrinsic cost of fulfilment. The model examines the effect of the four categories (extrinsic benefits, extrinsic costs, intrinsic benefits, and intrinsic costs) on the participation behaviour of two user groups (i.e. lurkers and posters) instead of only examining the participation behaviour of the poster group as suggested in Kankanhalli et al.'s (2005) model. Furthermore, the model incorporates two behavioural change theories from social psychology, namely, the ELM (Petty et al. 1986) and social influence theory (Kelman 1958), and a governance tool (the SMP) to examine the influence of three interventions on users' beliefs and subsequent participation across the lurker and poster groups.

The study will (i) benefit academics and practitioners by assisting them to understand why employees "post" or "lurk" in ESNs, and (ii) guide the (re)design of interventions to successfully maintain sustainable active participation in ESN communities. Apart from the main contribution, additional theoretical contributions of the study are structured as follows.

- This study explicates posters' and lurkers' motives and participation behaviours in ESNs and shows that participation behaviour is a dual factor concept with the opposite ends of the continuum being influenced by orthogonal antecedents. The extant literature on employees' use of social software focuses mainly on posters, without considering the motives and usage behaviours of the larger user group – lurkers (Lai et al. 2014; Malinen 2015). The study confirms that users' motivations to post are different (but not opposite) from their motivations to lurk. It provides a comparative group analysis of "why" or "why don't" users participate in ESNs, noting that such an examination has been largely ignored in the research to date which has tended to analyse posting and lurking behaviours independently (Park et al., 2014).
- This study furthers the understanding of four dimensions of users' motivations to create content in ESNs (i.e. extrinsic benefits, extrinsic costs, intrinsic benefits and intrinsic costs). The literature suggests that, unless users see that the perceived benefits outweigh the perceived costs of participating, online communities will remain underutilised. One important contribution of the study is the evidence that both extrinsic and intrinsic benefits (image and intrinsic interest, respectively) are significant predictors of posting while
intrinsic and extrinsic costs (fulfilment and loss of knowledge power, respectively) are significant predictors of lurking in ESNs.

- This study extends the concept of persuasive influence in IS research. Through the theoretical lens of the ELM (Petty et al. 1986), we demonstrate that persuasion-based interventions (i.e. promotional messages) affect posters' and lurkers' beliefs about participation in ESNs. Our analysis clarifies the different pathways in which these effects manifest. For example, the content and source characteristics of promotional messages make lurkers see opportunities to enhance their reputation through participation. However, posters' perceived image is not influenced by the source or content of promotional messages. The study contributes to the ELM literature by: (i) examining and comparing the central route of influence (operationalised using argument quality) and peripheral route of influence (operationalised using source credibility) on two user groups (posters and lurkers) at once, and (ii) linking the argument quality and the source credibility of the new information received by users to other user beliefs (i.e. image, intrinsic interest, fulfilment and loss of knowledge power).
- The study shows that compliance-based influences (verbal and non-verbal management pressures) which IS research has proved to influence IT usage (Boss et al. 2009; Eckhardt et al. 2009; Venkatesh et al. 2008a) can be extended to the ESN context. Through the theoretical lens of social influence theory (Kelman 1958), we demonstrate that management pressure techniques influence users' participation in ESNs. Even though management interventions are mainly intended for the lurker user group, in our examination of management pressure techniques it was only posters who reacted positively to these techniques.
- The study provides the first empirical examination of SMP in corporate use of social networks. The findings evidence a strong link between users' perceived effectiveness of the SMP and the four key motivations that drive users' participation in the ESN. Further, the study demonstrates that the SMP can enhance certain perceptions. For example, the SMP was able to increase lurkers' perceived intrinsic interest and posters' perceived intrinsic interest and image from participation in the ESN. However, as the case with all management interventions, the SMP was not equally appealing to the poster and lurker user groups. The SMP was not associated with lurkers' perceived image or loss of knowledge power.

- At the methodological level, the study is considered one of the first attempts to provide across-sectional empirical and theory-driven study of what motivates and hinders poster and lurker user groups in a work setting. To the best of the author's knowledge, the academic literature on employees' use of ESNs comprises either qualitative work (refer to Chapter 2, Section 2.5.2) or research in progress that is yet to be empirically tested. Further, the study's extensive survey data explores and explains the "black box" of influence within the online participation context, namely, understanding what type of intervention leads to what outcome across different users (i.e. lurkers and posters).
- Another important contribution of the study is the data analysis strategy applied to differentiate posters and lurkers and their motivations. We performed two post-hoc analyses: (i) a stepwise binary logistic regression (Pallant 2013) using SPSS 22.0 software to examine the relative importance of the four motivations to post or lurk; and (ii) an MGA (Henseler 2010; Rigdon et al. 2010) to perform a pair-wise comparison of the bootstrap estimates for the overall structural model. These analyses were effective in providing an in-depth understanding of the different perceptions between lurkers and posters. The analyses revealed the extent of influence and the likelihood of each factor (of the four motivations) contributing to posting or lurking behaviours, and the significance of the path coefficient differences (management interventions on all four motivations) among the lurker and poster user groups.
- Another contribution of the study is the conceptualisation and operationalisation of a new construct, namely, "perceived fulfilment", as an intrinsic cost that could hinder user participation. A rigorous procedure was employed to create the items measuring this construct and ensure the reliability and validity of these items. The study demonstrates that the referent construct is conceptually and empirically relevant to the ESN participation problem (lurking). As an independent variable, the new construct can be employed to understand users' underutilisation of similar systems.

6.3 Implications for Practice

In terms of practical contributions, the study bridges the gap between the practical application of best practices and scientific research by providing a theoretical model and empirical evidence to help community managers to better understand and improve users' participation experiences in ESNs. The study provides new insights into the behaviours and consequences relevant to ESN use and presents a more fine-grained discrimination of the roles played by posters and lurkers in online communities. The following elucidates the practical contributions of the study in greater detail.

- The study shows that ESN use is provoked by a mix of extrinsic and intrinsic factors that are not mutually exclusive. Although image enhancement is a strong extrinsic motivator to participate, the study identifies intrinsic interest as the most important predictor of participation in ESNs, thus highlighting the importance of intrinsic values. Employees perceive an ESN as a social entertainment actor. One implication for ESN community managers could be the recognition of the value of emphasising the fun and entertaining use of ESNs in order to boost participation. For example, ESN managers could revise promotional messages to indicate that the ESN is not only a space for improving productivity but is also a conversation medium for relationship building and getting to know colleagues.
- The study proves that users' fear of losing their knowledge power and users' perceived fulfilment are the key cost factors responsible for lurking. It is difficult to overcome self-interest factors; nevertheless, the participation of and feedback from important groups in an organisation (e.g. management representatives, ESN community managers) could create a cooperative environment that eases users' concerns about losing their knowledge. In addition, the study suggests that users are less likely to contribute when they believe that the reading activity itself is sufficient and meaningful on its own. A possible strategy to change lurkers' perceptions is running extensive online (and offline) campaigns to: (a) show that members' voices are important and necessary for the community to survive, and (b) raise awareness of the value of the strong norm of reciprocity in the collective.
- The study serves to improve the practice of ESN management by: (i) evaluating communication strategies that aim to boost user participation, and (ii) identifying the direction and level of influence of implemented strategies. The study shows that some interventions do not always yield the hoped-for results; rather, some interventions have an adverse effect in that they increase lurkers' perceived costs. In the present study, such unanticipated outcomes included: (a) the SMP raising lurkers' perceived fulfilment, (b) the content of promotional messages (the perceived argument quality) raising lurkers' fear of losing their knowledge power, and (c) the management pressure techniques not having any impact on

lurkers' behaviour. The implication for ESN community managers is that it would be worthwhile to alter the content of promotional messages to position the ESN as a favourable environment for lurkers. Such messages could, for example, provide reassurance to members that there are no negative repercussions of participation. Another implication is a design matter to be thoughtful about employing features that may push lurkers away from participating (e.g., the "dislike" feature recently announced by Facebook). A similar approach could be taken to SMPs. A possible implication is to redesign the SMP and incorporate, for instance, incorporating less restrictive statements because tight controls could intimidate or undermine lurkers' ability to participate and reduce the users' enjoyable experience. However, any redesign of the SMP must be approached with caution because strategies that encourage lurkers to be more active may not translate into posters' willingness to continue being active posters.

- The study shows that active posters do not react negatively to management interventions. Verbal and non-verbal management pressures encourage posters to further participate in the ESN. Likewise, promotional messages encourage them to be more enthusiastic to post (by increasing the posters' perceived intrinsic interest). In turn, ESN community managers may find that promotional messages are "preaching to the choir" but are ineffective, at least in their current design, in reaching the silent outsiders.
- The study shows that formal and informal strategies can coexist in encouraging users' participation. The central implication of the study is that strategies (i.e., promotional messages) that aim to change users' beliefs about participation are more effective on lurkers than strategies that directly target their participation behaviour (i.e., management pressure techniques). It is recommended that ESN community managers invest in and put more emphasis on persuasive-based strategies (e.g. promotional messages, online events, setting an example for others), particularly when ESN' participation is voluntary.

6.4 Study Limitations and Directions for Future Work

We identify several limitations in this study. First, we did not set out to create a complete model with all the possible explanatory factors of lurker and poster behaviours. Therefore, many other intrinsic and extrinsic benefits and costs could be investigated in future research, with such investigation addressing whether or not our proposed interventions have an influence on those factors. Guided by social exchange theory (Blau 1964) and Kankanhalli et al.'s (2005) model of knowledge contribution, we focused on two polarised pairs of motivational beliefs (the extrinsic and intrinsic benefits - image and intrinsic interest - and the intrinsic and extrinsic costs - fulfillment and loss of knowledge power), noting that motivation research also provides more nuanced differentiations.

In relation to management interventions, we focused on: (i) two core concepts from the ELM, namely, argument quality and source credibility, (ii) two compliance-based interventions (i.e. verbal and non-verbal management pressure techniques) through the theoretical lens of social influence theory, and (iii) the effectiveness of one governance tool (i.e. SMP) from the policy–compliance literature, noting that the ELM and social influence theory may not be the only theoretical lens through which to elucidate the processes that influence users' beliefs and participation in ESNs. Future studies may investigate the many other organisational interventions and/or strategies that could influence participation in ESNs (e.g. training, platform feature (re)designs, gamification, material inducements such as incentives or rewards, champions).

Second, other environmental and technological factors that were not covered in the scope of this study might also influence lurking and posting in ESNs. For example, prior experience (i.e., prior use of other ESNs like Yammer) could be an importance factor as it moderates the influences between motivations and system use (Venkatesh et al. 2008). However, we have not considered prior experience in this study. It was expected that prior experience impact would be minimal in our context, because respondents had at least one month experience with the current ESN (i.e., Google⁺). In addition, future research could explore, for instance, cultural backgrounds, technological factors such as compatibility, or result demonstrability.

Third, we did not explore all the possible construct associations because the present propositions were built in light of specific theoretical lenses. There are possibly important causal links that future research could explore.

Fourth, our data was sourced from one industry (the retail industry) in a developed country (Australia). There is no specific reason to believe that the selected industry or geographical setting could have biased the results; however, to help generalise the findings, future research could apply this research to other countries and different industries. In addition, 90% of the study's respondents worked at the operational level (i.e. store employees and line managers). The data sample may have missed the views of important and influential members; thus, future research should capture a

broader sample with a relatively equal proportion of employees at all management levels.

Fifth, our dependent variable measures participation in terms of users' posts and comments. Previous research usually uses the number of posts and comments to measure users' online participation (Malinen 2015). However, there are other forms of participation such as "re-tweeting" or "liking" other posts. We suggest that future research use more rigorous measures of participation and examine and compare the influence of the research model on all the possible forms of participation.

Sixth, the newly conceptualised construct of "perceived fulfilment" represents lurkers' belief that the reading activity itself fulfils their needs for using the ESN. Future research might focus on more specific needs (e.g. curiosity needs, information needs) or develop a formative index that exhausts the multiple dimensions of members' needs for using an ESN. Another possible area for future research is to examine this construct as a dependent, moderating or mediating variable in order to better understand users' online participation experience.

Seventh, we relied on self-report measures for the constructs in our research model. There may be some bias in this approach, in that the respondents may have over- or under-estimated their participation. We mitigated self-report bias by using multiple self-report measures of participation on a variety of scales. Another possible approach is to use objective data (access log). In addition, our survey was also limited in that we conducted cross-sectional data collection. An alternative could be designed on the basis of a longitudinal setup to examine posting and lurking behaviours over time (e.g. before and after an intervention). This was not possible in the present study due to the constraints of the case organisation. Future research could mitigate some of these design limitations using other research strategies.

The eighth limitation of our work underlines the need for further research to investigate more nuanced differentiations of participant roles (e.g. frequent versus infrequent posters, true versus active lurkers (Kim, 2000)). Our analysis was based on the commonly-accepted dichotomy (posters vs lurkers), but we envisage that it would be useful to consider a more nuanced typology of users.

Finally, an interesting direction for future research would be to compare employees' participation behaviour in an ESN with their participation behaviour in public social networks (e.g. Twitter), and to examine and compare the impact of the four

dimensions of users' motivations in the research model on corporate versus public forms of participation.

6.5 Conclusion

The purpose of this research was to identify the factors that drive corporate staff to either lurk or post in ESNs and to examine the extent of influence of alreadyimplemented interventions (e.g. promotional messages) on users' beliefs and subsequent participation. To do so, the study developed a theoretical model and established empirically the four key factors that encourage posting and lurking behaviours. For posting, the key factors are perceived image and intrinsic interest, categorised as extrinsic and intrinsic benefits respectively. For lurking, the key factors are perceived loss of knowledge power and fulfilment, categorised as extrinsic costs respectively. The proposed model demonstrates how the four beliefs and lurking/posting behaviours change when three management interventions (promotional messages, management pressure techniques and SMP) are applied. The study examined the theoretical model using data collected from a survey of 366 ESN users of two online communities in a large Australian retail organisation.

The results obtained from the analyses established the general viability of the proposed model and strong support for its propositions. The results provided a reasonable explanation of the extrinsic/intrinsic cost and benefit determinants of lurking/posting behaviours and of the positive and negative influences of the three interventions on lurkers' and posters' beliefs and subsequent participation. For instance, in relation to the effect of promotional messages on the poster and lurker user groups, our analysis showed the different pathways in which these effects manifest. The content and source characteristics of promotional messages increased posters' perceived benefit (intrinsic interest), making them more enthusiastic to post. Even though promotional messages are mainly intended for the lurker user group, lurkers' perceived intrinsic interest was not influenced by the source or content of promotional messages. Similar results were observed in relation to the effect of verbal and non-verbal management pressures on the poster and lurker user groups.

The research provides a detailed understanding of how and why corporate staff use (or do not use) social networks in the presence of three management interventions. To the best of our knowledge, this is the first empirical examination of persuasivebased (promotional messages) and compliance-based (management pressure techniques) interventions and their effects on posters' and lurkers' perceptions and participation behaviours in corporate social software. The research thus makes several contributions to theory, research and practice.

Appendices

Appendix A: Q-sort exercise

The invitation email

Dear Sir or Madam

My name is Abdulrahman Alarifi. I'm a doctoral candidate at School of Information System, Queensland University of Technology (QUT), Brisbane, Australia. I am conducting a research project investigating Enterprise Social Network (ESN) (e.g., yammer) participation behaviour particularly why members post or lurk (i.e., just read) in these platforms.

I invite volunteers to participate in a quick (5 minutes) online-Q-Sort to sort cards from most to least suitable in <u>ONE</u> group. The group represent a construct titled 'Perceived Fulfilment' and defined as "The extent to which members feel their needs for using the ESN are fulfilled through reading only".

Your contribution will assist the research team to better select the most suitable measures (i.e., card) for this construct. Please note that this study has been approved by the QUT Human Research Ethics Committee (approval number 1300000354).

Please click on the link below to complete the Q-Sort:

https://conceptcodify.com/studies/1t0ecww01u686jy4/via/pf39ws5wq6r1ymv3/

Many thanks for your consideration of this request.

Original items

Instructions : Thank you for helping us out. All you need to do is to sort the cards from most to least suitable in <u>ONE</u> group. There are no right or wrong answers.

Perceived Fulfilment:
"The extent to which members feel their needs for using the ESN are fulfilled through reading only"
Measures:
By just reading, I somewhat fulfil my curiosity [strongly agree strongly disagree].
By just reading, I feel informed about what is going on in yammer' groups [strongly agree strongly disagree].
By just reading, I learn new things [strongly agree strongly disagree].
Through browsing other' posts, one can find sufficient information for his questions [strongly agree strongly disagree].
By just reading, I find sufficient answers for my questions [strongly agree strongly disagree].
By just reading, I find the answers for my questions [strongly agree strongly disagree].
Through browsing other' posts, one can find detailed information for his questions [strongly agree strongly disagree].
By just reading, I feel I am learning new things [strongly agree strongly disagree].
Reading others' posts gives me the information that suits my needs [strongly agree strongly disagree].
Over all, I feel reading adequately meets my needs [strongly agree strongly disagree].
For me, just reading/browsing is enough [strongly agree strongly disagree].
By just reading, I find the information for my questions to be [not adequate at all very adequate].
The information I find in yammer are [not adequate at all very adequate] to my original inquiries
How adequately do you feel that by just reading meets your information needs [not adequate at all very adequate].
How adequately do you feel that by just reading meets your curiosity needs [not adequate at all very adequate].
I feel reading [not adequate at all very adequate] meets my information needs.
I feel reading [not adequate at all very adequate] meets my curiosity needs.

Generated Reports

	No. 44 - 14	Cattor is 1 minutes 2 and monore. Manage 1776.		
https://conceptcodify.com/studies/1t0ecww	01u686jy4/analyze/			
viour an 💽 🕨 75 minutes 🛐 Chen: Passive	😳 Lurking as par 🕎 Doctoral Con	Uurking as Par 8 woolloongab Y Sign in	to Yah	M Inbox - ipa.ab 🔂 Lurker Demo.
dit View Favorites Tools Help				
The World leader in Card 🅅 Sign in to Office 3	65 🍓 Rank Order 🏼 Important Dates	- ACIS 20 Risbane 256km weather r 🥙 http-	-103.1.18	7 🧉 🧉 ZPORTAL Search 🌆 SJR -
star and the second sec	ConceptCodify		å oria	afi@yahoo.com 🕒 Logout
Percei	ived Adequacy on Yammer	1	. Design	2. Collect 3. Analyze
Ana	lyze results			
	e recommend getting 23 more responses	before using the results. You can use the results at any	time, how	wever.
Recc For oth We low any he Hier	ommendation based on yo ter goals: e hearing about unique card sorting uses lp! archical clustering analysis	UIT goal I Let us know about how you use card sorting and if you By just reading, I find su I feel reading [not adeq By just reading, I find th By just reading, I find th By just reading, I feel th The information I find in By just reading, I fiel th How adequately do you By just reading, I feel m I feel reading [not adeq Through browsing othe How adequately do you By just reading, I feel m I feel reading [not adeq Through browsing othe How adequately do you By just reading, I feel m	u need officient uate at e infor what fu owsing r' poste to yamm e answ foel th formed uate at r' poste foel th formed uate at r' poste foel th formed uate at tr' poste foel th foel th foel th foel th foel th	Recommendation Hierarchy Similarity Relationships Ordering Group Names Download All Responses

Ordering analysis

Rank	Card
1	By just reading, I feel informed about what is going on in yammer' groups [strongly agree strongly disagree].
2	For me, just reading/browsing is enough [strongly agree strongly disagree].
3	By just reading, I find sufficient answers for my questions [strongly agree strongly disagree].
4	Over all, I feel reading adequately meets my needs [strongly agree strongly disagree]
5	By just reading, I learn new things [strongly agree strongly disagree].
6	By just reading, I somewhat fulfil my curiosity [strongly agree strongly disagree].
7	By just reading, I find the answers for my questions [strongly agree strongly disagree].
8	How adequately do you feel that by just reading meets your curiosity needs [not adequate at all very adequate].
9	By just reading, I find the information for my questions to be [not adequate at all very adequate].
10	By just reading, I feel I am learning new things [strongly agree strongly disagree].
11	I feel reading [not adequate at all very adequate] meets my information needs.
12	Reading others' posts gives me the information that suits my needs [strongly agree strongly disagree].
13	The information I find in yammer are [not adequate at all very adequate] to my original inquiries
14	I feel reading [not adequate at all very adequate] meets my curiosity needs.
15	Through browsing other' posts, one can find detailed information for his questions [strongly agree strongly disagree].
16	Through browsing other' posts, one can find sufficient information for his questions [strongly agree strongly disagree].
17	How adequately do you feel that by just reading meets your information needs [not adequate at all very adequate].

Appendix B: The Survey Instrument

The invitation post

Win an iPad Air 2 by completing this quick survey about your use of Google+

You are invited to participate in a quick online survey **(10 – 15 minutes)** about your use of this Google+ community. Your participation is voluntarily and anonymous and will not include any identifiable or personal information.

As a member of the community your contribution will assist the research team to gain a better understanding of member participation behaviour and potentially help with member engagement on similar Google+ communities moving forward.

On completion of the survey you will be offered the opportunity to enter a prize draw to <u>win an</u> <u>iPad Air 2.</u> We would like you to complete the survey **before 13 Mar 2015**.



Source: http://www.apple.com/au/ipad-air-2/

Please note that this study has been approved by the QUT Human Research Ethics Committee (approval number 1300000354).

Please click on the link below for further information about the study and to complete the online survey: <u>http://survey.qut.edu.au/f/182829/16e7/</u>

Many thanks for your consideration of this request and all the best,

Abdulrahman Alarifi PhD Candidate Phone: 0435 745 922 Email: <u>abdulrahman.alarifi@hdr.gut.edu.au</u>

Dr Darshana Sedera Supervisor Phone: 07 3138 1214 Email: <u>d.sedera@qut.edu.au</u> Information Systems School Science and Engineering Faculty Queensland University of Technology

Questionnaire Content

Queensland University of Technology Brisbane Australia

PARTICIPANT INFORMATION FOR QUT RESEARCH PROJECT

Enhancing Enterprise Social Network Use: Promotion Mechanisms

QUT Ethics Approval Number 1300000354

RESEARCH TEAM

Principal Researcher:	Abdulrahman Alarifi	PhD Candidate
Associate Researchers:	Associate Professor Darshana Sedera	Principal Supervisor
	Professor Jan Recker	Associate Supervisor

School of Information Systems, Science and Engineering Faculty, Queensland University of Technology (QUT)

DESCRIPTION

This project is being undertaken as part of a PhD research project by Abdulrahman Alarifi.

The purpose of this project is to identify mechanisms that could positively influence user motivations and promote participation in Google⁺ communities.

You are invited to participate in this project because you have been a user of XXX⁶ Google⁺ communities for at least one month.

PARTICIPATION

Your participation will involve completing an anonymous online survey with Likert scale answers ("strongly agree" – "strongly disagree" style scale) as well as one open-ended question. Participation in this survey will take approximately 10–15 minutes of your time.

The survey will cover the following questions:

- How do you use Google⁺ communities?
- What factors could motivate or inhibit you to actively contribute to Google⁺ communities?
- How effective are the management practices that aim to encourage participation in Google⁺ communities?

Your decision to participate or not to participate will not impact you in any way. You are free to withdraw at any time while completing the survey; however, submission of the completed survey will be taken as consent to participate in the study and it will not be possible to withdraw after submission of the online survey. In order to participate, we ask you to complete the online survey by clicking on the link below.

EXPECTED BENEFITS

It is expected that this project will not benefit you directly. However, it may help enhance Google⁺ communities of which you are a member, and therefore provide more opportunities for knowledge sharing and collaboration within your firm.

Upon completion of the survey you will have the opportunity to enter into a free prize draw to win an iPad.

RISKS

There are no risks beyond normal day-to-day living associated with your participation in this project.

PRIVACY AND CONFIDENTIALITY

⁶ To maintain confidentiality, the names of the company and the communities are not used.

All comments and responses are anonymous and will be treated confidentially. Answering this survey will not require you to provide any personal or identifiable information. Any data collected as part of this research will be stored securely as per QUT's policy on the management of research data.

We plan to publically present and publish the results of this research through journal articles and conference proceedings. However, information will only be provided in a form that does not identify you.

Entering the free prize draw will require you to provide your contact details; however, these details will be held completely separately from the research data.

QUESTIONS / FURTHER INFORMATION ABOUT THE PROJECT

If you have any questions or require any further information please contact one of the research team members below:

Abdulrahman Alarifi	A/Prof Darshana Sedera	Prof Jan Recker
0435 745 922	07 3138 2925	07 3138 9479
abdulrahman.alarifi@hdr.qut.edu.a	<u>d.sedera@qut.edu.au</u>	j.recker@qut.edu.au

CONCERNS / COMPLAINTS REGARDING THE CONDUCT OF THE PROJECT

QUT is committed to research integrity and the ethical conduct of research projects. However, if you do have any concerns or complaints about the ethical conduct of the project you may contact the QUT Research Ethics Unit on 07 31385123 or email <u>ethicscontact@qut.edu.au</u>. The QUT Research Ethics Unit is not connected with this research project and can facilitate a resolution to your concern in an impartial manner.

CONSENT TO PARTICIPATE

Your submission of the completed online survey will be taken as your consent to participate in the study. Specifically, your submission of the online survey indicates that you:

- Have read and understood the information about this project.
- Have had all your questions answered to your satisfaction.
- Understand that if you have any additional questions you can contact the researchers.
- Understand that you are free to withdraw at any time without comment or penalty prior to submission of the completed survey.
- Understand that you can contact the QUT Research Ethics Unit on 07 3138 5123 or email <u>ethicscontact@qut.edu.au</u> if you have concerns about the ethical conduct of the project.

Thank you for helping with this research project.

<u>NEXT -></u>

[Section 1] In this section, we capture general information about your *membership* in XXX⁷, Google⁺ communities.

- 1) For how long you have been a member of XXX' Google⁺? [......] month(s).
- 2) In XXX' Google⁺, you are a member of how many group(s) or communities?

I am a member of: [....] community(s).

3) In general, I use XXX' Google⁺...

- □ ...mostly for work-related matters.
- □ ...mostly for social-related matters.
- □ ..about the same for both social and work-related matters.

[Section 2] In this section, we capture information about how often you use XXX' Google⁺.

4) I login to my Google⁺ account...

- □ Several times a day.
- □ About once a day.
- □ Several times a week.
- □ About once a week.
- □ Once or twice a month.
- □ Once or twice in the last three months.

5) I post or comment on Google⁺...

- □ Several times a day.
- \Box About once a day.
- □ Several times a week.
- $\hfill\square$ About once a week.
- \Box About once a month.
- \Box Once or twice in the last three months.
- □ Never.

To the best of your recollection, during the past month:

- 6) How often did you **login** to your Google⁺ account? [...]
- **7)** How many posts did you **create** on Google⁺? [...]
- 8) How many posts created by others did you **comment** on on Google⁺? [...]

⁷ To maintain confidentiality, the names of the company and the communities are not used.

Please rate your activities on XXX' Google*:

		Nev	er	9	Sometimes		Ah	vays
9)	I comment on other people's posts on Google ⁺		2	3	4	5	6	7
10)	I create new posts on Google⁺		2	3	4	5	6 □	7
		N Ai	ot Act t All	ive	Neutral	١	/ery A	ctive
11)	How would you rate your level or participation in Google ⁺ communities?	f 1	. 2	2 3	4	5	6 []	7

[Section 3] In this section, we capture your beliefs about using XXX' Google⁺ communities.

Please rate how much you agree with the following statements:

	Strongly Disagree	Neutral	Strongly Agree
12) I post my opinions on Google ⁺ to earn respect from others.	$\begin{array}{ccc}1&2&3\\ \square&\square& \square\end{array}$	4 5 []	6 7
13) I post my opinions on Google⁺ to improve my reputation.	$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	4 5	6 7
14) I feel that participation improves my status on Google ⁺ .	$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	4 5	6 7
15) Posting on Google ⁺ is interesting.	$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		
16) It is fun to post on Google ⁺ .	$\square \square \square$	4 5	
17) For me, just reading/browsing on Google ⁺ is enough.	$\begin{array}{ccc}1&2&3\\ \hline & \hline & \hline \end{array}$	4 5	
18) I feel reading adequately meets my purpose for using Google ⁺ .		4 5	6 7
19) By just reading, I feel my reasons for using Google ⁺ are adequately met.	$\begin{array}{ccc}1&2&3\\ \hline & \hline & \hline \end{array}$	4 5 [] []	6 7
20) When I post on Google ⁺ , I lose my unique value in the organisation.	$\begin{array}{ccc}1&2&3\\ \square&\square&\square\end{array}$	4 5	6 7
21) Posting on Google ⁺ makes me lose the value of my knowledge that makes me	$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	4 5	6 7

stand out with respect to others.

22) Posting on Google⁺ makes me lose my power base in the organisation.

[Section 4] A promotional message is a message by management communicated through emails or online posts to: (a) encourage users' participation on XXX Google⁺ communities, and (b) provide information about XXX Google⁺ communities such as the benefits, qualities and recent topics discussed.

23) Have you ever received a <u>promotional message</u> to encourage you to use Google⁺?

□ Yes □ No (If no, please go to Question 31)

In relation to your experience with XXX' promotional messages, to what extent do you agree or disagree with these statements:

	Stron Disag	gly ree		Neutral		Strongly Agree		
24) The information in the <u>Google⁺</u> promotional messages is informative.		2	3	4	5	6 □	7	
25) The information in the <u>Google⁺</u> promotional messages is valuable.		2	3	4	5	6	7	
26) The information in the <u>Google⁺</u> promotional messages is persuasive.		2	3	4	5	6 □	7	

In relation to your experience with XXX' promotional messages, to what extent do you agree or disagree that the person who usually sends promotional messages ...

	Strongly Disagree	Neutral	Strongly Agree
27) is trustworthy.	$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		$ \begin{array}{c} 6 & 7 \\ \Box & \Box \\ 6 & 7 \end{array} $
28) is credible.			
29) is experienced on Google ⁺ .	$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$\begin{array}{ccc} 4 & 5 \\ \Box & \Box \end{array}$	$ \begin{bmatrix} 6 & 7 \\ \hline \end{bmatrix} $
30) appears to be an expert on Google⁺.	$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	4 5	6 7

[Section 5] XXX has developed and published a Social Media Policy named "Posts? Blogs? Forums? Tweets? Your Online Responsibilities" to provide guidance on how to best participate in any social media platform including Google⁺ communities and to provide protection from any misuse (e.g. improper content, bullying, harassment).

 Are you aware of XXX' Social Media Policy? Have you ever had a look at XXX' Social Media Policy? 			ou aware of XXX' Social Media Policy? \Box Yesyou ever had a look at XXX' Social Media Policy? \Box Yes				
	Not At All Familiar		Somewhat Familiar		Expert		
33) How familiar are you with XXX' Social Media Policy.		2	3	4	5	6	7

Please indicate the extent to which you agree or disagree with each of the following statements:

	Stroi Disa	ngly gree		Neutral		Stro A	ongly Igree
34) With the Social Media Policy, I believe that I am protected from any misuse by others (e.g. improper content, bullying, harassment).		2	3	4	5	6 □	7
35) I believe that the Social Media Policy is an effective way to protect the Google ⁺ communities from any misuse such as posts that have improper content, bullying or harassing content.		2	3	4	5	6	7
36) I feel confident that the Social Media Policy reflects XXX' commitment to protect the Google ⁺ communities from any misuse by others (e.g. improper content, bullying, harassment).		2	3	4	5	6	7
37) I believe that the Social Media Policy is an effective way to guide users on how to best use Google ⁺ .		2	3	4	5	6	7
38) XXX' Social Media Policy has an understandable, written sequence of steps that could be followed to ensure the best use of Google ⁺ .		2	3	4	5	6	7

[Section 6] In this section, we capture your beliefs about different management techniques to get users to participate in XXX' Google⁺ communities.

Please indicate the extent to which you agree or disagree with each of the following statements:

		Strongly Disagree			Neutral	Strongly Agree		
39)	My supervisor suggests that I participate in Google ⁺ communities.		2	3	4	5	6 □	7
40)	I believe XXX' management would like me to participate in the Google ⁺ communities.		2	3	4	5	6 []	7
41)	XXX' management publically appreciates members who are very engaged in the Google ⁺ communities.		2	3	4	5	6 □	7
42)	To members who participate, XXX' management sends a private message emphasizing the great job the members did.		2	3	4	5	6 □	7
43)	There is pressure from XXX to participate in the Google ⁺ communities.		2 □	3	4	5	6 □	7
44)	If I do not post on Google⁺ for one month, I am required to explain why.		2	3	4	5	6	7
45)	There are rules that require employees to post about certain tasks on Google ⁺ .		2	3	4	5	6	7
46)	I believe that my annual evaluation report (or Performance Planning and Review) takes into account my posting activities on Google ⁺ .		2	3	4	5	6 □	7
47)	Overall, I believe it is required that I regularly post on Google⁺.		2	3	4	5	6 □	7

[Section 7] In this section, we capture demographics and some information about your role at XXX for classification and comparison purposes only.

- 1) Your gender is: Male Female
- 2) Your age is :
- 3) Are you a current employee of XXX?□ Yes □ No
- 4) What is your employment position?
 - Employee.
 - □ Line manager
 - □ Executive
 - C-level executive
 - Other, please specify:

End of Survey – Thank you for your participation

Bibliography

- Adams, L. L. M., and Gale, D. 1982. "Solving the quandary between questionnaire length and response rate in educational research," *Research in Higher Education* (17:3), pp 231-240.
- Adamson, W. 2014. "How Value drives Enterprise Social Network adoption," Blog LinkedIn, goo.gl/FS4g4I; retrieved April 24, 2014.
- Agarwal, R. 2000. "Individual acceptance of information technologies," in *Framing the domains of IT management: Projecting the future through the past*, pp. 85-104.
- Alavi, M., and Leidner, D. E. 2001. "Review: Knowledge management and knowledge management systems: Conceptual foundations and research issues," *MIS Quarterly* (25:1), pp 107-136.
- Ali-Hassan, H., Nevo, D., Kim, H., and Perelgut, S. 2011. "Organizational social computing and employee job performance: the knowledge access route," in 44th Hawaii International Conference on System Sciences, IEEE: Kauai, Hawaii, pp. 1-10.
- Ali-Hassan, H., Nevo, D., and Wade, M. 2015. "Linking dimensions of social media use to job performance: The role of social capital," *The Journal of Strategic Information Systems* (24:2), pp 65–89.
- Alinaghian, R., Rahman, A., and Ibrahim, R. 2010. "Information and communications technology (ICT) policy management towards enabling research frameworks," in *Proceedings of the International Symposium on Information Technology*: Kuala Lumpar, Malaysia, pp. 1673-1678.
- All, A. 2014. "Enterprise Social Software: How to Keep Employees Using It," Enterprise Apps Today, <u>http://goo.gl/1r7gdw</u>, retrieved April 05, 2015.
- Allam, H., Blustein, J., Bliemel, M., and Spiteri, L. 2012. "Knowledge Contribution in Social Media: Exploring Factors Influencing Social Taggers' Acceptance towards Contributing and Sharing Tags," in *Information Systems, Technology* and Management, Springer, pp. 112-123.
- Andrews, D., Nonnecke, B., and Preece, J. 2003. "Electronic survey methodology: A case study in reaching hard-to-involve Internet users," *International journal of human-computer interaction* (16:2), pp 185-210.
- Angst, C. M., and Agarwal, R. 2009. "Adoption of electronic health records in the presence of privacy concerns: the elaboration likelihood model and individual persuasion," *MIS Quarterly* (33:2), pp 339-370.
- Antin, J., and Cheshire, C. 2010. "Readers are not free-riders: reading as a form of participation on wikipedia," in *Proceedings of the ACM conference on Computer supported cooperative work*: Savannah, Georgia, USA, pp. 127-130.
- Antonius, N., Xu, J., and Gao, X. 2015. "Factors influencing the adoption of Enterprise Social Software in Australia," *Knowledge-Based Systems* (73), pp 32-43.
- Aral, S., Dellarocas, C., and Godes, D. 2013. "Introduction to the Special Issue— Social Media and Business Transformation: A Framework for Research," *Information Systems Research* (24:1), pp 3-13.
- Arthur, C. 2006. "What is the 1% rule?," UK: Guardian News and Media. (available at <u>http://goo.gl/8NXfNs)</u>.

- Atkinson, P., and Hammersley, M. 1994. "Ethnographyand participant observation," Handbook of qualitative research. Thou-sand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Bagozzi, R. P., Yi, Y., and Phillips, L. W. 1991. "Assessing construct validity in organizational research," *Administrative science quarterly* (36:3), pp 421-458.
- Bajwa, D. S., Lewis, L. F., Pervan, G., Lai, V. S., Munkvold, B. E., and Schwabe, G. 2008. "Factors in the global assimilation of collaborative information technologies: an exploratory investigation in five regions," *Journal of Management Information Systems* (25:1), pp 131-166.
- Bansal, H. S., Taylor, S. F., and James, Y. S. 2005. ""Migrating" to new service providers: Toward a unifying framework of consumers' switching behaviors," *Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science* (33:1), pp 96-115.
- Barnes, S. J., and Vidgen, R. T. 2014. "Technology socialness and Web site satisfaction," *Technological Forecasting and Social Change* (89), pp 12-25.
- Barney, J. 1991. "Firm resources and sustained competitive advantage," *Journal of management* (17:1), pp 99-120.
- Bartridge, T. 2005. "Why are policies & procedures so important?," AMEinfo.com.
- Beaudoin, M. F. 2002. "Learning or lurking?: Tracking the "invisible" online student," *The internet and higher education* (5:2), pp 147-155.
- Beaudry, A., and Pinsonneault, A. 2010. "The other side of acceptance: studying the direct and indirect effects of emotions on information technology use," *MIS Quarterly* (34:4), pp 689-710.
- Beck, R., Pahlke, I., and Seebach, C. 2014a. "Knowledge Exchange and Symbolic Action in Social Media-Enabled Electronic Networks of Practice: A Multilevel Perspective on Knowledge Seekers and Contributors," *MIS Quarterly* (38:4), pp 1245-1270.
- Beck, R., Rai, A., Fischbach, K., and Keil, M. 2014b. "Untangling knowledge creation and knowledge integration in enterprise wikis," *Journal of Business Economics* (85:4), pp 389-420.
- Beenen, G., Ling, K., Wang, X., Chang, K., Frankowski, D., Resnick, P., and Kraut, R. E. 2004. "Using social psychology to motivate contributions to online communities," in *Proceedings of the 2004 ACM conference on Computer supported cooperative work*, pp. 212-221.
- Behrendt, S., Richter, A., and Riemer, K. 2014. "Conceptualisation of Digital Traces for the Identification of Informal Networks in Enterprise Social Networks," in 25th Australasian Conference on Information Systems: Auckland, New Zealand.
- Berger, K., Klier, J., Klier, M., and Richter, A. 2014. "Who Is Key...?"–Value Adding Users In Enterprise Social Networks," in *The 22nd European Conference on Information Systems (ECIS)* Tel Aviv.
- Bhattacherjee, A. 2012. "Social Science Research: principles, methods, and practices," USF Tampa Bay Open Access Textbooks Collection. Book 3. http://scholarcommons.usf.edu/oa_textbooks/3.
- Bhattacherjee, A., and Sanford, C. 2006. "Influence Processes for Information Technology Acceptance: An Elaboration Likelihood Model," *MIS Quarterly* (30:4), pp 805-825.
- Bia, M., and Kalika, M. 2007. "Adopting an ICT code of conduct: An empirical study of organizational factors," *Journal of enterprise information management* (20:4), pp 432-446.

- Bishop, J. 2007. "Increasing participation in online communities: A framework for human–computer interaction," *Computers in Human Behavior* (23:4), pp 1881-1893.
- Bishop, J. 2011. "Transforming lurkers into posters: The role of the participation continuum," in *Proceedings of the Fourth International Conference on Internet Technologies and Applications (ITA11)*.
- Black, N., Brazier, J., Fitzpatrick, R., and Reeves, B. 1998. "Designing and using patient and staff questionnaires," *Black N, Brazier J, Fitzpatrick R, Reeves B. Health services research methods-a Guide to best practice. London: BMJ Books.*
- Blau, P. M. 1964. Exchange and power in social life, John Wiley, NewYork, 1964.
- Blauner, R. 1964. *Alienation and freedom: the factory worker and his industry*, Chicago, IL: The University of Chicago Press.
- Bock, G.-W., Kankanhalli, A., and Sharma, S. 2006. "Are norms enough? The role of collaborative norms in promoting organizational knowledge seeking," *European Journal of Information Systems* (15:4), pp 357-367.
- Bock, G.-W., and Kim, Y.-G. 2001. "Breaking the myths of rewards: An exploratory study of attitudes about knowledge sharing," in *Proceedings of the Pacific Asia Conference on Information Systems (PACIS)*, p. 78.
- Bock, G.-W., Zmud, R. W., Kim, Y.-G., and Lee, J.-N. 2005. "Behavioral intention formation in knowledge sharing: Examining the roles of extrinsic motivators, social-psychological forces, and organizational climate," *MIS Quarterly* (29:1), pp 87-111.
- Boh, W. F., and Wong, S. S. 2013. "Organizational Climate and Perceived Manager Effectiveness: Influencing Perceived Usefulness of Knowledge Sharing Mechanisms," *Journal of the Association for Information Systems* (14:3), p 2.
- Boss, S. R., Kirsch, L. J., Angermeier, I., Shingler, R. A., and Boss, R. W. 2009. "If someone is watching, I'll do what I'm asked: mandatoriness, control, and information security," *European Journal of Information Systems* (18:2), pp 151-164.
- Boyd, D., and Ellison, N. 2007a. "Social network sites: Definition, history, and scholarship," *Journal of Computer-Mediated Communication* (13:1), pp 210-230.
- Bradley, A. J., McDonald, M. P., and Books24x, I. 2011. "The social organization: how to use social media to tap the collective genius of your customers and employees," Harvard Business Press, Boston, Mass.
- Brown, S. A., Dennis, A. R., and Venkatesh, V. 2010. "Predicting collaboration technology use: Integrating technology adoption and collaboration research," *Journal of Management Information Systems* (27:2), pp 9-54.
- Bryman, A., and Bell, E. 2011. *Business Research Methods 3e*, Oxford university press.
- Bryman, A., and Cramer, D. 2009. *Quantitative data analysis with SPSS 14, 15 and 16: A guide for social scientists*, Routledge New York, NY.
- Brzozowski, M. J., Sandholm, T., and Hogg, T. 2009. "Effects of feedback and peer pressure on contributions to enterprise social media," in *Proceedings of the ACM international conference on Supporting group work*: Sanibel Island, Florida, USA, pp. 61-70.
- Bunce, S., Partridge, H., and Davis, K. 2012. "Exploring information experience using social media during the 2011 Queensland Floods: a pilot study," *Australian Library Journal* (61:1), pp 34-45.

- Burns, T. E., and Stalker, G. M. 1961. "The management of innovation," University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign's Academy for Entrepreneurial Leadership Historical Research Reference in Entrepreneurship.
- Burton-Jones, A., and Straub, D. W. 2006. "Reconceptualizing system usage: An approach and empirical test," *Information Systems Research* (17:3), pp 228-246.
- Cabrera, A., and Cabrera, E. F. 2002. "Knowledge-sharing dilemmas," *Organization studies* (23:5), pp 687-710.
- Cameron, K. A. 2009. "A practitioner's guide to persuasion: An overview of 15 selected persuasion theories, models and frameworks," *Patient Education and Counseling* (74:3), pp 309-317.
- Cardon, P. W., and Marshall, B. 2014. "The Hype and Reality of Social Media Use for Work Collaboration and Team Communication," *International Journal of Business Communication* (52:3), pp 273-293.
- Cattell, R. 2012. *The scientific use of factor analysis in behavioral and life sciences*, Springer Science & Business Media.
- Cenfetelli, R. T. 2004. "Inhibitors and enablers as dual factor concepts in technology usage," *Journal of the Association for Information Systems* (5:11), p 16.
- Chandra, S., Srivastava, S., and Theng, Y. 2009. "Role of Cognitive Absorption and Trust for Collaboration in Virtual World," in *Proceedings of the Pacific Asia Conference on Information Systems (PACIS)*.
- Chandra, S., Srivastava, S. C., and Theng, Y.-L. 2012. "Cognitive Absorption and Trust for Workplace Collaboration in Virtual Worlds: An Information Processing Decision Making Perspective," *Journal of the Association for Information Systems* (13:10), pp 797-835.
- Chang, I.-C., Liu, C.-C., and Chen, K. 2013. "The effects of hedonic/utilitarian expectations and social influence on continuance intention to play online games," *Internet Research* (24:1), pp 2-2.
- Chatterjee, D., and Carl Pacini, V. S. 2002. "The shareholder-wealth and tradingvolume effects of information-technology infrastructure investments," *Journal of Management Information Systems* (19:2), pp 7-42.
- Checchi, R. M., Sevcik, G. R., Loch, K., and Straub, D. W. 2002. "An instrumentation process for measuring ICT policies and culture," in *J. Mack Robinson College of Business, Georgia State University.* .
- Chen, C.-J., and Hung, S.-W. 2010. "To give or to receive? Factors influencing members' knowledge sharing and community promotion in professional virtual communities," *Information & Management* (47:4), pp 226-236.
- Chen, F.-c. 2004. "Passive forum behaviors (lurking): A community perspective," Proceedings of the 6th international conference on Learning sciences, International Society of the Learning Sciences, pp. 128-135.
- Cheng, H.-H., and Chen, C.-W. 2014. "A Study of Lurking Behavior: The Desire Perspective," *International Journal of Social, Human Science and Engineering* (8:4).
- Cheung, C. M., Lee, M. K., and Lee, Z. W. 2013. "Understanding the continuance intention of knowledge sharing in online communities of practice through the post-knowledge-sharing evaluation processes," *Journal of the American Society for Information Science and Technology* (64:7), pp 1357-1374.
- Chin, C. P.-Y., Evans, N., and Choo, K.-K. R. 2014. "Enterprise Social Networking Adoption: Exploring the Factors Influencing Employees' Adoption," in

Twentieth Americas Conference on Information Systems (AMCIS): Savannah, USA.

- Chin, W. W. 1998. "The partial least squares approach to structural equation modeling," *Modern methods for business research* (295:2), pp 295-336.
- Chiu, C.-M., Hsu, M.-H., and Wang, E. T. 2006. "Understanding knowledge sharing in virtual communities: An integration of social capital and social cognitive theories," *Decision Support Systems* (42:3), pp 1872-1888.
- Choi, J. H., Lev, B., and Kim, H.-L. 2014. "Exploring Determinants of Knowledge Sharing in a Social Network of Practice," Proceedings of the Seventh International Conference on Management Science and Engineering Management, Springer, pp. 39-51.
- Chuang, S.-H., and Shih, M.-L. 2014. "Persuasion Processes in Consumer Intent to Read Online Product Reviews: A Study Based on the Elaboration Likelihood Model," *International Journal of Computers & Technology* (12:10), pp 4026-4037.
- Churchill Jr, G. A. 1979. "A paradigm for developing better measures of marketing constructs," *Journal of Marketing Research* (16:1), pp 64-73.
- Cialdini, R. B., and James, L. 2009. *Influence: Science and practice*, Pearson education Boston, MA.
- Clark, V. L. P., and Creswell, J. W. 2011. *Designing and conducting mixed methods research*, Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Clear, J. 2012. "Transform Your Habits: How to Build Habits that Stick, Break Bad Habits, and Master Behavior Chang," Available online from: <u>http://jamesclear.com/habits</u>
- Cleveland, S. 2012. "Using microblogging for lessons learned in information systems projects," in *International Research Workshop on IT Project Management*, pp. 122-128.
- Constant, D., Sproull, L., and Kiesler, S. 1996. "The kindness of strangers: The usefulness of electronic weak ties for technical advice," *Organization science* (7:2), pp 119-135.
- Couper, M. P., Traugott, M. W., and Lamias, M. J. 2001. "Web survey design and administration," *Public opinion quarterly* (65:2), pp 230-253.
- Coyle, V. C., and Newman, D. L. 2012. "Motivation in Online Environments," in *Encyclopedia of Cyber Behavior*, IGI Global, pp. 1212-1224.
- Cranefield, J., Yoong, P., and Huff, S. L. 2015. "Rethinking Lurking: Invisible Leading and Following in a Knowledge Transfer Ecosystem," *Journal of the Association for Information Systems* (16:4), pp 213-247.
- Creswell, J. W. 2009. *Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches*, Sage.
- Cronbach, L. J. 1951. "Coefficient alpha and the internal structure of tests," *psychometrika* (16:3), pp 297-334.
- Cronbach, L. J., and Meehl, P. E. 1955. "Construct validity in psychological tests," *Psychological bulletin* (52:4), p 281.
- Csikszentmihalyi, M. 1975. "Beyond Boredom and Anxiety.," San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Cullen, R., and Sommer, L. 2011. "Participatory democracy and the value of online community networks: An exploration of online and offline communities engaged in civil society and political activity," *Government Information Quarterly* (28:2), pp 148-154.

- David, K., Doug, P., Anh, N. P., and Robert, B. 2013. "Social Business: Shifting Out of First Gear," MIT Sloan Management Review, Cambridge, MA, USA.
- Davis, F. D. 1989. "Perceived usefulness, perceived ease of use, and user acceptance of information technology," *MIS Quarterly* (13:3), pp 319-340.
- Davis, F. D., Bagozzi, R. P., and Warshaw, P. R. 1989. "User acceptance of computer technology: a comparison of two theoretical models," *Management science* (35:8), pp 982-1003.
- Davis, F. D., Bagozzi, R. P., and Warshaw, P. R. 1992. "Extrinsic and intrinsic motivation to use computers in the workplace1," *Journal of applied social psychology* (22:14), pp 1111-1132.
- de Carvalho, C. R. M., Furtado, E. S., and Furtado, V. 2015. "Does content categorization lead to knowledge building? An experiment in a social bookmarking service," *Computers in Human Behavior* (51:B), pp 1177–1184.
- De Dreu, C. K., Nijstad, B. A., and van Knippenberg, D. 2008. "Motivated information processing in group judgment and decision making," *Personality and Social Psychology Review* (12:1), pp 22-49.
- Deci, E. L. 1975. Intrinsic motivation, Plenum Press, New York.
- Deci, E. L., and Ryan, R. M. 1985. "Self Determination," Wiley Online Library.
- De Guinea, A. O., and Markus, M. L. 2009. "Why break the habit of a lifetime? Rethinking the roles of intention, habit, and emotion in continuing information technology use," *Mis Quarterly* (33:3), pp 433-444.
- Deloitte 2013. "Technology, Media & Telecommunications Predictions," Deloitte Global Services Limited.
- Deloitte 2015. "Global Powers of Retailing 2015, Retrieved September 20 2015, from <u>http://www2.deloitte.com/au/en/pages/consumer-</u> <u>business/articles/global-powers-of-retailing.html.</u>"
- Dennen, V. P. 2008. "Pedagogical lurking: Student engagement in non-posting discussion behavior," *Computers in Human Behavior* (24:4), pp 1624-1633.
- Denyer, D., Parry, E., and Flowers, P. 2011. ""Social", "Open" and "Participative"? Exploring Personal Experiences and Organisational Effects of Enterprise2. 0 Use, "*Long Range Planning* (44:5), pp 375-396.
- Devellis, R. F. 2003. *Scale Development: Theory and Applications Second Edition* SAGE.
- DeVellis, R. F. 2011. *Scale development: Theory and applications*, (Sage Publications, Incorporated.
- Diamantopoulos, A., and Winklhofer, H. M. 2001. "Index construction with formative indicators: An alternative to scale development," *Journal of marketing research* (38:2), pp 269-277.
- DiMicco, J., Millen, D. R., Geyer, W., Dugan, C., Brownholtz, B., and Muller, M. 2008. "Motivations for social networking at work," in *Proceedings of the* 2008 ACM conference on Computer supported cooperative work: San Diego, CA, pp. 711-720.
- DiMicco, J. M., Geyer, W., Millen, D. R., Dugan, C., and Brownholtz, B. 2009.
 "People Sensemaking and Relationship Building on an Enterprise Social Network Site," in *Hawaii International Conference on System Sciences*, pp. 1-10.
- Ding, G., and Huang, L. 2014. "Guanxi Orientation and Subjective Norms in Knowledge Sharing: The Mediating Effects of Loss of Knowledge Power and Codify Effort," in *18th Pacific Asia Conference on Information Systems*.

- Djajakusuma, I., Heiss, M., and Langen, M. 2015. "A Balanced Scorecard for Steering an Enterprise Social Network: A Case Study of Siemens TechnoWeb," in *Wissen verändert: Beiträge zu den Kremser Wissensmanagement-Tagen 2014*, p. 49.
- Doherty, N. F., Anastasakis, L., and Fulford, H. 2011. "Reinforcing the security of corporate information resources: A critical review of the role of the acceptable use policy," *International Journal of Information Management* (31:3), pp 201-209.
- Dubin, R. 1978. Theory Building: Revised Ed, New York: Free Press.
- Eckhardt, A., Laumer, S., and Weitzel, T. 2009. "Who influences whom? Analyzing workplace referents' social influence on IT adoption and nonadoption," *Journal of Information Technology* (24:1), pp 11-24.
- Edelman, B., and Eisenmann, T. R. 2014. "Google Inc. in 2014," *Harvard Business School,* Case 915-004, September 2014.
- El Ouirdi, A., El Ouirdi, M., Segers, J., and Henderickx, E. 2015. "Employees' use of social media technologies: a methodological and thematic review," *Behaviour & Information Technology* (34:5), pp 1-11.
- Elangovan, A., and Xie, J. L. 1999. "Effects of perceived power of supervisor on subordinate stress and motivation: The moderating role of subordinate characteristics," *Journal of Organizational Behavior* (20:3), pp 359-373.
- Ellison, N. B., and Boyd, D. 2013. *Sociality through social network sites*, Oxford University Press Oxford.
- Flynn, D., van Schaik, P., and van Wersch, A. 2004. "A Comparison of Multi-Item Likert and Visual Analogue Scales for the Assessment of Transactionally Defined Coping Function," *European Journal of Psychological Assessment* (20:1), p 49.
- Fogg, B. J. 2002. "Persuasive technology: using computers to change what we think and do," *Ubiquity* (2002:December), p 5.
- Fornell, C., and Larcker, D. F. 1981. "Evaluating structural equation models with unobservable variables and measurement error," *Journal of marketing research*, pp 39-50.
- Froehle, C. M., and Roth, A. V. 2004. "New measurement scales for evaluating perceptions of the technology-mediated customer service experience," *Journal of Operations Management* (22:1), pp 1-21.
- Fulk, J., and Yuan, Y. C. 2013. "Location, Motivation, and Social Capitalization via Enterprise Social Networking," *Journal of Computer-Mediated Communication* (19:1), pp 20-37.
- Gable, G. G. 1994. "Integrating case study and survey research methods: an example in information systems," *European Journal of Information Systems* (3:2), pp 112-126.
- Gardner, B., Lally, P., and Wardle, J. 2012. "Making health habitual: the psychology of 'habit-formation'and general practice," *British Journal of General Practice* (62:605), pp 664-666.
- Gartner. 2013. "Gartner Says 80 Percent of Social Business Efforts Will Not Achieve Intended Benefits Through 2015, http://www.gartner.com/newsroom/id/2319215."
- Gefen, D., Straub, D. W., and Boudreau, M.-C. 2000. "Structural equation modeling and regression: Guidelines for research practice," *Communications of the Association for Information Systems* (4:1), p 7.

- Gensollen, M. 2007. "Information goods and online communities," *Internet and Digital Economics* (0:0).
- Gray, P. H. 2001. "The impact of knowledge repositories on power and control in the workplace," *Information Technology & People* (14:4) 2001, pp 368-384.
- Grigore, M., and Rosenkranz, C. 2011. "Increasing the willingness to collaborate online: an analysis of sentiment-driven interactions in peer content production," in *Proceedings of the 32nd International Conference on Information Systems (ICIS)*: Shanghai, China
- Guo, K. H. 2012. "Security-Related Behavior in Using Information Systems in the Workplace: A Review and Synthesis," *Computers & security* (32), pp 242-251
- Hair, J. F., Ringle, C. M., and Sarstedt, M. 2011. "PLS-SEM: Indeed a silver bullet," *The Journal of Marketing Theory and Practice* (19:2), pp 139-152.
- Hair Jr, J. F., Hult, G. T. M., Ringle, C., and Sarstedt, M. 2013. A primer on partial least squares structural equation modeling (PLS-SEM), Sage, Thousand Oaks, CA.
- Han, J. Y., Hou, J., Kim, E., and Gustafson, D. H. 2013. "Lurking as an Active Participation Process: A Longitudinal Investigation of Engagement with an Online Cancer Support Group," *Health Communication* (29:9), pp 911-923.
- He, W. 2012. "A review of social media security risks and mitigation techniques," Journal of Systems and Information Technology (14:2), pp 171-180.
- He, W., and Wei, K.-K. 2009. "What drives continued knowledge sharing? An investigation of knowledge-contribution and-seeking beliefs," *Decision Support Systems* (46:4), pp 826-838.
- Hekkala, R., Väyrynen, K., and Wiander, T. 2012. "Information Security Challenges of Social Media for Companies," in *European Conference on Information Systems (ECIS)*.
- Henseler, J. 2010. "On the convergence of the partial least squares path modeling algorithm," *Computational Statistics* (25:1), pp 107-120.
- Herath, T., and Rao, H. R. 2009. "Encouraging information security behaviors in organizations: Role of penalties, pressures and perceived effectiveness," *Decision Support Systems* (47:2), pp 154-165.
- Herzog, C., Richter, A., Steinhüser, M., Hoppe, U., and Koch, M. 2013. "Methods And Metrics For Measuring The Success Of Enterprise Social Software-What We Can Learn From Practice And Vice Versa," in *European Conference on Information Systems (ECIS)*: Utrecht.
- Hester, A. J. 2011. "A comparative analysis of the usage and infusion of wiki and non-wiki-based knowledge management systems," *Information Technology and Management* (12:4), pp 335-355.
- Hinchcliffe, D., and Kim, P. 2012. Social Business By Design: Transformative Social Media Strategies for the Connected Company, Jossey-Bass.
- Hinkin, T. R., and Schriesheim, C. A. 1989. "Development and application of new scales to measure the French and Raven (1959) bases of social power," *Journal of Applied Psychology* (74:4), p 561.
- Hong, S.-J., and Tam, K. Y. 2006. "Understanding the adoption of multipurpose information appliances: The case of mobile data services," *Information* systems research (17:2), pp 162-179.
- Honigman, B. 2014. "A Practical Guide to Writing an Effective Social Media Policy," Honigman Media, <u>http://www.brianhonigman.com/social-media-policy/</u>, retrieved Dec. 15, 2014

- Hosmer, D. W., and Lemeshow, S. 2000. "Applied logistic regression," in *Applied logistic regression*, Wiley.
- Hrdinová, J., Helbig, N., and Peters, C. S. 2010. *Designing social media policy for government: Eight essential elements*, Center for Technology in Government, University of Albany.
- Hsu, C.-L., and Lin, J. C.-C. 2008. "Acceptance of blog usage: The roles of technology acceptance, social influence and knowledge sharing motivation," *Information & Management* (45:1), pp 65-74.
- Hsu, M.-H., Ju, T. L., Yen, C.-H., and Chang, C.-M. 2007. "Knowledge sharing behavior in virtual communities: The relationship between trust, self-efficacy, and outcome expectations," *International journal of human-computer studies* (65:2), pp 153-169.
- Hu, Q., Dinev, T., Hart, P., and Cooke, D. 2012. "Managing Employee Compliance with Information Security Policies: The Critical Role of Top Management and Organizational Culture*," *Decision Sciences* (43:4), pp 615-660.
- Huang, Q., Davison, R. M., and Gu, J. 2008. "Impact of personal and cultural factors on knowledge sharing in China," *Asia Pacific Journal of Management* (25:3), pp 451-471.
- Huang, Y., Singh, P. V., and Ghose, A. 2015. "A structural model of employee behavioral dynamics in enterprise social media," *Management Science* (61:12), pp 2825-2844
- Huber, M., C. Piercy, and Mckeown, P. 2007. *Information Systems: Creating Business Value*, Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley & Sons.
- Hung, S.-Y., Lai, H.-M., and Chang, W.-W. 2011. "Knowledge-sharing motivations affecting R&D employees' acceptance of electronic knowledge repository," *Behaviour & Information Technology* (30:2), pp 213-230.
- Hung, S.-Y., Lai, H.-M., and Chou, Y.-C. 2015. "Knowledge-sharing intention in professional virtual communities: A comparison between posters and lurkers," *Journal of the Association for Information Science and Technology* (In press).
- Hung, Y. W., Hsu, J. S.-C., and Shih, S.-P. 2012. "The Role of Formal and Social Control in Information Security Behaviors, pre-ICIS workshop on Information Security and Privacy (SIGSEC)." in WISP 2012 Proceedings. Paper 8.
- Husin, M., and Hanisch, J. 2011a. "Social Media and Organization Policy (SOMEOP): Finding the Perfect Balance.," in *European Conference on Information Systems (ECIS)*: Paper 253.
- Husin, M., and Hanisch, J. 2011b. "Utilising the Social Media and Organisation Policy (SOMEOP) Framework: An Example of Organisational Policy Development within a Public Sector Entity.," in *European Conference on Information Systems (ECIS)*: Paper 264.
- Ifinedo, P. 2011. "Understanding information systems security policy compliance: An integration of the theory of planned behavior and the protection motivation theory," *Computers & security* (31), pp 83-95.
- Ishman, M. D. 1996. "Measuring Information Success at the Individual Level in Cross-Cultural Environments," *Information Resources Management Journal* (9:4), pp 16-28.
- Jaeger, P., Bertot, J., and Shilton, K. 2012. "Information Policy and Social Media: Framing Government—Citizen Web 2.0 Interactions," in *Web 2.0*

Technologies and Democratic Governance, C. G. Reddick and S. K. Aikins (eds.), Springer New York, pp. 11-25.

- Jin, X.-L., Cheung, C. M., Lee, M. K., and Chen, H.-P. 2009. "How to keep members using the information in a computer-supported social network," *Computers in Human Behavior* (25:5), pp 1172-1181.
- Kane, G. C. 2015. "Enterprise Social Media: Current Capabilities and Future Possibilities," *MIS Quarterly Executive* (14:1), pp 1-15.
- Kane, G. C., Alavi, M., Labianca, G., and Borgatti, S. P. 2014. "What's different about social media networks? A framework and research agenda," *MIS Quarterly* (38:1), pp 275-304.
- Kang, J., Tang, L., and Fiore, A. M. 2014. "Enhancing consumer-brand relationships on restaurant Facebook fan pages: Maximizing consumer benefits and increasing active participation," *International Journal of Hospitality Management* (36:0), pp 145-155.
- Kang, Y. S., Min, J., Kim, J., and Lee, H. 2013. "Roles of alternative and selforiented perspectives in the context of the continued use of social network sites," *International Journal of Information Management* (33:3), pp 496-511.
- Kang, M., Kim, S., Kang, J., Jang, J., and Kim, S. 2015. "The Predictive Power of Self-Regulated Learning, Teaching Presence, and Perceived Interaction on the Outcomes of Google Plus-based Project Learning," in *EdMedia: World Conference on Educational Media and Technology 2015*, S. Carliner, C. Fulford and N. Ostashewski (eds.). Montreal, Quebec, Canada: Association for the Advancement of Computing in Education (AACE), pp. 1507-1514.
- Kankanhalli, A., Tan, B. C., and Wei, K.-K. 2005. "Contributing knowledge to electronic knowledge repositories: an empirical investigation," *MIS Quarterly* (29:1), pp 113-143.
- Kankanhalli, A., Teo, H.-H., Tan, B. C. Y., and Wei, K.-K. 2003. "An integrative study of information systems security effectiveness," *International Journal of Information Management* (23:2), pp 139-154.
- Kaplan, A. M., and Haenlein, M. 2010. "Users of the world, unite! The challenges and opportunities of Social Media," *Business horizons* (53:1), pp 59-68.
- Karahanna, E., and Straub, D. W. 1999. "The psychological origins of perceived usefulness and ease-of-use," *Information & Management* (35:4), pp 237-250.
- Kasper, H., Koleva, I., and Kett, H. 2012. "Social Media Matrix," Common Value Management (0:0), p 9.
- Kelman, H. C. 1958. "Compliance, identification, and internalization: Three processes of attitude change," *Journal of conflict resolution* (2:1), pp 51-60.
- Kietzmann, J. H., Hermkens, K., McCarthy, I. P., and Silvestre, B. S. 2011. "Social media? Get serious! Understanding the functional building blocks of social media," *Business horizons* (54), p 241—251.
- King, W. R., and Marks Jr, P. V. 2008. "Motivating knowledge sharing through a knowledge management system," *Omega* (36:1), pp 131-146.
- Kirsch, L. J. 1996. "The management of complex tasks in organizations: Controlling the systems development process," *Organization Science* (7:1), pp 1-21.
- Kline, R. B. 1998. "Software review: Software programs for structural equation modeling: Amos, EQS, and LISREL," *Journal of psychoeducational assessment* (16:4), pp 343-364.
- Koch, H., Gonzalez, E., and Leidner, D. 2012. "Bridging the work/social divide: the emotional response to organizational social networking sites," *European Journal of Information Systems* (21:6), pp 699–717.

- Koh, J., Kim, Y.-G., Butler, B., and Bock, G.-W. 2007. "Encouraging participation in virtual communities," *Commun. ACM* (50:2), pp 68-73.
- Kohn, A. 1993. "Why incentive plans cannot work," Harvard Business Review 71 (1993).
- Koufaris, M. 2002. "Applying the technology acceptance model and flow theory to online consumer behavior," *Information Systems Research* (13:2), pp 205-223.
- Kuegler, M., Smolnik, S., and Kane, G. 2015. "What's in IT for employees? Understanding the relationship between use and performance in enterprise social software," *The Journal of Strategic Information Systems* (24:2), pp 90-112
- Kügler, M., Dittes, S., Smolnik, S., and Richter, A. 2015a. "Connect Me! Antecedents and Impact of Social Connectedness in Enterprise Social Software," *Business & Information Systems Engineering* (57:3), pp 181-196.
- Kügler, M., Lübbert, C., and Smolnik, S. 2015b. "Organizational Climate's Role in Enterprise Social Software Usage: An Empirical Assessment," in *Proceedings der 12. Internationalen Tagung Wirtschaftsinformatik*: Osnabrück, Germany.
- Kugler, M., and Smolnik, S. 2013a. "Just for the Fun of It? Towards a Model for Assessing the Individual Benefits of Employees' Enterprise Social Software Usage," in 46th Hawaii International Conference on System Sciences, IEEE, pp. 3614-3623.
- Kügler, M., and Smolnik, S. 2014. "Uncovering The Phenomenon Of Employees' Enterprise Social Software Use In The Post-Acceptance Stage-Proposing A Use Typology," in *Twenty Second European Conference on Information Systems*: Tel Aviv.
- Kugler, M., Smolnik, S., and Raeth, P. 2013b. "Determining the Factors Influencing Enterprise Social Software Usage: Development of a Measurement Instrument for Empirical Assessment," in 46th Hawaii International Conference on System Sciences, IEEE, pp. 3635-3644.
- Kügler, M., Smolnik, S., and Raeth, P. 2012. "Why Don't You Use It? Assessing the Determinants of Enterprise Social Software Usage: A Conceptual Model Integrating Innovation Diffusion and Social Capital Theories," in *Thirty Third International Conference on Information Systems (ICIS)*: Orlando, USA.
- Kulkarni, U. R., Ravindran, S., and Freeze, R. 2007. "A knowledge management success model: theoretical development and empirical validation," *Journal of Management Information Systems* (23:3), pp 309-347.
- Kuo, R.-Z., and Lee, G.-G. 2011. "Knowledge management system adoption: exploring the effects of empowering leadership, task-technology fit and compatibility," *Behaviour & Information Technology* (30:1) 2011/01/01, pp 113-129.
- Lai, H.-M., and Chen, T. T. 2014. "Knowledge sharing in interest online communities: A comparison of posters and lurkers," *Computers in Human Behavior* (35), pp 295-306.
- Lai, H.-M., and Hsieh, P.-J. 2013. "The Decision to Continue Sharing Knowledge in Virtual Communities: The Moderating Role of Knowledge-Sharing Experience and Knowledge Self-Efficacy," in *In Proceedings of the Pacific Asia Conference on Information Systems (PACIS).*

- Lally, P., Van Jaarsveld, C. H., Potts, H. W., and Wardle, J. 2010. "How are habits formed: Modelling habit formation in the real world," *European Journal of Social Psychology* (40:6), pp 998-1009.
- Laudon, K. C., and Laudon, J. P. 2012. *Management information systems: managing the digital firm*, Pearson/Prentice Hall: Upper Saddle River, NJ.
- Lee, W., and Paris, C. M. 2013. "Knowledge Sharing and Social Technology Acceptance Model: Promoting Local Events and Festivals Through Facebook," *Tourism Analysis* (18:4), pp 457-469.
- Leonardi, P. M., Huysman, Marleen and Steinfield, Charles 2013. "Enterprise Social Media: Definition, History, and Prospects for the Study of Social Technologies in Organizations," *Journal of Computer-Mediated Communication* (19:1).
- Lewis, R., and Dart, M. 2014. "The new rules of retail: competing in the world's toughest marketplace," New York City, Palgrave Macmillan.
- Li, C.-Y. 2013. "Persuasive messages on information system acceptance: A theoretical extension of elaboration likelihood model and social influence theory," *Computers in Human Behavior* (29:1), pp 264-275.
- Li, C.-Y. 2015a. "The effects of source credibility and argument quality on employees' responses toward information system usage," *Asia Pacific Management Review* (29:2), pp 1-19.
- Li, C. 2015b. "Why No One Uses the Corporate Social Network," Harvard business review.
- Liang, H., Saraf, N., Hu, Q., and Xue, Y. 2007. "Assimilation of enterprise systems: The effect of institutional pressures and the mediating role of top management," *MIS Quarterly* (31:1), pp 59-87.
- Liang, T.-P., Liu, C.-C., and Wu, C.-H. 2008. "Can social exchange theory explain individual knowledge-sharing behavior? A meta-analysis," in *Twenty Ninth International Conference on Information Systems (ICIS)*: Paris, France, p. 171.
- Lim, C. P., and Tan, S. C. 2001. "Online discussion boards for focus group interviews: An exploratory study," *Journal of Educational Enquiry* (2:1), pp 50-60.
- Lim, J.-S., Al-Aali, A., Heinrichs, J. H., and Lim, K.-S. 2013. "Testing alternative models of individuals' social media involvement and satisfaction," *Computers in Human Behavior* (29:6), pp 2816-2828.
- Lin, A., Gregor, S., and Ewing, M. 2009. "Understanding the nature of online emotional experiences: a study of enjoyment as a web experience," in *Proceedings of the 11th International Conference on Electronic Commerce*, ACM: pp. 259-268, pp. 259-268.
- Lin, C. P., and Bhattacherjee, A. 2010. "Extending technology usage models to interactive hedonic technologies: a theoretical model and empirical test," *Information Systems Journal* (20:2), pp 163-181.
- Lin, C. P., and Joe, S. W. 2012. "To Share or Not to Share: Assessing Knowledge Sharing, Interemployee Helping, and Their Antecedents Among Online Knowledge Workers," *Journal of Business Ethics*, pp 1-11.
- Lin, S.-W., Lo, L. Y.-S., and Chase, R. 2015. "Mechanisms to Motivate Knowledge Sharing: Integrating the Reward Systems and Social Network Perspectives," *Journal of Knowledge Management* (19:2).

- Ling, K., Beenen, G., Ludford, P., Wang, X., Chang, K., Li, X., Cosley, D., Frankowski, D., Terveen, L., and Rashid, A. M. 2005. "Using social psychology to motivate contributions to online communities," *Journal of Computer-Mediated Communication* (10:4), pp 00-00.
- Liu, H., Hefei, A., and Chen, Z. 2014. "The Impact of Enterprise Social Networking Use on Team Performance: Transactive Memory System As an Explanation Mechanism," in *Proceedings of the Pacific Asia Conference on Information Systems (PACIS)*.
- Luo, C., Luo, X. R., Schatzberg, L., and Sia, C. L. 2013. "Impact of informational factors on online recommendation credibility: The moderating role of source credibility," *Decision Support Systems* (56), pp 92-102.
- Lyssand, L. 2010. "Enterprise Social Governance Guidelines: Code of Conduct Reference Protocols for Enterprise Social Networks and Consumer Social Media," ClearVale, <u>http://goo.gl/uCKPJm</u>, retrieved April 11, 2014.
- Lytle, R. 2013. "The Beginner's Guide to Google+," Mashable, Retrieved May 22, 2014, from <u>http://mashable.com/2013/10/27/google-plus-beginners-guide/#iQVJd74DPSqb</u>
- Ma, M., and Agarwal, R. 2007. "Through a glass darkly: Information technology design, identity verification, and knowledge contribution in online communities," *Information Systems Research* (18:1), pp 42-67.
- MacInnis, D. J., Moorman, C., and Jaworski, B. J. 1991. "Enhancing and measuring consumers' motivation, opportunity, and ability to process brand information from ads," *The Journal of Marketing*, pp 32-53.
- MacKenzie, S. B., Podsakoff, P. M., and Podsakoff, N. P. 2011. "Construct measurement and validation procedures in MIS and behavioral research: integrating new and existing techniques," *MIS Quarterly* (35:2), pp 293-334.
- Macnamara, J. 2011. "Social Media Strategy and Governance: Gaps, Risks and Opportunities," in *University of Technology Sydney: Sydney, Australia*.
- Macnamara, J., and Zerfass, A. 2012. "Social Media Communication in Organizations: The Challenges of Balancing Openness, Strategy, and Management," *International Journal of Strategic Communication* (6:4), pp 287-308.
- Majchrzak, A., Faraj, S., Kane, G. C., and Azad, B. 2013. "The Contradictory Influence of Social Media Affordances on Online Knowledge Sharing," *Journal of Computer-Mediated Communication* (19:1), pp 38-55.
- Majchrzak, A., Wagner, C., and Yates, D. 2012. "The impact of shaping on knowledge reuse for organizational improvement with wikis," *MIS Quarterly* (37:2), pp 455-470.
- Malinen, S. 2015. "Understanding user participation in online communities: A systematic literature review of empirical studies," *Computers in Human Behavior* (46), pp 228-238.
- Marett, K., and Joshi, K. D. 2009. "The decision to share information and rumors: Examining the role of motivation in an online discussion forum," *Communications of the Association for Information Systems* (24:1), pp 47-68.
- Markus, L. M. 2001. "Toward a theory of knowledge reuse: Types of knowledge reuse situations and factors in reuse success," *Journal of management information systems* (18:1), pp 57-93.
- Marten, A., and Milve, L. 2011. "Every change is difficult" A case study of employee behavior in Mölnlycke Health Care's intranet.

- Mathiesen, P., and Fielt, E. 2013. "Enterprise social networks: a business model perspective," in *Proceedings of the 24th Australasian Conference on Information Systems (ACIS)*: Melbourne, Australia.
- Matzat, U., and Rooks, G. 2014. "Styles of moderation in online health and support communities: An experimental comparison of their acceptance and effectiveness," *Computers in Human Behavior* (36), pp 65-75.
- May, N. 2013. "The Future Of Social Business Is Already Here: An Interview with Dion Hinchcliffe on How to Close the Growing Gap among Enterprise 2.0 Leaders and Laggards," HfS, <u>http://www.hfsresearch.com/the-future-of-social-business-is-already-here</u>, retrieved Dec. 2013.
- McAfee, A. P. 2009. "Shattering the myths about Enterprise 2.0," *Harvard Business Review* (87:11), pp 1-6.
- McGee, M. 2013. "Google+ Hits 300 Million Active Monthly "In-Stream" Users, 540 Million Across Google," Marketing Land, Retrieved Dec 12, 2014, from <u>http://marketingland.com/google-hits-300-million-active-monthly-in-</u> <u>stream-users-540-million-across-google-63354</u>.
- McLure Wasko, M., and Faraj, S. 2000. ""It is what one does": Why people participate and help others in electronic communities of practice," *The journal of strategic information systems* (9:2), pp 155-173.
- Meske, C., and Stieglitz, S. 2013. "Adoption and use of social media in small and medium-sized enterprises," in *Practice-Driven Research on Enterprise Transformation*, Springer, pp. 61-75.
- Miller, G. A. 1973. *Communication, Language, and Meaning: Psychological Perspectives*, Basic Books, Inc., Publishers, 10 E. 53 St., New York.
- Moon, J. W., and Kim, Y. G. 2001. "Extending the TAM for a World-Wide-Web context," *Information & Management* (38:4), pp 217-230.
- Moon, J. Y., and Sproull, L. S. 2008. "The role of feedback in managing the Internetbased volunteer work force," *Information Systems Research* (19:4), pp 494-515.
- Moore, G. C., and Benbasat, I. 1991. "Development of an instrument to measure the perceptions of adopting an information technology innovation," *Information Systems Research* (2:3), pp 192-222.
- Muller, M. 2012. "Lurking as personal trait or situational disposition: lurking and contributing in enterprise social media," in *Proceedings of the ACM conference on Computer Supported Cooperative Work*, ACM: pp. 253-256, Seattle, USA, pp. 253-256.
- Muller, M., Shami, N. S., Millen, D. R., and Feinberg, J. 2010. "We are all lurkers: consuming behaviors among authors and readers in an enterprise file-sharing service," in *Proceedings of the 16th ACM international conference on Supporting group work*, ACM: pp. 201-210, Sanibel Island, USA, pp. 201-210.
- Munar, A. M., and Jacobsen, J. K. S. 2014. "Motivations for sharing tourism experiences through social media," *Tourism Management* (43), pp 46-54.
- Muscat, F. 2012. "Erik Qualman Socialnomics," in, WSI Digital Marketing.
- Nah, F. F. H., Eschenbrenner, B., and DeWester, D. 2011. "Enhancing brand equity through flow and telepresence: a comparison of 2d and 3d virtual worlds," *MIS Quarterly* (35:3), p 731.
- Newell, C. E., Rosenfeld, P., Harris, R. N., and Hindelang, R. L. 2004. "Reasons for nonresponse on U.S. Navy surveys: a closer look," *Military Psychology* (16:4), pp 265-276.

- Newman, A., Thomas, J., and Ebrary 2009. *Enterprise 2.0 implementation*, McGraw-Hill: New York.
- Ngwenyama, O., and Nielsen, P. A. 2013. "Using Organizational Influence Processes to Overcome IS Implementation Barriers: Lessons from a longitudinal case study of SPI implementation," *European Journal of Information* Systems(23:2), pp 205-222.
- Nonnecke, B., Andrews, D., and Preece, J. 2006. "Non-public and public online community participation: Needs, attitudes and behavior," *Electronic Commerce Research* (6:1), pp 7-20.
- Nonnecke, B., and Preece, J. 2000. "Lurker demographics: Counting the silent," in *Proceedings of the SIGCHI conference on Human factors in computing systems*: Hague, Amsterdam, pp. 73-80.
- Nonnecke, B., and Preece, J. 2001. "Why lurkers lurk," in *Americas Conference on Information Systems (AMCIS)*: Boston, USA, p. 294.
- Nonnecke, B., Preece, J., Andrews, D., and Voutour, R. 2004. "Online Lurkers Tell Why," in *Americas Conference on Information Systems (AMCIS)*: New York, USA, p. 321.
- Nunnally, J. C., and Bernstein, I. 1994. "The assessment of reliability," *Psychometric theory* (3), pp 248-292.
- Nunnally, J. C., Bernstein, I. H., and Berge, J. M. t. 1967. *Psychometric theory*, New York: McGraw Hill.
- O'Brien, H. L., and Toms, E. G. 2009. "The development and evaluation of a survey to measure user engagement," *Journal of the American Society for Information Science and Technology* (61:1), pp 50-69.
- Oh, S. 2012. "The characteristics and motivations of health answerers for sharing information, knowledge, and experiences in online environments," *Journal of the American Society for Information Science and Technology* (63:3), pp 543-557.
- Oinas-Kukkonen, H., and Harjumaa, M. 2008. "Towards deeper understanding of persuasion in software and information systems," in *The First International Conference on Advances in Computer-Human Interaction*, IEEE, pp. 200-205.
- Oinas-Kukkonen, H., and Harjumaa, M. 2009. "Persuasive systems design: Key issues, process model, and system features," *Communications of the Association for Information Systems* (24:1), p 28.
- Okleshen, C., and Grossbart, S. 1998. "Usenet groups, virtual community and consumer behaviors," *Advances in Consumer Research* (25:1), pp 276-282.
- Olsen, D. R., Wygant, S. A., and Brown, B. L. 2004. "Electronic survey administration: Assessment in the twenty-first century," *Assessment Update* (16:3), pp 1-15.
- Orbell, S., and Verplanken, B. 2010. "The automatic component of habit in health behavior: habit as cue-contingent automaticity," *Health Psychology* (29:4), p 374.
- OReilly, T. 2007. "What is Web 2.0: Design patterns and business models for the next generation of software," *Communications & strategies* (1), p 17.
- Orlikowski, W. J. 1992. "Learning from notes: Organizational issues in groupware implementation," in *Proceedings of ACM conference on Computer-supported cooperative work*, ACM: pp. 362-369.
- Ortbach, K., and Recker, J. 2014. "Do good things and talk about them: A Theory of Academics Usage of Enterprise Social Networks for Impression Management

Tactics," in Proceedings of the 35th International Conference on Information Systems (ICIS), Association For Information Systems: Auckland, New Zealand..

- Overby, E. 2012. "Migrating processes from physical to virtual environments: Process virtualization theory," in *Information Systems Theory*, Springer, pp. 107-124.
- Pallant, J. 2013. SPSS survival manual, McGraw-Hill Education (UK).
- Park, J. H., Gu, B., Leung, A. C. M., and Konana, P. 2014. "An investigation of information sharing and seeking behaviors in online investment communities," *Computers in Human Behavior* (31:0), pp 1-12.
- Patroni, J., Recker, J. C., and von Briel, F. 2015. "How does enterprise social media help retail employees innovate?," in *Proceedings of the 23rd European Conference on Information Systems (ECIS)*. Münster, Germany: Association for Information Systems, Paper 63.
- Pavlou, P. A. 2003. "Consumer acceptance of electronic commerce: Integrating trust and risk with the technology acceptance model," *International journal of electronic commerce* (7:3), pp 101-134.
- Pavlou, P. A., and Fygenson, M. 2006. "Understanding and predicting electronic commerce adoption: An extension of the theory of planned behavior," *MIS quarterly*, pp 115-143.
- Pee, L. 2012. "Trust of Information on Social Media: An Elaboration Likelihood Model," CONF-IRM 2012 Proceedings. Paper 29. <u>http://aisel.aisnet.org/confirm2012/29</u>].
- Perez, J. C. 2012. "IDC forecasts strong growth in enterprise social software spending," PCWorld: <u>http://www.pcworld.com/article/258226/idc_forecasts_strong_growth_in_ent</u> erprise_social_software_spending.html, retrieved July 19, 2014
- Perez, J. C. 2014. "Many employees won't mingle with enterprise social networking (ESN)," in *Macworld*, Macworld (ed.), Macworld, <u>http://goo.gl/Jo9dDX</u>, retrieved July 19, 2014
- Petty, R. E., Cacioppo, J. T., and Goldman, R. 1981. "Personal involvement as a determinant of argument-based persuasion," *Journal of personality and social psychology* (41:5), p 847.
- Petty, R. E., and Cacioppo, J. T. 1986. "The elaboration likelihood model of persuasion," *Advances in experimental social psychology* (19), pp 123-205.
- Petty, R. E., and Wegener, D. T. 1999. "The elaboration likelihood model: Current status and controversies, in Dual-Process Theories in Social Psychology, S. Chaiken and Y. Trope (eds.), New York: Guilford Press, pp. 37-72.,").
- Petrovčič, A., and Petrič, G. 2014. "Differences in intrapersonal and interactional empowerment between lurkers and posters in health-related online support communities," *Computers in Human Behavior* (34), pp 39-48.
- Phang, C. W., Kankanhalli, A., and Tan, B. C. 2015. "What Motivates Contributors vs. Lurkers? An Investigation of Online Feedback Forums," *Information Systems Research* (26:4), pp 773-792.
- Pisoni, A. 2013. "Collaboration starts at the top....down under," Yammer, https://goo.gl/rk2K3W, retrieved Septermber 15, 2013.
- Plouffe, C. R., Hulland, J. S., and Vandenbosch, M. 2001. "Research report: richness versus parsimony in modeling technology adoption decisions—understanding merchant adoption of a smart card-based payment system," *Information Systems Research* (12:2), pp 208-222.

- Podsakoff, P. M., MacKenzie, S. B., Lee, J.-Y., and Podsakoff, N. P. 2003.
 "Common method biases in behavioral research: a critical review of the literature and recommended remedies," *Journal of applied psychology* (88:5), p 879.
- Porter, S. R. 2004. "Raising response rates: What works?," *New directions for institutional research* (2004:121), pp 5-21.
- Preece, J. 2000. Online communities: Designing usability and supporting socialbilty, John Wiley & Sons, Inc.
- Preece, J. 2001. "Sociability and usability in online communities: Determining and measuring success," *Behaviour & Information Technology* (20:5), pp 347-356.
- Preece, J., Nonnecke, B., and Andrews, D. 2004. "The top five reasons for lurking: improving community experiences for everyone," *Computers in Human Behavior* (20:2), pp 201-223.
- Punj, G., and Stewart, D. W. 1983. "Cluster analysis in marketing research: review and suggestions for application," *Journal of Marketing Research* (20:2), pp 134-148.
- Qualman, E. 2012. Socialnomics: How social media transforms the way we live and do business, Wiley.
- Rafaeli, S., Ravid, G., and Soroka, V. 2004. "De-lurking in virtual communities: a social communication network approach to measuring the effects of social and cultural capital," in *Proceedings of the 37th Annual Hawaii International Conference on System Sciences*, IEEE, pp. 1-10.
- Rau, P.-L. P., Gao, Q., and Ding, Y. 2008. "Relationship between the level of intimacy and lurking in online social network services," *Computers in Human Behavior* (24:6), pp 2757-2770.
- Raubenheimer, J. 2004. "An item selection procedure to maximize scale reliability and validity," *SA Journal of Industrial Psychology* (30:4), pp p. 59-64.
- Recker, J. 2008. *Understanding Process Modelling Grammar Continuance*, Phd Thesis, Queensland University of Technology Brisbane.
- Recker, J. 2013. Scientific research in information systems: a beginner's guide, Springer: New York.
- Recker, J., and La Rosa, M. 2012. "Understanding user differences in open-source workflow management system usage intentions," *Information Systems* (37:3), pp 200-212.
- Recker, J., Rosemann, M., and Krogstie, J. 2007. "Ontology-versus pattern-based evaluation of process modeling languages: a comparison," *Communications* of the Association for Information Systems (20:1), p 48.
- Ren, Y., Harper, F. M., Drenner, S., Terveen, L., Kiesler, S., Riedl, J., and Kraut, R. E. 2012. "Building member attachment in online communities: Applying theories of group identity and interpersonal bonds," *MIS Quarterly* (36:3), pp 841-864.
- Ren, Y., Kraut, R., and Kiesler, S. 2007. "Applying common identity and bond theory to design of online communities," *Organization studies* (28:3), pp 377-408.
- Renzl, B. 2008. "Trust in management and knowledge sharing: the mediating effects of fear and knowledge documentation," *Omega* (36:2), pp 206-220.
- Richter, A., and Riemer, K. 2013a. "The contextual nature of enterprise social networking: A multi case study comparison, ," in *European Conference on Information Systems (ECIS)*: Paper 94, Utrecht.
- Richter, A., Stocker, A., Müller, S., and Avram, G. 2013b. "Knowledge management goals revisited: A cross-sectional analysis of social software adoption in corporate environments," *VINE* (43:2), pp 132-148.
- Richter, D., Richter, A., Hamann, J., Riemer, K., and Vehring, N. 2013c.
 "Infrastructures-in-Practice: Cultivating Enterprise Microblogging," in 46th Hawaii International Conference on System Sciences, IEEE, pp. 670-679.
- Richter, D., Riemer, P. D. K., and vom Brocke, J. 2011. "Internet social networking," Business & Information Systems Engineering (53:2), pp 89-103.
- Ridings, C., Gefen, D., and Arinze, B. 2006. "Psychological Barriers: Lurker and Poster Motivation and Behavior in Online Communities," *Communications of the Association for Information Systems* (18:1), p 16.
- Riedl, C., Köbler, F., Goswami, S., and Krcmar, H. 2013. "Tweeting to Feel Connected: A Model for Social Connectedness in Online Social Networks," *International Journal of Human-Computer Interaction* (29:10), pp 670-687.
- Riemer, K., Richter, A., and Bohringer, M. 2010. "Enterprise microblogging," Business & Information Systems Engineering (2:6), pp 391-394.
- Riemer, K., Scifleet, P., and Reddig, R. 2012. "Powercrowd: Enterprise Social Networking in Professional Service Work: A Case Study of Yammer at Deloitte Australia," Business Information Systems, Working Paper.
- Riemer, K., and Tavakoli, A. 2013. "The role of groups as local context in large Enterprise Social Networks: A Case Study of Yammer at Deloitte Australia," Business Information Systems, Working Paper.
- Rigdon, E. E., Ringle, C. M., and Sarstedt, M. 2010. "Structural modeling of heterogeneous data with partial least squares," *Review of marketing research* (7:7), pp 255-296.
- Robey, D., Anderson, C., and Raymond, B. 2013. "Information Technology, Materiality, and Organizational Change: A Professional Odyssey," *Journal of the Association for Information Systems* (14:7), p 379.
- Rogers, E. M. 2003. Diffusion of Innovations, New York: The Free Press.
- Rogers, R. W., Cacioppo, J. T., and Petty, R. 1983. "Cognitive and physiological processes in fear appeals and attitude change: A revised theory of protection motivation," in *Social psychophysiology: A sourcebook*, pp. 153-177.
- Rudman, R. J. 2010. "Framework to identify and manage risks in Web 2.0 applications," *Afr. J. Bus. Manage* (4:13), pp 3251-3264.
- Rus, M. 2013. "Google Apps keeps JUST EAT employees around the world connected ", Google for Work, Retrieved April , 2014 , from <u>http://googleforwork.blogspot.com.au/2013/08/google-apps-keeps-just-eatemployees.html</u>
- Sahib, Z., and Vassileva, J. 2009. "Designing to Attract Participation In A Niche Community For Women In Science & Engineering," in *International Conference on Computational Science and Engineering, CSE'09.*, IEEE, pp. 909-914.
- Sánchez-Franco, M. J., and Roldán, J. L. 2014. "The influence of familiarity, trust and norms of reciprocity on an experienced sense of community: an empirical analysis based on social online services," *Behaviour & Information Technology* (34:4), pp 392-412
- Sánchez, R. A., and Hueros, A. D. 2010. "Motivational factors that influence the acceptance of Moodle using TAM," *Computers in human behavior* (26:6), pp 1632-1640.

- Sarstedt, M., Henseler, J., and Ringle, C. M. 2011. "Multigroup analysis in partial least squares (PLS) path modeling: Alternative methods and empirical results," *Advances in International Marketing* (22:1), pp 195-218.
- Scheepers, H., Scheepers, R., Stockdale, R., and Nurdin, N. 2014. "The dependent variable in social media use," *Journal of Computer Information Systems* (54:2), pp 25-34.
- Schlagwein, D., and Prasarnphanich, P. 2011. "Cultural determinants of organizational social media adoption," in *ECIS 2011 Proceedings*. http://aisel.aisnet.org/ecis2011/206, Paper 206.
- Schneider, A., von Krogh, G., and Jäger, P. 2013. ""What's coming next?" Epistemic curiosity and lurking behavior in online communities," *Computers in Human Behavior* (29:1), pp 293-303.
- Sedera, D. 2006. *Enterprise systems success: a measurement model*, Phd Thesis, Queensland University of Technology Brisbane.
- Sedera, D., Gable, G., and Chan, T. 2003a. "Survey design: Insights from a public sector-ERP success study," in *Pacific Asia Conference on Information Systems (PACIS)*: Adelaide, Australia, p. 41.
- Sekaran, U. 2006. *Research methods for business: A skill building approach*, John Wiley & Sons.
- Sharma, R., Yetton, P., and Crawford, J. 2009. "Estimating the Effect of Common Method Variance: The Method—Method Pair Technique with an Illustration from TAM Research," *MIs Quarterly*, pp 473-490.
- Shin, S. K., Ishman, M., and Sanders, G. L. 2007. "An empirical investigation of socio-cultural factors of information sharing in China," *Information & Management* (44:2), pp 165-174.
- Simons, H., and og Gronbeck, M. J. "B.(2001)," Persuasion in Society, pp 211-241.
- Singh, P. V., Sahoo, N., and Mukhopadhyay, T. 2014. "How to Attract and Retain Readers in Enterprise Blogging?," *Information Systems Research* (25:1), pp 35-52.
- Siponen, M., and Vance, A. 2010. "Neutralization: new insights into the problem of employee information systems security policy violations," *MIS Quarterly* (34:3), p 487.
- Smith, M. A., and Kollock, P. 1999. Communities in cyberspace, Psychology Press.
- Soh, C., Chua, C. E. H., and Singh, H. 2011. "Managing diverse stakeholders in enterprise systems projects: a control portfolio approach," *Journal of Information Technology* (26:1), pp 16-31.
- Stegbauer, C., and Rausch, A. 2002. "Lurkers in mailing lists," *Online social sciences*, pp 263-274.
- Stieglitz, S., Riemer, K., and Meske, C. 2014. "Hierarchy Or Activity? The Role Of Formal And Informal Influence In Eliciting Responses From Enterprise Social Networks," in *The 22nd European Conference on Information Systems* (ECIS): Tel Aviv.
- Stocker, A., Richter, A., and Riemer, K. 2012. "A Review of Microblogging in the Enterprise," *IT Information Technology* (54:5), pp 205-211.
- Straub, D., Boudreau, M.-C., and Gefen, D. 2004a. "Validation guidelines for IS positivist research," *Communications of the Association for Information Systems* (13:24), pp 380-427.
- Straub, D. W., Jr., and Nance, W. D. 1990. "Discovering and Disciplining Computer Abuse in Organizations: A Field Study," *MIS Quarterly* (14:1), pp 45-60.

- Sun, N., Rau, P. P.-L., and Ma, L. 2014. "Understanding lurkers in online communities: A literature review," *Computers in Human Behavior* (38:0), pp 110-117.
- Sun, Y., Fang, Y., and Lim, K. H. 2012. "Understanding sustained participation in transactional virtual communities," *Decision Support Systems* (53:1), pp 12-22.
- Sussman, S. W., and Siegal, W. S. 2003. "Informational influence in organizations: an integrated approach to knowledge adoption," *Information Systems Research* (14:1), pp 47-65.
- Sykes, T. A., Venkatesh, V., and Gosain, S. 2009. "Model Of Acceptance With Peer Support: A Social Network Perspective To Understand Employees' System Use," *MIS Quarterly* (33:2), p 371.
- Tagarelli, A., and Interdonato, R. 2014. "Lurking in social networks: topology-based analysis and ranking methods," *Social Network Analysis and Mining* (4:1), pp 1-27.
- Tagarelli, A., and Interdonato, R. 2015. "Time-aware analysis and ranking of lurkers in social networks," *Social Network Analysis and Mining* (5:1), pp 1-23.
- Tajfel, H., and Fraser, C. 1978. *Introducing social psychology*, Penguin Harmondsworth.
- Takahashi, M., Fujimoto, M., and Yamasaki, N. 2003. "The active lurker: influence of an in-house online community on its outside environment," in *Proceedings* of the 2003 international ACM SIGGROUP conference on Supporting group work, pp. 1-10.
- Teichmann, K., Stokburger-Sauer, N. E., Plank, A., and Strobl, A. 2015.
 "Motivational Drivers of Content Contribution to Company- Versus Consumer-Hosted Online Communities," *Psychology & Marketing* (32:3), pp 341-355.
- Teo, T., and Liu, J. 2002. "Consumer trust in e-commerce: a crosscultural study," in *Proceedings of academy of management conference*: Denver, USA.
- Teo, T., and Noyes, J. 2014. "Explaining the intention to use technology among preservice teachers: a multi-group analysis of the Unified Theory of Acceptance and Use of Technology," *Interactive Learning Environments* (22:1), pp 51-66.
- Tseng, F.-C., and Kuo, F.-Y. 2010. "The way we share and learn: An exploratory study of the self-regulatory mechanisms in the professional online learning community," *Computers in Human Behavior* (26:5), pp 1043-1053.
- Turban, E., Bolloju, N., and Liang, T.-P. 2011. "Enterprise social networking: Opportunities, adoption, and risk mitigation," *Journal of Organizational Computing and Electronic Commerce* (21:3), pp 202-220.
- Turban, E., King, D., Lee, J. K., Liang, T.-P., and Turban, D. C. 2015. "Social Enterprise and Other Social Commerce Topics," in *Electronic Commerce*, Springer, pp. 367-402.
- Turel, O., and Serenko, A. 2012. "The benefits and dangers of enjoyment with social networking websites," *European Journal of Information Systems* (21:5), pp 512-528.
- Turel, O., Serenko, A., and Bontis, N. 2007. "User acceptance of wireless short messaging services: Deconstructing perceived value," *Information & Management* (44:1), pp 63-73.

- Vaast, E., and Kaganer, E. 2013. "Social media affordances and governance in the workplace: An examination of organizational policies," *Journal of Computer-Mediated Communication* (19:1), pp 78-101.
- van Osch, W., Steinfield, C. W., and Balogh, B. A. 2015. "Enterprise Social Media: Challenges and Opportunities for Organizational Communication and Collaboration," in 48th Hawaii International Conference on System Sciences, IEEE: Kauai, Hawaii
- VanderStoep, S. W., and Johnson, D. D. 2008. *Research methods for everyday life: Blending qualitative and quantitative approaches*, John Wiley & Sons.
- Vassileva, J. 2012. "Motivating participation in social computing applications: a user modeling perspective," User Modeling and User-Adapted Interaction (22:1-2), pp 177-201.
- Venkatesh, V. 2000. "Determinants of perceived ease of use: Integrating control, intrinsic motivation, and emotion into the technology acceptance model," *Information Systems Research* (11:4), pp 342-365.
- Venkatesh, V., and Bala, H. 2008a. "Technology acceptance model 3 and a research agenda on interventions," *Decision Sciences* (39:2), pp 273-315.
- Venkatesh, V., Brown, S. A., Maruping, L. M., and Bala, H. 2008b. "Predicting Different Conceptualizations Of System Use: The Competing Roles Of Behavioral Intention, Facilitating Conditions, And Behavioral Expectation," *MIS Quarterly* (32:3), pp 483-502.
- Venkatesh, V., and Davis, F. D. 2000. "A theoretical extension of the technology acceptance model: four longitudinal field studies," *Management science* (46:2), pp 186-204.
- Venkatesh, V., Morris, M. G., Gordon, B. D., and Davis, F. D. 2003. "User Acceptance of Information Technology: Toward a Unified View," *MIS Quarterly* (27:3), pp 425-478.
- Venkatesh, V., Thong, J., and Xu, X. 2012. "Consumer acceptance and use of information technology: extending the unified theory of acceptance and use of technology," *MIS Quarterly* (36:1), pp 157-178.
- Vodanovich, S., Sundaram, D., and Myers, M. 2010. "Research Commentary— Digital Natives and Ubiquitous Information Systems," *Information Systems Research* (21:4), pp 711-723.
- Von Krogh, G. 2012. "How does social software change knowledge management? Toward a strategic research agenda," *The Journal of Strategic Information Systems* (21:2), pp 154-164.
- Vroom, C., and Von Solms, R. 2004. "Towards information security behavioural compliance," *Computers & security* (23:3), pp 191-198.
- Walker, B., Redmond, J., and Lengyel, A. 2010. "Are They All The Same? Lurkers and Posters on The Net," *eCULTURE* (3:1), p 16.
- Wang, H., Chung, J. E., Park, N., McLaughlin, M. L., and Fulk, J. 2012.
 "Understanding Online Community Participation A Technology Acceptance Perspective," *Communication Research* (39:6), pp 781-801.
- Wang, S., and Noe, R. A. 2010. "Knowledge sharing: A review and directions for future research," *Human Resource Management Review* (20:2), pp 115-131.
- Wang, Y., Meister, D. B., and Gray, P. H. 2013. "Social influence and knowledge management systems use: evidence from panel data," *MIS Quarterly* (37:1), pp 299-313.
- Warr, W. A. 2008. "Social software: fun and games, or business tools?," *Journal of Information Science* (34:4), pp 591-604.

- Wasko, M. M. L., and Faraj, S. 2005. "Why should I share? Examining social capital and knowledge contribution in electronic networks of practice," *MIS Quarterly* (29:1), pp 35-57.
- Watson, S., and Hewett, K. 2006. "A Multi-Theoretical Model of Knowledge Transfer in Organizations: Determinants of Knowledge Contribution and Knowledge Reuse*," *Journal of management studies* (43:2), pp 141-173.
- Wattal, S., Racherla, P., and Mandviwalla, M. 2010. "Network externalities and technology use: A quantitative analysis of intraorganizational blogs," *Journal of Management Information Systems* (27:1), pp 145-174.
- Webster, J., and Martocchio, J. J. 1992. "Microcomputer Playfulness: Development of a Measure with Workplace Implications," *MIS Quarterly* (16:2), pp 201-226.
- Webster, J., Trevino, L. K., and Ryan, L. 1993. "The dimensionality and correlates of flow in human-computer interactions," *Computers in Human Behavior* (9:4), pp 411-426.
- Weinberg, B. D., and Pehlivan, E. 2011. "Social spending: Managing the social media mix," *Business horizons* (54:3), pp 275-282.
- Weisberg, H. F. 2005. *The total survey error approach: A guide to the new science of survey research*, University of Chicago Press.
- Wen, Z., Topkara, M., Cao, L., Lin, C.-Y., and Lai, J. 2012. "How Multimedia in Enterprise Social Networks Matters to People's Performance," in *IEEE International Conference on Multimedia and Expo Workshops (ICMEW)*, pp. 254-259.
- Wetzels, M., Odekerken-Schröder, G., and Van Oppen, C. 2009. "Using PLS path modeling for assessing hierarchical construct models: Guidelines and empirical illustration," *MIS quarterly* (33:1), pp 177-195.
- Wickramasinghe, V., and Widyaratne, R. 2012. "Effects of interpersonal trust, team leader support, rewards, and knowledge sharing mechanisms on knowledge sharing in project teams," *VINE* (42:2), pp 214-236.
- Wiertz, C., and de Ruyter, K. 2007. "Beyond the call of duty: Why customers contribute to firm-hosted commercial online communities," *Organization studies* (28:3), pp 347-376.
- Wisdom, J. P., Chor, K. H. B., Hoagwood, K. E., and Horwitz, S. M. 2014.
 "Innovation adoption: a review of theories and constructs," *Administration* and Policy in Mental Health and Mental Health Services Research (41:4), pp 480-502.
- Won-Seok, Y., Kil-Soo, S., and Moon-Bong, L. 2002. "Exploring the Factors Enhancing Member Participation in Virtual Communities," *Journal of Global Information Management (JGIM)* (3:10), pp 55-71.
- Woszczynski, A. B., and Whitman, M. E. 2004. "The problem of common method variance in IS research," *The handbook of information systems research*, pp 66-77.
- Wu, J., and Holsapple, C. 2014. "Imaginal and emotional experiences in pleasureoriented IT usage: A hedonic consumption perspective," *Information and Management* (51:1), pp 80-92.
- Wu, J., and Lu, X. 2013. "Effects of Extrinsic and Intrinsic Motivators on Using Utilitarian, Hedonic, and Dual-Purposed Information Systems: A Meta-Analysis," *Journal of the Association for Information Systems* (14:3), p 1.

- Wu, Y., Wang, Z., and Chang, K. 2011. "Exploring Continuous Participation On Entertainment Applications Of Social Network Sites," in *Pacific Asia Conference on Information Systems (PACIS)*, p. 216.
- Xu, C., Ryan, S., Prybutok, V., and Wen, C. 2012. "It is not for fun: An examination of social network site usage," *Information & Management* (49:5), pp 210-217.
- Xu, H., Dinev, T., Smith, J., and Hart, P. 2011. "Information Privacy Concerns: Linking Individual Perceptions with Institutional Privacy Assurances," *Journal of the Association for Information Systems* (12:12), pp 798-824.
- Xue, Y., Liang, H., and Wu, L. 2011. "Punishment, Justice, and Compliance in Mandatory IT Settings," *Information Systems Research* (22:2), pp 400-414.
- Yan, Y., and Davison, R. M. 2013a. "Exploring Behavioral Transfer from Knowledge Seeking to Knowledge Contributing: The Mediating Role of Intrinsic Motivation," *Journal of the American Society for Information Science and Technology* (64:6), pp 1144-1157.
- Yan, Y., Davison, R. M., and Mo, C. 2013b. "Employee creativity formation: The roles of knowledge seeking, knowledge contributing and flow experience in Web 2.0 virtual communities," *Computers in Human Behavior* (29:5), pp 1923-1932.
- Yardi, S., Golder, S., and Brzozowski, M. 2008. "The pulse of the corporate blogosphere," in *Conf. Supplement of CSCW*, Citeseer: ACM, pp. 8-12.
- Yardi, S., Golder, S. A., and Brzozowski, M. J. 2009. "Blogging at work and the corporate attention economy," in *Proceedings of the SIGCHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*, ACM, pp. 2071-2080.
- Yuan, Y. C., Zhao, X., Liao, Q., and Chi, C. 2013. "The use of different information and communication technologies to support knowledge sharing in organizations: From e-mail to micro-blogging," *Journal of the American Society for Information Science and Technology* (64:8), pp 1659-1670.
- Zhang, C., Hahn, J., and De, P. 2013. "Research Note-Continued Participation in Online Innovation Communities: Does Community Response Matter Equally for Everyone?," *Information Systems Research* (24:4), pp 1112-1130.
- Zhang, J., Qu, Y., Cody, J., and Wu, Y. 2010. "A case study of micro-blogging in the enterprise: use, value, and related issues," in *Proceedings of the 28th international conference on Human factors in computing systems*, ACM, pp. 123-132.
- Zhang, K. Z. K., Benyoucef, M., and Zhao, S. J. 2015. "Consumer participation and gender differences on companies' microblogs: A brand attachment process perspective," *Computers in Human Behavior* (44:0) 3//, pp 357-368.
- Zhang, X., Venkatesh, V., and Brown, S. A. 2011. "Designing collaborative systems to enhance team performance," *Journal of the Association for Information Systems* (12:8), pp 556-585.
- Zhao, D., and Rosson, M. B. 2009. "How and why people Twitter: the role that micro-blogging plays in informal communication at work," in *Proceedings of the international conference on Supporting group work*, ACM, pp. 243-252.
- Zhou, T. 2011. "Understanding online community user participation: a social influence perspective," *Internet Research* (21:1), pp 67-81.
- Zone, P. M. 2015. "Google Apps vs Yammer System Properties Comparison", Retrieved September 20 2015, from <u>http://project-</u> <u>management.zone/system/google-apps,yammer.</u>"